 THE LONG FAMILY
AND THEIR ANCESTORS
A FAMILY HISTORY

And

GENEALOGY

by

Kenneth E. Long

 2003

Rev.  2009

The information in this book is NOT copyrighted.  The use of information contained herein may be used for the purpose of compiling a related family history without further permission.  Attribution, however, would be appreciated.

Library of Congress catalog card number:2003475415

















TABLE OF CONTENTS

xiPREFACE


1CHAPTER I (Circa 1800 ()


1THE PATRICK AND MARY M. LONG FAMILY


6THE JAMES AND MARY LONG HAGAN FAMILY


6THE JAMES AND CATHERINE LONG LEHEY FAMILY


7THE JOHN AND ELLEN LONG HEFFERNAN FAMILY


7THE JOHN AND BRIDGET LONG ROONEY FAMILY


7THE THOMAS D. LONG SR. FAMILY


7THE WALTER LONG FAMILY


8THE JOSEPH AND MARGARET LONG REILLY FAMILY


8THE ANDREW AND JULIA LONG LEHEY FAMILY


9Genealogy of the Patrick Long Family (Family Charts)


10Family of Patrick and Mary M. Long


11Family of Mary Long and James Hagan


12Family of James Heeney and Mary Hagan


13Family of Joseph Heeney and Helen Kerwin


14Family of John Heffernan, Ellen Long and Anna Long


15Family of Frank Heeney and Margaret Heffernan


16Family of John Heeney and Mary Heenan


17Family of Charles Heeney and Cecilia McGee


18Family of Joseph Watters and Mary Heeney


19Family of Raymond Heeney and Margaret Heenan


20Family of Mary Heffernan and John Harty


21Family of Pearl Harty and Daniel L. Hartnett


22Family of John Harty and Charlotte Hartnett


23Family of James Harty and Lucille Horton


24Family of Mary Harty and Ronald Edler


25Family of Thomas Heffernan and Mae McGuire


26Family of John F. Heffernan and Julia Anheuser


27Family of Joseph Heffernan and Sarah Teed


28Family of Bridget Long and John Rooney


29Family of Thomas Long Sr., Bridget Butler and Mary Purcell


30Family of Walter Long and Mary Daley


31Family of Margaret Long and Joseph Reilly


32Family of Julia Long and Andrew Lehey


33THE BUTLER FAMILY


35Genealogy OF THE Butler fAmily (Family Chart)


35The Butler Family


36Family of Mary Butler and Thomas Fitzgerald


37Family of Thomas Long Sr., Bridget Butler and Mary Purcell


39CHAPTER II (Circa 1836 ()


39THE THOMAS D. LONG SR. FAMILY


40THE WALTER LONG FAMILY


40THE THOMAS B. LONG FAMILY


40THE AL AND MARY ANN LONG RICE FAMILY


40THE PATRICK LONG FAMILY


40THE MICHAEL LONG FAMILY


41THE RICHARD LONG FAMILY


41THE JOHN LONG FAMILY


42THE JOHN AND CATHERINE LONG SCHLEICH FAMILY


44Genealogy of the Thomas D. Long Sr. Family (Family Charts)


45Family of Patrick Long and Caroline Richleu


46Family of Richard Long and Delores Goebel


47Family of Bernard Long and Beulah Childs


48Family of Raymond Long and Golda Irwin


49Family of George Long and Mildred Shook


50Family of Helen Long and Ralph Vitito


51Family of Michael Long and Julia Mullaly


52Family of Thomas Long and Margaret Turney


53Family of Edward J. Long and Lorna Doone Long


54Family of Richard W, Long and Helen Donovan


55Family of Particia Long and Charles Misley


56Family of Richard W. Long Jr. and Susan Murray


57Family of Julia Long, Eugene Hendry and Fred Phipps


58Family of Rose Long, Robert Denny and Charles Dorr


59Family of Richard Long and Mary Crowe


60Family of John Long and Nellie McDonough


61Family of John Schleich and Catherine Long


62Family of  Bernard Schleich and Margaret Foley


63Family of Edwin Schleich and Mary Conway


64Family of Clarice Schleich and Edward Kennedy


65Family of Richard Schleich and Lorraine Weber


66THE JOHN DUGGAN FAMILY


68THE TOBIN FAMILY


69Genealogy of the John Duggan and Catherine Hogan Family (Family Charts)


70Family of Thomas Butler Long and Mary Duggan


71Family of James Tobin and Johanna Duggan


73CHAPTER III (Circa 1865 ()


73THE THOMAS BUTLER LONG FAMILY


75THE THOMAS EDWARD LONG FAMILY


76MARY HELEN LONG


76FRANCIS JAMES “FRANK” LONG


76CATHERINE VERONICA “KATIE” LONG MILEY


76THE FRANK AND BRIDGET LONG WALSH FAMILY


77THE JOHN BENEDICT LONG FAMILY


78Genealogy of the Thomas B. and Mary Duggan Long Family (Family Charts)


79Family of Thomas E. Long and Gertrude Hall


80Family of Frank Walsh and Bridget Long


81CHAPTER IV (1900 – Present)


81THE JOHN BENEDICT LONG FAMILY


84Kenneth E. Long


87Margaret M. Long Dyrssen


88Thomas E. Long


88Monica  E. Long Luenser


88Joseph Bernard Long


89Gerald Daniel Long


89Eleanor P. Hoch


89J. Michael  Long


89The Grzan - Smolcich Family


89Mary Grzan Berglund Long


91Genealogy of the J. Benedict Long and Rose A. Hartnett Family (Family Charts)


92Family of Kenneth E. Long and Margaret M. Wilcheck


93Family of Richard Long and Gail Blaylock


94Family of William Narrigan and Kathleen Long


95Family of Steven J. Long and Isabel M. Figueroa


96Family of Erik V. Sprenne and Jane Frances Long


97Family of George Dyrssen and Margaret M. Long


98Family of James L. Navilio and Christina Dyrssen


99Family of Thomas E. Long and Dorothy Bergman


100Family of Emmett Long and Madelyn Daniels


101Family of Martin T. Long and Jean Suntrup


102Family of Daniel G. Long and Joanne Gibson


103Family of Kurt Luenser and Monica Long


104Family of  Susan Luenser Moore


105Family of Donald Luenser and Sharon Troutman


106Family of Mary Luenser Moe


107Family of Mark Joseph Luenser and Mary Jeannine Penkilo


108Family of Steve McKeever and Laura Luenser


109Family of Arthur Hoch and Eleanor Long


110Family of Paul Hoch and Susan Anderson


111Family of Jonathon T. Hoch and Melissa Lynn Carlisle


112Family of John Michael Long and Debbie Wilson


113Family of Adam Grzan and Maria Rukovina


114Family of Vinco and Mandy Smolcich


115Family of John Grzan and Anna Smolcich


117CHAPTER V (Circa 1800 ()


117THE JOHN HARTNETT FAMILY


124THE THOMAS AND MARY HARTNETT McGEE FAMILY


125THE DANIEL HARTNETT FAMILY


127THE JAMES HARTNETT FAMILY


128THE JOHN HARTNETT FAMILY


129THE THOMAS J. HARTNETT FAMILY


129THE WILLIAM HARTNETT FAMILY


130Genealogy of John Hartnett and Margaret Fitzpatrick family (Family Charts)


131Family of Mary Hartnett and Thomas McGee


132Family Of Daniel Hartnett And Margaret Casey


133Family of James Hartnett and Nellie Moriarity


134Family of John Hartnett and Margaret McShane


135Family of William Hartnett and Margaret Hogan


137CHAPTER VI (Circa 1860 ()


137THE THOMAS J. HARTNETT FAMILY


139The family of Thomas J. Hartnett and his 1st wife Annie Ryan.


139Monica Hartnett Brennan


139Margaret “Peg” Hartnett McKearnen


139Ann Hartnett Ryan


139The family of Thomas J. Hartnett and his 2nd wife, Margaret “Madge” Killackey.


139Thomas Hartnett Jr.


140Rose Angela Hartnett Long


140Charlotte Hartnett Harty


140John Hartnett


140William C. Hartnett


140Daniel Hartnett


141Genealogy of the Thomas J. Hartnett Family (Family Charts)


142Family of Ann Hartnett and Geoffrey J. “Jerry” Ryan


143Family of Thomas Hartnett and Florence Graves


144Family of Charlotte Hartnett and John Harty


145Family of John J. Hartnett and Lucille Donahoe


146Family of William Hartnett and Hazel Graves


147Family of Daniel Hartnett and Faye Armstrong


149CHAPTER VII (Circa 1800 ()


149THE KILLACKEY AND LAWLESS FAMILIES


149THE LAWLESS FAMILY


150THE KILLACKEY FAMILY


154Genealogy of the Killackey and Lawless Families (Family Charts)


154Family of Thomas Lawless and Catherine Cassidy


155Family of James Killackey and Bridget Lawless


156Family of James E. Killackey and Katherine Mulvy


157Family of James F. Killackey and Anna McLaughlin


158Family of James F. Killackey and Ruth Tisdale


159Family of Lawrence E. Killackey and Gertrude Haviland


160Family of John Killackey and Catherine Ford


161CHAPTER VIII (Circa 1820 ()


161THE WILCHECK AND PRIBYL FAMILIES


161THE WILCHECK FAMILY


168Genealogy Of The Wilcheck Families (Family Charts)


168Family of Franz and Franciska Wilczek (Wilcheck)


169Family of John T. and Agnes Wilezek (Wilcheck)


170Family of John J. and Mary Wilcheck


171Family of Kenneth and Margaret Long


172Family of Irving and Mary Fudaly


173Family of Joseph and Jean Forini


174THE PRIBYL FAMILY


176Genealogy of the Matthias and Kathern Pribyl family (Family Charts)


177CHAPTER IX (Circa 1870(()


177THE KAPETS AND SEMENAK FAMILIES


181Genealogy Of The Andrew And Anna Kapets Families  (Family Charts)


182Family of Stephen, Mary and Dorothy Kapets


183Family of Anton and Anna Kapets


184Genealogy Of The Andrew And Susie Semenak Families (Family Chart)


185SOURCES OF INFORMATION


187INDEX


187INDEX OF FAMILY GENEALOGICAL CHARTS




PREFACE

Reading a family history is a lot like reading a telephone book. Indeed, writing a family history evokes many of the same concerns as writing a telephone book.  Names, dates, places and the accuracy thereof are of the utmost concern. 

Oral histories are the principal sources one can use in compiling information for inclusion in a work such as this.  Irish oral histories, a primary source for this family history, must be discounted substantially, however, in order to compensate for the usual and customary Irish stretch. 

Where possible, two or more sources for the same information were sought, particularly in an effort to verify oral histories.

Official documents are also an extremely valuable source of historic information. This type of record includes birth, death and marriage records that may be found in church and cemetery records and/or in municipal, county or state archival records. The United States Archives contains census records as well as immigration and military records. The Bureau of Land Management has on file records showing land patents by which original settlers obtained land from the government. County Recorders of Deeds maintain continuing records of land transactions within its jurisdiction thus making it possible to trace our ancestors by means of their ownership of land. Useful historic information can often be found in court records.

The history of the Long, Hartnett, Wilcheck and their related families closely parallels the history of two counties, Dakota County, Nebraska and Gogebic County, Michigan, as our ancestors were among the first inhabitants of each of these counties. 

Our Irish ancestors came from various counties in southern Ireland and were among the first settlers in Nebraska territory, arriving there before Nebraska became a state. Our central European ancestors all came from what are now the Czech republic and the republic of Slovakia. They came to the United States and settled in Gogebic County, Michigan, drawn there by job opportunities in the Gogebic-Iron mining region.

The purpose of writing this history is both to compile a record and to tell the story about our ancestors and about our close relatives who share those ancestors. The level of detail is dictated by the need to complete the record even if a lesser level of detail would suffice for the story alone. It is hoped that others will continue this work in the future, by adding additional generations. It may also be used as a part of ancillary family histories by taking parts of this history and adding thereto other information that would complete the history of another family.  Specific permission is hereby given, to any family member, to use information from this work, for the purpose of compiling his or her own parallel family histories.

In order to depict the inter-relationships between the Long family and any of the other persons and families in this story, a linear consanguinity chart (a Pedigree) has been prepared and is shown on page iii. This diagram depicts only DIRECT ancestors. In order to show co-lateral relationships, a separate consanguinity chart has been prepared not only for each ancestor’s family but also for each of their descendants who had children of their own.  Those without children of their own are not shown because all pertinent information about them has already been shown on their parent’s family charts.  

These family charts are at the end of each chapter following the story of each branch of the family.

Adam knew Eve, his wife; and she conceived and bare Cain.

And Cain knew his wife and she conceived and bare Enoch.

And unto Enoch was born Irad.

And Irad begat Mehujael

And Mehujael begat Lamech

And Lamech took unto him two

wives .....one was Adah..........

And ......the other Zillah

Adah bare Jabel..........

And Zillah, she also

bare Tubalcain 

 .....

Genesis 4:1-22

Abraham begat Isaac; and

Isaac begat Jacob; and

Jacob begat Judas and his brethren; and

Judas begat Phares and Zara of Thamar; and

Phares begat Esrom; and Esrom begat Aram

And Aram begat Aminadab and Aminadab

begat Naasson; and Naasson begat

Salmon; and Salmon begat Boaz

of Rachab; and Boaz 

begat Obed of Ruth;

and Obed begat 

Jesse begat

David

 ... 

Matthew 1:2-6

 ....and Mitthan begat Jacob;

and Jacob begat Joseph the husband of Mary,

of whom was born Jesus, 

who is the son of God.

......

Matthew 1: 15-16

....and Patrick was the father of Thomas.....

CHAPTER I (Circa 1800 ()

 THE PATRICK AND MARY M. LONG FAMILY

 



THE PATRICK AND MARY M. LONG FAMILY

The compilation of a family history usually originates with the telling of oral histories.  In this case it started with stories told to me by people who either remembered or who passed along stories of ancestors and relatives.  My mother, Rose Angela Hartnett Long, my paternal aunt, Helen Long and my paternal grandfather, Thomas Butler Long, told the oral histories that piqued my interest in the history of the Long family. 

xe "Long:Helen (1892-1984)"

xe "Long:Thomas B. (1865-1934)"

xe "Long:Rose Hartnett (1900-1997)"My mother had a life-long interest in the family’s history.  Her principal interest had naturally been with her parents families, the Hartnetts and the Killackeys.  She also was my source for many stories regarding the Long and Duggan families.  She had an excellent rapport with her father-in-law and mother-in-law and probably learned much of the Long family’s history from them.  My grandfather, Thomas Butler Long, especially, seemed to relate better with her than with some of his own children.  My mother was always an excellent storyteller and a good writer.  She wrote many letters and other papers that told family stories.  Her oral stories and her writings have been utilized frequently in this history. 

 Helen Long claimed to be quite knowledgeable about the Long and Duggan families.  I can recall several conversations with her in which she told stories about these families. The essentials of her stories appear to have been reasonably accurate. However, subsequent research has revealed that she didn’t have all the details exactly straight.  Some of her stories established a basic framework for my research, particularly regarding her father’s paternal ancestors. 

Grandpa Long’s stories were usually about his childhood in Ireland and about his mother.  Grandpa Long didn’t tell me too much about his father’s family.  At least I don’t recall any specific conversations to that effect.  He was always very close to his father, however.  I can recall someone telling me that he used some of his first earnings, as a very young man, to purchase a tombstone for his father’s grave.  My aunt, Helen Long, told me a few stories, and further research uncovered more information about Grandpa’s father, Thomas D. Long, Sr., and his family. I have been able to trace the history of my great-grandfather and his sisters and brother after they arrived in Iowa and Nebraska by researching land transactions, census records and cemetery records coupled with other fragments of information.

xe "Long:Helen (1892-1984)"

xe "Long:Patrick (1800(-1860()"I learned about Grandpa’s grandparents, Patrick and Mary Longxe "Long:Mary M. (1800(-1860()", from various other sources.  I had difficulty determining their names.  Helen Long told me that his name was “PATRICK”.  Later I discovered that his daughter, Bridget Long Rooney’sxe "Rooney:Bridget Long (1835-1910)" death certificate identifies him as “JOHN” and his wife as “BRIDGET”.  Further research uncovered a story in a history of Harrison County, Iowa about another of their daughters, Margaret, Mrs. Joseph W. “Hickory” Reillyxe "Reilly:Margaret Long".  That story identifies them as Patrick and Mary M. Long.  I am now convinced that one of John and Bridget Rooney’s sons or daughters listed their own parents on their mother’s death certificate rather than Bridget’s parents.  When my mother and brother, Gerald, were in Ireland in 1977, they found a record that identifies a “JOHN PATRICK” Long as paying tithes in 1825 in Ballougue, in the parish of Listerin, on property owned by The Right Honourable Marque of Waterford.  However, the best evidence indicates that their names were indeed Patrick and Mary M. Long. 

The historical record of the Patrick Long family in Ireland, before they came to America, is incomplete. I do know, however, that Patrick Long was my great-great-grandfather.  Patrick and his wife, Mary, did not leave Ireland, nor did three of their eleven children who probably died as infants or as small children. Six of their daughters and two of their sons, Walter and my great-grandfather, Thomas Long, Sr., left Ireland for a better life in the United States.  In order to understand why they all left Ireland and moved to the United States, it might be well to review just a bit of Irish history.

In 1845, blight infected the potato crop throughout Ireland.  At that time, the Irish peasants were almost totally dependent on the potato as a food crop.  That potato blight, coupled with over-population in Ireland, and the fact of indifference, even animosity, of the British government toward Ireland, resulted in a four-year long famine in which over a million Irish peasants died and hundreds of thousands migrated to the United States and Canada to escape starvation. 

In 1801, the Act of Union between Ireland and England became operative.  As a result of that Act, Ireland was politically one nation with England, but neither the Irish nor the English people ever accepted that fact.  The Act of Union was supposed to unite the two countries, but in fact, it only opened the way for Ireland to be exploited by England.  The vast majority of the Irish people were Catholic, while England and the rest of the British Isles were Protestant.  The peasants in Ireland were tenant farmers.  The practice of the Catholic faith was proscribed.  No Catholic could vote, hold any office under the Crown, or purchase land.  An enactment directing that, at the death of a Catholic owner, his land was to be divided among all his sons, unless the eldest became a Protestant, when he would inherit the whole, fragmented estates owned by Catholics.  These repeatedly fragmented holdings soon became so small as to be practically worthless.  Therefore, absentee landlords who lived in England or on the continent acquired and consolidated these small parcels and soon owned most of the land in Ireland.  Large acreages were let at a fixed rent to one person in Ireland on a long lease, who in turn would sublet small parcels to the peasants as he chose.  The landlord thus rid himself of responsibility and assured himself of a regular income, but the peasants were handed over to exploitation.  The “middleman” degraded the land because, just as the slum landlord finds that it is more profitable to let out a house room by room, they split farms into smaller and smaller holdings for the sake of increased rents.

 Whether the Irish peasant held land under a middleman, a resident agent, or an absentee landlord, the terms under which he held land were extremely harsh.  Two common provisions, in particular, deprived him of incentive and security.

 First, any improvement he made to his holding became the property of his landlord, without compensation.  This provision was made all the more inequitable by the bare condition in which the land was customarily rented, so barren of amenities that it was often impossible for the tenant to occupy the land until he had made improvements destined to enrich his landlord. 

 Second, he very seldom had any security of tenure; the majority of tenants in Ireland were tenants `at will’, that is, the will of the landlord, who could turn them out whenever he chose
.

 My great-great-grandfather, Patrick Long xe "Long:Patrick (1800(-1860()"and his wife, Mary xe "Long:Mary M. (1800(-1860()"lived and died in Ireland under these terrible conditions.  Four of their daughters, however, immigrated to the United States, probably during the time of the famine, in order to avoid starvation.  They were: Mary,xe "Hagan:Mary Long (1823-1885)" Mrs. James Hagan, Catherine (Kitty)xe "Lehey:Catherine \"Kitty\" Long (1827-1902)", Mrs. James Lehey, Ellen,xe "Heffernan:Ellen Long (1829-1876)" the first Mrs. John Heffernan, Bridgetxe "Rooney:Bridget Long (1835-1910)", Mrs. John Rooney and Margaret, Mrs. Joseph W. ”Hickory” Reilly.  Patrick and Mary’s son, Walterxe "Long:Walter (1840(-1888)", came to America sometime on or before 1860 and was in Sioux City IA in 1866.  Their youngest daughter, Juliaxe "Lehey:Julia Long (1848-1905)", was born in 1848, at a time when the famine was at its worst.  She too moved to the United States, probably around 1870.  Soon thereafter, she married Andrew Lehey, a cousin of James Lehey, her sister’s husband.  Patrick and Mary’s son, Thomas Long, Sr.xe "Long:Thomas Sr. (1836-1883)", who was a child approximately 9 years old when the great famine struck, remained in Ireland for several more years.  He came to the United States in 1875.  

The Patrick and Mary Long family genealogical chart is on page 10.

Patrickxe "Long:Patrick (1800(-1860()" and Mary M. Longxe "Long:Mary M. (1800(-1860()" lived in the first half of the nineteenth century.  The exact dates of their births and deaths are uncertain but they were both born around 1800 and both probably died around 1860, plus or minus five or ten years.  They were the parents of eleven, four boys and seven girls.  I have established the ages of the sons and daughters who came to the United States from tombstone dates, marriage records, death records, census data and other records.  The dates for the rest were estimated by using fragmentary information and, if no information was available, were “guessed” from probable birth intervals in large families such as this.  I have dated them as follows: 

Mary Long Hagan’s tombstone discloses that she died on 4/17/1885 at the age of 62.  Her year of birth, therefore, would be 1822 or 1823.xe "Hagan:Mary Long (1823-1885)"
There were two Walter Longs in this family. It was common for a Victorian era family to name a child after a deceased older sibling.  It is therefore quite obvious that the older Walter had died before the younger Walter was born.  The older Walter Long, was probably born about 1825 and died as a child.   xe "Long:Walter (1824(-1834()"
Catherine “Kitty” Long Lehey died 1/18/1902 at the age of 75.  Her year of birth would be 1826.  This information came from her tombstone.xe "Lehey:Catherine \"Kitty\" Long (1827-1902)"
Ellen Long Heffernan was born in 1828 or early in 1829.  She died on February 7, 1876, at the age of 47, according to her tombstone.xe "Heffernan:Ellen Long (1829-1876)"
Patrick and Anna Long both probably died either as infants or as children in Ireland.  They were probably born about 1831 and 1833. Their birth years were estimated based on probable birth intervals in a large family.  I found their names listed as children of Patrick and Mary M. Long in a story about Margaret Long Reilly’s family.  I also recall my aunt Helen Long telling me that her grandfather had seven sisters.  Anna would be the seventh.  No further information about them is available.xe "Long:Patrick (1831(-1831()"

xe "Long:Anna (1833(-1833()"
Bridget Long Rooney was born in 1835 and died in 1910, according to her death certificate.xe "Rooney:Bridget Long (1835-1910)"
My great-grandfather, Thomas D. Long Sr. was born in 1836 and died on April 13, 1883 according to his tombstone inscription.xe "Long:Thomas Sr. (1836-1883)"
The younger Walter Long was probably born around 1839 or 1840.  He probably came to the United States sometime before 1860.  He filed a declaration of his intention to become an American citizen on December 5, 1866 in Woodbury County, Iowa.  Walter was married in Sioux City, IA to Mary Daley on January 31, 1869.  He died in 1888 and is buried in Sioux City.xe "Long:Walter (1840(-1888)"
Margaret Long Reilly was married in Sioux City, IA on Christmas day in 1864.  Her 10th child was born in 1880, so she must have been married at an early age.  I estimate her birth date at approximately 1841 to 1844.  She was probably married in St. Mary’s church, the first Catholic Church in Sioux City.  Her uncles were among the group of Irish men who built that church.xe "Reilly:Margaret Long"
Julia Long Lehey was born in 1848 and died in 1905, according to her tombstone inscription. xe "Lehey:Julia Long (1848-1905)"
Three of the Long sisters were among the early pioneers to arrive in Dakota County, Nebraska.  They were Catherine Long Lehey, Ellen Long Heffernan and Bridget Long Rooney.  After the Long sisters and their husbands came from Ireland and before they moved to the Sioux City, Iowa - Dakota County, Nebraska area, they lived for a short time in southern Pennsylvania.   When they arrived in the United States, the Nebraska territory was not yet open to settlement.  With the passage of the Kansas-Nebraska Act, both the Kansas and the Nebraska territories were opened for settlement.  

On May 30, 1854, the US Congress passed the Kansas-Nebraska Act, establishing the territories of Kansas and Nebraska.  This controversial legislation repealed the Missouri Compromise of 1820-21 and reopened the controversy over the extension of slavery in the western territories.  Several attempts to organize a single territory for the area west of Missouri and Iowa and north of latitude 36 degrees 30 minutes had failed in Congress due to southern opposition to the Missouri Compromise and competition between northern and southern advocates of a transcontinental railroad.  Politics and economics became inextricably mixed with the slavery issue in the years after the Missouri Compromise (1820-21), by which Maine entered the Union as a free state and Missouri as a slave state but slavery was forbidden in the rest of the Louisiana Purchase territory north of 36 degrees 30 minutes latitude.  That latitude is approximately the north boundary line of North Carolina, Tennessee and Arkansas.

In January 1854, Sen. Stephen A. Douglas of Illinois introduced a bill dividing the land into two territories, Kansas and Nebraska, and leaving the question of slavery to be decided by the settlers.  This latter provision, known as Popular Sovereignty, enraged antislavery people.  But after months of bitter debate, the bill passed.  This solution did not defuse the slavery issue.  Kansas was soon rent by conflict, and the sectional split between north and south was aggravated to a point that made reconciliation virtually impossible.  Opponents of the act founded the Republican Party, and the United States was pushed further toward the War Between the States.

The Long sisters and their families were obviously much more interested in farming than in fighting.  They moved west from Pennsylvania to Nebraska only for the opportunity to own their own land, to live on it and to farm it.

In the early to mid 1850’s getting to Nebraska was easier said than done.  The first obstacle to be overcome was the Appalachian Mountains.  Several railroad companies were operating in the eastern part of the United States.  By 1850, only makeshift transportation systems crossed the mountains.  As early as the mid 1830’s a combination of primitive railroads, canals, inclined planes and rivers had created a transportation system of sorts called the “Main Line of Improvements” between Philadelphia and Pittsburgh.  The “Pennsylvania Railroad” eventually replaced this makeshift system.   In 1852, the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad had reached as far west as the Ohio River, at Wheeling, West Virginia (then in Virginia).

Once these pioneers reached the Ohio River, probably via one of these railroads, they had options open to them as to how they were to cross the plains to Nebraska.  Their first option was to travel by riverboat down the Ohio River to the Mississippi River and upstream via the Mississippi and Missouri Rivers to Nebraska.

Another option was to travel overland via the National Pike to Illinois.  As a child in third or fourth grade, I vaguely recall my teacher telling us that her parents traveled west via the Cumberland Trail.  My teacher was Benneta Heeney, who was my father’s second cousin and a descendant of Ellen Long Heffernan.

The Cumberland Trail, was also known as the National Pike, or as it was called in the statute creating it, the Cumberland Road.  It was the first important road to be built with Federal funds in the country.  In 1803, the commissioners appointed by President Thomas Jefferson selected the route to be followed, from Cumberland, Maryland to Brownsville, Pennsylvania.  From the day, in 1818, when travel began as far west as Wheeling, then in Virginia, this road handled the bulk of east-west movement until the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad reached the Ohio River in 1852.  

Congress in 1803, one year after Ohio was admitted to the Union, agreed that a “2 per cent fund”, derived from the sale of public lands should be devoted to the construction of roads to and through the new state.

In 1806, Congress passed an act authorizing the construction of this road, from Cumberland, Maryland to the State of Ohio.  Although funds from the National Treasury were to be reimbursed from the 2 per cent fund, no funds were ever returned to the National Treasury.

When Indiana, in 1816, and Illinois, in 1818, were admitted to the union, similar compacts were made with those states.  Under these agreements for repayment, Congress, in 1820 appropriated funds for continuing the National Pike through Ohio, Indiana and Illinois to the Mississippi River.  By 1830, the road reached Vandalia, then the capital of Illinois. The National Pike ended at Vandalia.

This National Pike was more than just a trail.  The first iron bridge in the United States was built in 1839 on the route of the National Pike over Dunlap‘s creek, along the present Main Street in Brownsville, Pennsylvania.  That bridge is still in use.  Also, large sections of the road were paved with crushed stone following the “McAdam Principle” to a thickness of 12 to 15 inches.  This principle has been used, with modifications, to this day in the construction of modern roads and airports.  The principle modification has been to use asphalt to bind the stone rather than water.  

No record has been found as to how the Long sisters and their families actually traveled from Pennsylvania to Nebraska.  They might have traveled by stagecoach over the National Pike, passing many Conestoga Freight wagons pulled by oxen along the way.  This road had already been heavily used for nearly two decades before the Long sisters and their families traveled west 

In 1857 a little settlement on the Iowa side of the Missouri River called Thompsonville was platted and incorporated as Sioux City, Iowa.  A river port and levee had already been established.  Most provisions delivered to Sioux City in the 1850’s and early 1860’s arrived by steamboat from St. Louis.  These steamboats carried passengers as well as freight.  Once the Long sisters and their families were in Illinois, they could have traveled by boat up the Missouri River.

 It is also possible that they traveled overland across Iowa to the new town of Sioux City, just across the river from Dakota County, Nebraska.  John Rooney’s brother, Bernard, remained in the Peoria, Illinois area.  He died in Princeville, IL, near Peoria.  After his death, sometime after the 1860 census, his widow, Ann, and her family moved to Sioux City.  The 1860 census reveals that John and Bridget Roney (Rooney), John and Ellen Hefron (Heffernan) and James and Catherine Lehey all lived in Sioux City for a few years.  They helped build the first Catholic Church in Sioux City.

While they were living in Sioux City, the Catholic community decided to build a church.  In 1857, Father Jeremiah F. Trecy had established a settlement at St. John’s, just north of Jackson, Nebraska.  For a number of years Sioux City was a mission of St. John’s and later of St. Patrick’s church in Jackson, Nebraska.  St. John’s no longer exists and Jackson remains a small town, while Sioux City has grown into the commercial center of the region with a population of over 90,000.  Father Trecy and other priests occasionally offered Mass in private homes.  

During a meeting in the home of John Fitzgibbon, attended by 26 men, among who were John Roney (Rooney), John Hefron (Heffernan) and James Lehey. The group consisted of almost all able-bodied Irishmen. It was decided to buy a lot and proceed with the construction of a building. A lot, 50 by 150 feet, on the southeast corner of West Seventh and Perry Streets, could be bought for $25.00.  Each man, except one, who did not have it, promised to give one dollar.  Mr. Fitzgibbon took the money and next day, June 27, 1862, bought Lot 1, Block 37, Sioux City, for $25.00.  The parishioners wanted to build their church immediately, but they had no money.  They were offered timber in Nebraska, just across the river, if they would cut it and haul it.  The offer was accepted.  Armed with axes and saws, they worked every day until there were enough logs to furnish the needed lumber.  They floated the logs across the river to the sawmill at the mouth of Perry Creek.  Half of the logs were given to the mill as payment for sawing the other half.  Part of the sawing cost was paid in labor at the mill.

The Rev. Almire Fourmont, who had been sent to take charge of the Sioux City mission, thought the lot for the church was too small.  The adjoining lot was available but the men did not have the money to buy it.  When they learned they could buy it for $25.00, Rev. Fourmont took the money from his pocket, gave it to them and they, next day, bought Lot 2, Block 37, Sioux City, in the name of Bishop Smith.  The deed was dated September 25, 1862.  A third lot was bought later, at a cost of $800.00.  This gave the Catholics an entire quarter block of land.  St. Mary’s Church was built on the lot next to the alley; the rectory was built on the middle lot.

When the three lots were sold in 1891, they brought $16,500.  Today, that site is a used car sales lot.  The church building was moved a short distance away, was remodeled and today still exists as a residence.

Railroads were, even then, being built across the plains.  The first railroad from the East was built as far west as St Joseph, MO, on the Missouri River, by 1859.  The first railroad reached Sioux City, IA from Missouri Valley IA, near Council Bluffs, in 1868.  When the Long sisters’ younger brother, Thomas D. Long, my great grandfather, arrived in the United States in 1875, he and his son Thomas, my grandfather, were able to travel by rail all the way from New York to Sioux City, changing trains in Chicago, of course.  

THE JAMES AND MARY LONG HAGAN FAMILY

Patrick and Mary M. Long’s first daughter, Mary Long,xe "Hagan:Mary Long (1823-1885)" married James Hagan, probably in Ireland. xe "Hagan:James (1817-1906)" James was born in 1817 and died in 1906 at the age of 89.  Mary Long Hagan was born in 1823 and died in 1885 at the age of 62.  Their family consisted of two daughters, Mary and Catherine, three sons, Peter, James and Joseph.  Their daughter, Mary, was born in 1852.  She was married to James Heeney and they, in turn had a family of three sons and five daughters. 

 The Hagan’s oldest son, Peterxe "Hagan:Peter (1855-1936)", was born in Lancaster Pennsylvania in 1855.  Peter married Ellen C. “Lilly” Rooney.xe "Hagan:Ellen C. \"Lilly\" Rooney (1858-1946)"  Ellen’s parents were Bernard Rooney and Ann Brady.  Bernard Rooney was a brother of Peter’s uncle John Rooney.  Ellen was born in Princeville, IL, near Peoria, in 1858.  Her father, Bernard, died soon thereafter and is probably buried in Princeville.  Ellen then moved with her mother to Sioux City, IA.  Her mother, Ann, lived in Sioux City until her death.  

In 1886, the parish records of the then new St. Mary’s Church in Hubbard records the Peter and “Lillian” Hagan household as consisting of their two children, James and Mary Ellen plus William Hagan, a relative, and Richard Long, who although a small child at that time was Peter Hagan’s first cousin.  Richard was the orphaned child of my great-grandfather, Thomas Long, Sr. and his second wife Mary Purcell Long.

 James and Mary Hagan’s second son, James, was born in 1861 and lived only 20 years. xe "Hagan:James Jr. (1861-1881)"
Their second daughter was Catherine.  Her birth year is unknown.  She married Michael Smith in 1890 so she might have been born around 1870.  Parish record of St Mary’s Church in Hubbard show that in 1886 James Hagan, a widower, had Joseph and Catherine still in his household.  Those church records also show that Michael B. Smith, her future husband was confirmed in 1889.  Michael would then probably been in his teens or older.  It therefore appears that Catherine Hagan was the youngest in the family and probably was born in the 1870’s.

Their youngest son, Joseph, was born in 1866 in New York.xe "Hagan:Joseph (1866-1951)" He died in 1951 and is buried in Hubbard, Nebraska.  Joseph’s wife Bridget Green was born in 1863 and died in 1930. xe "Hagan:Bridget Green (1863-1930)"
 In 1870, James and Mary Hagan purchased land in Section 14 from her sisters and their husbands, James and Catherine Lehey and John and Ellen Heffernan.  They also purchased land in Section 15.  They built their house and farm buildings at the South East corner of Section 15 and farmed land in both sections.  Their son, Joseph operated the family farm after the parents died. 

 The James Hagan family genealogical charts is on page 11
THE JAMES AND CATHERINE LONG LEHEY FAMILY

Patrick and Mary’s next daughter, Catherine “Kitty” Long,xe "Lehey:Catherine \"Kitty\" Long (1827-1902)" married James Leheyxe "Lehey:James (1827-1892)", who reportedly was a land surveyor in addition to being a farmer.  James Lehey acquired 80 acres of land as assignee of warrant number 32204, which he acquired from a former soldier named Thomas Taylor, who was given a warrant for “bounty” land for his service to the nation in the War of 1812.  He was one of several settlers who acquired such warrants and who settled in the area immediately adjacent to what is now Hubbard.  Other pioneers who acquired their land by way of similar warrants were: Andrew Lehey, who was James’ cousin, John Howard, John Hartnett, Michael Maloney, John Heffernan, John Ryan and others.  In addition, James acquired additional land from the United States Government in payment for surveying work that he had done.  He also purchased 80 acres in Section 22 for $100.00 in 1868.  Furthermore he homesteaded another 160 acres.

James and Catherine Lehey had no children.  They deeded land to her sister Ellen’s daughters, Mary Heffernan Harty and Margaret Heffernan Heeney.  They also sold some land to their nephew, my grandfather, Thomas B. Long. 

There is no family chart for the James Lehey family because they had no children.

 THE JOHN AND ELLEN LONG HEFFERNAN FAMILY

Ellen Long,xe "Heffernan:Ellen Long (1829-1876)" another of Patrick and Mary M. Long’s daughters, married John Heffernan.xe "Harty:John (1862-1947)" They were among the earliest settlers in Dakota County, NE and in the Hubbard area.  Before moving west, John filed a declaration of intent to become a citizen of the United States, in Chester County PA, on October 10, 1853. He therefore must have resided in Pennsylvania for at least five years prior to that time, as one had to live in the United States at least five years before filing for citizenship.  They came to Dakota County in 1859 with her sister and brother-in-law James and Catherine Lehey.  John had a warrant for 80 acres of land.  That land was one mile north of the present Town of Hubbard.
  In 1860 they were living in Sioux City, Iowa according to census information.  After the Civil War ended they moved to Dakota County and eventually acquired more land from the government.  About 1870, Ellen and her husband brought her niece and nephew, Anna and Walter, who were the children of her brother Thomas Long, Sr., to America to live with them.  Ellen died on February 7, 1876.  Some time later, John married her niece, Anna Longxe "Heffernan:Anna Long (1857-1906)"

xe "Heeney:Margaret Heffernan (1857-1940)", who was about the same age as his oldest daughter, Margaret.  In addition to Ellen’s 2 daughters, Margaret Heeney and Mary Hartyxe "Harty:Mary Heffernan (1865-1933)", John and Anna were the parents of a family of seven.  They had 4 daughters: Catherine Denneexe "Denny:Catherine Heffernan", Elizabeth Fields, Alice and Mabel.xe "Fields:Elizabeth Heffernan"  Their 3 sons were Thomasxe "Heffernan:Thomas", who married Mae McGuire,xe "Heffernan:Mae McGuire" Johnxe "Heffernan:John F. (1885-1948)", who married Julia Anheuserxe "Heffernan:Julia Anheuser" and Josephxe "Heffernan:Joseph", who married Sarah Teedxe "Heffernan:Sarah Teed".  

The Heffernan family genealogical chart is on page 14.

  THE JOHN AND BRIDGET LONG ROONEY FAMILY 

Bridget Long,xe "Rooney:Bridget Long (1835-1910)" another of Patrick and Mary’s daughters, married John Rooneyxe "Rooney:John (1832-1904)" in Sioux City, IA.  They too were early settlers in the Hubbard area and they too lived in Sioux City during the Civil War.  They were the parents of eleven: five sons and six daughters.  The sons were Peter, Thomas, Joseph, Hugh and Henry.  The daughters were Ellen Duganxe "Duggan:Ellen Rooney", Mary Uffing, Catherine, Anne, Margaret and Agnes Mullaly.  

The Rooney family genealogical chart is on page 28.

The Rooney family is related to the Long family in several ways.  John Rooney was born in Scotland in 1828 and came to the United States on November 17, 1851.  He, his wife and family lived on a farm in the Hubbard area from about 1863 until they died.  His brother, Bernard, who lived and died at an early age in the Peoria IL area, had a daughter Ellen C. (Lilly) who married Peter Hagan, Bridget Rooney’s nephew.  They, in turn, helped raise Thomas D. Long’s son, Richard after the little boy’s parents died.  

Later, one of John and Bridget’s sons, Peter, had, among others, two sons, William and Ben, who married Mabel and Anna McGee, who were John Hartnett’s granddaughters.  Their progeny, in turn, is related to our family in two ways.  This relationship will be discussed in Chapter IV.

THE THOMAS D. LONG SR. FAMILY

Patrick and Mary Long’s son, Thomas D. Long is my great grandfather. His story will be told in the next chapter.

 THE WALTER LONG FAMILY

After arriving in the United States sometime around 1860, Walter Long, the second son named Walter, xe "Long:Walter (1840(-1888)"filed his intention to become a citizen of the United States on December 5, 1866 in Sioux City.  He was married to Mary Daleyxe "Long:Mary Daley" in Sioux City on January 31, 1869.  They are both buried in Mt. Calvary Cemetery.  She died in 1887 and he in 1888.  They had a son, Thomas P. Long who was married to Mary Nugent, and perhaps other children as well.  

The Walter Long family genealogical chart is on page 30.

THE JOSEPH AND MARGARET LONG REILLY FAMILY

Another of Patrick and Mary M. Long’s daughters, Margaret Longxe "Reilly:Margaret Long" married Joseph W. “Hickory” Reillyxe "Reilly:Joseph W. \"Hickory\"" in Sioux City, IA on Christmas day, 1864.  They were married in St. Mary’s Church, the first Catholic Church in Sioux City, the same little church that her sisters’ husbands helped build.  Mr. Reilly was born in Pennsylvania, the son of Edward and Susan Reilly, natives of Ireland and Virginia respectively.  He moved to Iowa at the age of 20, about the time that the Civil War started.  He enlisted at Missouri Valley, IA and served for three years and three months until the war ended, when he mustered out at Sioux City.  After they were married, the Reillys moved to Harrison County, IA where they purchased an 80-acre farm in Cincinnati Township.  That farm had been considered to be county swampland.  They built a log cabin and other improvements and lived there for seven years.  They then moved back to Sioux City where they lived for about three years, after which they returned to Harrison County.  They then purchased a farm in Jackson Township.  The first year they lived in a dugout.  They then built a log cabin and later a small frame house.  As time went on they bought more land, planted an orchard, built a bigger house, a large barn and made other improvements.  They lived on this farm for the remainder of their lives, eventually owning two hundred eighty acres.  Joseph and Margaret Reilly were the parents of a family of ten, six sons and four daughters.  

The Reilly family genealogical chart is on page 31.

THE ANDREW AND JULIA LONG LEHEY FAMILY

The youngest daughter of Patrick and Mary M. Long was Julia Long Leheyxe "Lehey:Julia Long (1848-1905)".  Her sister, Mary Hagan, was born in 1823 and Julia was born in 1848.  She was therefore approximately 25 years younger than her oldest sister.  Julia, being a small child when her older sisters emigrated to the United States, remained in Ireland, as did her brother, my great-grandfather, Thomas Long, Sr. Later, when she emigrated to America, she married Andrew Lehey, who was some 20 years her senior and one of the original settlers in Dakota County.  Andrew had obtained a warrant for 160 acres of land from a soldier who received it, as “bounty” land for his service in the military.
  It appears from the record that he entered upon the land on April 8, 1857.  Julia was approximately 9-years old at that time and probably still in Ireland.  She might have come to the United States around 1870 at the instigation of her older sisters for the express purpose of marrying Andrew Lehey.xe "Lehey:Andrew (1828-1896)" 

 Andrew and Julia Lehey had a family of 10.  They had 6 sons: James, Jeremiah, Andrew Jr., Walter, William and Patrick.  Their 4 daughters were Mary, Anne, Ellen and Margaret.

 None of Andrew and Julia Lehey’s children stayed on the farm in Hubbard.  Andrew and Julia sold the north half of their farm to their brother-in-law John Heffernan.  Julia died in 1905 after which, in 1907, their son Andrew sold the south- half of the farm, less what was previously sold and platted as a part of the town of Hubbard, to my grandfather, Thomas B. Long for $4,100, which was a typical price for land at that time.  

The Andrew Lehey family genealogical chart is on page 32.

 When the Long sisters, with their husbands, and the Fitzpatrick sisters (who will be introduced in a later chapter) with their husbands and the other Irish pioneers decided to brave the elements, endure the loneliness and suffer the privations of frontier life, they obviously did so looking back to the even harder times in Ireland.  Ownership of land was their primary motivation.  No landlord or resident agent could ever evict them.  They could raise cash crops as well as potatoes on their own land.  No one could take that crop away from them as rent and export it, leaving them to starve.  Without that motivation, many of the earliest pioneers might not have endured. 

Genealogy of the Patrick Long Family (Family Charts)

 On the following pages is a genealogy that shows the descendants of Patrick Long and his wife Mary.  This genealogy portrays their family and the families of their children and their children’s children down to the present time.  Perhaps it may seem inappropriate to refer to people who lived a full life and died at a ripe old age as “children”.  That word, however, is used in a relative sense.  On subsequent family pages the same persons may be listed as “parents” and often later as “ancestors”.  In order to depict the inter-relationships between families as well as showing the structure of each individual family, a separate chart has been prepared for each person in that family who in turn has a family of their own.  No family chart is shown for those with no children. 

 Showing all known ancestors and their families on a single diagram proves to be unwieldy and impractical.  Only parents, grandparents and other direct ancestors can be traced on a single linear chart.  In order to trace aunts, uncles and cousins, a system of individual family charts is being used.

Some confusion about persons with identical names exists because of the fact that several persons in succeeding generations were given the same first name.  Identical names also occur among cousins in the same generation. The use of a separate chart for each family is intended to help clarify the identity of persons with identical or similar names.

In the alphabetical index that is provided at the end of this book, birth and death dates are shown if they are known.  These dates may also assist in differentiating between several persons with the same name. 

FAMILY CHARTS

 ===============================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ===============================================================

  Family of Patrick and Mary M. Longxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Patrick (1800(-1860()"


Patrick Long 


1800( 



1860(


Mary M. 


1800( 



1860(
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Mary Long 


1823 



4/17/1885



James Hagan 


5/3/1817



 9/13/1906



Walter Long 


c.1825(


Probably died as a child in Ireland before his younger brother Walter was born.



Catherine “Kitty” Long 

1826 



1/18/1902



James Lehey 


1827 



8/1/1892



(No Children)



Ellen Long 


1829



2/7/1876



John W. Heffernan 

1827 



5/9/1895



Patrick Long 


c.1831(


Probably died as a child in Ireland.



Anna Long 


c.1833(


Probably died as a child in Ireland.



Bridget Long 


1835 



1/4/1910



John Rooney 


1832 



9/12/1904



Thomas Long Sr. 

1836 



4/13/1883



Bridget Butler 


1835  



3/15/1872



Mary Purcell 


1840 



4/17/1888



Walter Long 


c.1840 



1888



Mary Daley 


c.1840 

1/31/1869 
1887



Margaret Long 


c.1842 

12/25/1864
 



Joseph W.”Hickory” Reilly 
c.1840 



 



Julia Long 


1848 



7/8/1905



Andrew Lehey 


1828 



1/24/1896

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

    Family of Mary Long and James Haganxe "FAMILY CHARTS:HAGAN:James (1817-1906)"


James Hagan 


5/3/1817



 9/13/1906



Mary Long 


1823 



4/17/1885

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Mary Hagan 


1852 



1920



James Heeney 


1844 



1922



Peter Hagan 


3 /1855 



4/4/1936



Ellen C. “Lilly” Rooney 

10 /1858 


2/15/1946



James Hagan 


12/28/1861 


11/1/1881



Single



Joseph Hagan 


1866 



1951



Bridget Green 


1863 



1930



Catherine Hagan


c.1870

1 /1890



Michael Smith 






4/12/1923

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of James Heeney and Mary Haganxe "FAMILY CHARTS:HEENEY:James"


Mary Hagan 


1852 



1920



James Heeney 


1844 



1922

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Frank Heeney 


1877 



1947



Mary Laretty



Ellen “Nellie” Heeney 

1878 



1963



Jack O’Connor



Mary “Mae” Heeney 

1880 



1953



Single



Rose Heeney 


1884 

7//1910

1937



Joseph Heenan



Joseph Heeney 


1886 



1955



Helen Kerwin 


1893 

1916 

1975



William Heeney 


1890 



1973



Magdeline Sherlock



10//1915



Loretta Heeney 


1893 



1917



Clifford Ryan



Katherine Heeney 

1895 



1908



Single

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Joseph Heeney and Helen Kerwinxe "FAMILY CHARTS:HEENEY:Joseph"


Joseph Heeney 


1886 



1955



Helen Kerwin 


1893 

1916 

1975

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children


Harold Heeney 


1916


Nola Grubbs 



1916 



1952


Lawana Heeney 


1918 

1948 

1975


Michael Duffy 


1908 



1970


Donna Heeney 


1924 



1941


Wendell Allen 


1920


Colene Heeney 


1929 



1954


Richard Boyle 


1928 



1969


  6 Children


  Joseph


  Jolene


  Richard


  David


  Robert


  Karen

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of John Heffernan, Ellen Long and Anna Longxe "FAMILY CHARTS:HEFFERNAN:John W. ((1827-1895)"


John W. Heffernan 

1827 



5/9/1895



Ellen Long 


1829 



2/7/1876



Anna Long 


1857 



1906

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children

Ellen Long’s children



Margaret Heffernan 

10/15/1857 
5 /1879

3/22/1940



Frank Heeney 


1846 



1913



Mary Heffernan 


11/14/1865 
8/11/1891
3/19/1933



John Harty 


8/24/1862 


3/4/1947

Anna Long’s children



Catherine Heffernan 

1878



Fred Dennee



Elizabeth Heffernan 

1879 



1915



Clyde Fields



Alice Heffernan 


3/20/1882 


11/23/1963



Single



Thomas Heffernan 

12/8/1883 


1/13/1956



Mae McGuire 


1888 

1908

1943



Edna  



John F. Heffernan 

6/18/1885 


7/28/1948



Julia Anheuser 


7/25/1891 
9/25/1920 
6/2/1986



Joseph William Heffernan 
2/4/1888 


1/31/1933



Sarah Frances(Sadie)Teed 

4/20/1893 
6/24/1914 
3/19/1964



Mabel Heffernan 


11/13/1891 


2/7/1965



Single

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Frank Heeney and Margaret Heffernanxe "FAMILY CHARTS:HEENEY:Frank (1846-1913)"


 Frank Heeney 


1846 



1913



Margaret Heffernan 

10/15/1857 
5 /1879

3/22/1940

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Ella Heeney 


3/13/1880 
1 /1921

1/16/1955



George Hayes 






1947



James Heeney 


1/26/1882 


7/12/1962



Mary Timlin 


 



9/15/1916



John Heeney 


8/15/1883 


8/23/1948



Mary Heenan 


1/29/1897 
2/18/1921 
3/12/1957

 
Father Walter Heeney

 



 



Frank Heeney 


1/27/1886 


9/5/1911



Single



Charles Heeney 


5/4/1888 


5/11/1962



Cecilia McGee 


2/24/1889 
5 /1918

12/30/1959

`

Mary Heeney 


4/1/1890 
1 /1923

5/26/1941



Joseph Watters 


5/18/1889 


9/8/1954



Raymond Heeney 

4/6/1892 


8/22/1947



Margaret Heenan 

2/13/1903 


1989



Margaret Heeney 

1/10/1897 


3/14/1911



Single



Bennetta Heeney 


5/28/1899 


1990



Single



Bernard Heeney 


8/29/1902 


11/20/1969



Single

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of John Heeney and Mary Heenanxe "FAMILY CHARTS:HEENEY:John (1883-1948)"

        John Heeney 


8/15/1883 


8/23/1948



Mary Heenan 


1/29/1897 
2/18/1921 
3/12/1957

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Mary Ellen Heeney 

4/3/1924 


6/1/1948



Lawrence “Cap” Graham

     



     



John P. (Jack) Heeney 

2/26/1926


5/3/2000



Edna Marie Rasmusen 

1927 

6/12/1954 
6/7/1969



    Kevin Heeney



    Diana

    David Heeney

    Emily



    DeAnna 


1961 



1970

    James

 
    Ellen


     Karen C. Heeney



     Single

Leo Heeney 


3/1/1928



Single



Catherine Heeney 

8/21/1935 
1/12/1957



Leo Erickson



 Mary K. Erickson



    Joseph Knowels



      one son

      Theresa A. Erickson

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Charles Heeney and Cecilia McGeexe "FAMILY CHARTS:HEENEY:Charles"
Charles Heeney 


5/4/1888 


5/11/1962



Cecilia McGee 


2/24/1889 
5/1918

12/30/1959

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Margaret Heeney 



Henry Liewer



Joseph Heeney 


1921 



1990



Ethel Bruening



Thomas Heeney 


1926



1999



Elaine Burns



Edward Heeney 


4/14/1931 


2/8/1983



Anna Thomas

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Joseph Watters and Mary Heeneyxe "FAMILY CHARTS:WATTERS:Joseph"


Mary Heeney 


4/1/1890 
1/1923

5/26/1941



Joseph Watters 


5/18/1889 


9/8/1954

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Joseph Watters



Mary Waltemuth



James Watters



Lois Phillips



William Watters



Elizabeth Richey



Margaret Watters



William Torney



Ann Watters



Norman Schultz




Daniel Watters

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Raymond Heeney and Margaret Heenanxe "FAMILY CHARTS:HEENEY:Raymond"


Raymond Heeney 

4/6/1892 


8/22/1947



Margaret Heenan 

2/13/1903 


1989

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



James Heeney 


11/11/1925 


7/2/1991



Elaine Smith 


9/11/1927 


11/19/1986



Frances Heeney



Ray Marron



  Johnson

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Mary Heffernan and John Hartyxe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTY:John (1862-1947)"


John Harty 


8/24/1862 
8/11/1891
3/4/1947



Mary Heffernan 


11/14/1865 


3/19/1933

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



James Harty 


3/22/1893 


7/29/1918



Single (Killed in World War I)



Pearl Harty 


2/10/1896 


3/25/1987



Daniel L. Hartnett 

4/11/1896 


5/29/1986



Mary Harty 


8/4/1898 


1/8/1922



Single



John Harty 


11/10/1901 


9/8/1954



Charlotte Hartnett 

5/12/1902 
6/8/1922

8/17/1989 



Daniel Harty 


5/14/1904 
10/10/1931
10/8/1976



Madeline Sheehan 

6/4/1904



3/1/1985



     Marilyn Harty 

9 /1934 





     William McGowen



     Donna Harty 


1/30/1937



     Donald Brandt



     Harold Simpson

Clement Harty 


1/1/1908 


12/4/1924



Single

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Pearl Harty and Daniel L. Hartnettxe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTNETT:Daniel L. (1896-1987)"


 Pearl Harty 


2/10/1896 


3/25/1987



Daniel L. Hartnett 

4/11/1896 


5/29/1986

  ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Paul Hartnett 


9 /1927



Marjorie Sheehan



  5 Children



James Hartnett



Jacqueline Cahill



  9 Children



Mary Hartnett



Stephen Maks



Margaret Hartnett


1/6/1936



Henry Trysla



  5 Children

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of John Harty and Charlotte Hartnettxe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTY:John (1901-1954)"


John Harty 


11/10/1901 


9/8/1954



Charlotte Hartnett 

5/12/1902 
6/8/1922

8/17/1989

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



James J. Harty 


5/7/1923



Lucille Horton 


11/11/1922
12/29/1943



Ronald Edler 


5/20/1926 


2/22/1970



Mary Harty 


2/2/1927 
11/19/1947
2/2/2007

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of James Harty and Lucille Hortonxe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTY:James J. (1923- )"


James J. Harty 


5/7/1923



Lucille Horton 


11/11/1922
12/29/1943

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



James Patrick Harty 

5/23/1949



Jean Janis


5/24/1951



   Molly



10/19/1981



   Daniel



1/12/1987



   Veronica


7/5/1990



Colleen Harty 


4/11/1956
8/21/1976



James Reisner


5/22/1950



   Matthew


10/5/1990

 
   Anne Marie


10/24/1993



John Harty 


12/17/1958



Monica Shay


4/19/1959



   Zackery


10/21/1982



   Sarah



8/3/1984



   Emily



2/15/1988

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Mary Harty and Ronald Edlerxe "FAMILY CHARTS:EDLER:Ronald"


Ronald Edler 


5/20/1926 


2/22/1970



Mary Harty 


2/2/1927 
11/19/1947 
2/2/2007

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Michael Edler 


1/26/1949



Single



Constance Edler 


8/6/1951



Michael Simpkins 



Roseann Edler 


9/2/1955



Bradley Chase



Donna Lynn Edler 

10/15/1956



Michael McIntyre



Ronald Edler 


11/9/1961



Debra Middleton

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Thomas Heffernan and Mae McGuire



Thomas Heffernan 

12/8/1883 


1/13/1956



Mae McGuire 


1888 

1908

1943



Edna  

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HEFFERNAN:Thomas"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children of Mae



Chauncy Heffernan M.D. 

2/2/1910 


3/20/1991



Margaret  Shoemaker

1/23/1914
1964

9/20/1997



Vivian Heffernan


12/15/1911
12/26/1939
1/13/1979



Glen Moore

 
    4 children



Thomas Heffernan Jr. 

7/13/1919


1/6/1989



Single



Edward Heffernan 

8/21/1923



Janice Hipp


    2 children



Constance Mae Heffernan 

8/31/1926




Edward Mandl






2/17/1994



   3 daughters

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of John F. Heffernan and Julia Anheuser



John F. Heffernan 

6/18/1885 


7/28/1948



Julia Anheuser 


7/25/1891 
9/25/1920 
6/2/1986

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HEFFERNAN:John F. (1885-1948)" 

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



William J. McGoogan 

1920 



7//1987



Julia Anheuser Heffernan 

1921



12/2/1999



Catherine Heffernan 

1923



Sisters of B.V.M. order

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Grandchildren



Matthew Heffernan McGoogan



Mary Van Camp



   Paris



Molly Lawless McGoogan



Kevin Murphy



   Sean



   Ryan



Ellen Anheuser McGoogan



Terrance Freeman



   Terrence



   William

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Joseph Heffernan and Sarah Teed

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HEFFERNAN:Joseph"


Joseph William Heffernan 
2/4/1888 


1/31/1933



Sarah Frances (Sadie) Teed 
4/20/1893 
6/24/1914 
3/19/1964

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Howard Joseph Heffernan 

7/15/1915 


10/25/1976



Irene Catherine Nodlinski

12/31/1915 
10/15/1949 
2/13/1983



Paul Edward Heffernan 

5/13/1917 


11/28/1976



Bernadine C. Hickert 

7/14/1917 


6/12/1937



David Leo Heffernan 

2/18/1919 


4/1/1968



Rita Hanna Dondero 

6/7/1915 


8/8/1941



Gail Andrew Heffernan 

9/25/1920 


1/9/1959



Mary Ann Heffernan 

3/5/1922



Single



Ruth Alice Heffernan 

10/26/1928 


11/26/1988

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Bridget Long and John Rooney



Bridget Long 


1835 



1/4/1910



John Rooney 


1832 



9/12/1904

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:ROONEY:John (1835-1910)"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Agnes Rooney



 Mullaly



Anne Rooney

 
Spouse unknown



Catherine A. Rooney 

2/10/1867 


4/2/1893



Single



Hugh Rooney

 
Spouse unknown



Thomas Rooney


 Spouse unknown



Henry Rooney 






11/30/1907



Margaret “Maggie” 





4/20/1904



Joseph Rooney

 
Spouse unknown



Frank Uffing 


1857



Mary Rooney 


1862



Patrick Duggan 


1864 



1914



Ellen Rooney 


1861 



1935



Peter Rooney



Bridget Farrell



     Ben (Mabel McGee)



     William (Anna McGee)

Margaret “Maggie” Rooney 

 
 Spouse unknown


FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Thomas Long Sr., Bridget Butler and Mary Purcellxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Thomas D. Sr. (1836-1883)"


Thomas Long Sr. 

1836 



4/13/1883



Bridget Butler 


c1835 



3/15/1872



Mary Purcell 


1840 



4/17/1888

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children

Bridget Butler’s children

Anna Long 


1857 



1906


John Heffernan


1827



5/9/1895
Walter Long 


3/2/1863



4/6/1932



Mary “Molly” McCormack
1861



2/5/1955



  (No Children)



Mary Ann Long



Al Rice



Thomas Butler Long 

12/8/1865 


3/6/1934



Mary Duggan 


3/17/1866 
2/17/1890 
5/21/1936

Mary Purcell’s children


 
Patrick Long 


3/16/1874 


4/1942



Caroline Richleu


1879

1/9/1900

1962

 Michael Henry Long 

1876 



3/9/1944


Julia Mullaly


1873

1899

3/31/1948

Richard Long 


1879 



1946



Mary Crowe


1868

c.1910

c.1938



John Long 


6/1881 



10/10/1918



Nellie McDonough

c1883



7/29/1955



Catherine Long 


5/15/1883 
8/30/1904 
4/17/1950



John  C. Schleich 

8/5/1877 


1/10/1951

 
This Chart Is Also Shown On Pages 37 and 44.

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Walter Long and Mary Daley

Family of:xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Walter (1840(-1888)"


Walter Long 


c.1840 



1888



Mary Daley


c,1840

1/31/1869
1887

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Thomas P. Long 






12/18/1937



Mary Nugent 






9/29/1948



William Butler Long



There were probably others  

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Margaret Long and Joseph Reilly




    xe "FAMILY CHARTS:REILLY:Joseph \"Hickory\""


Joseph W. ”Hickory” Reilly 
c.1840 


Margaret Long 


c.1842 

12/25/1864
     

----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Mary Ann Blanche Field Neil 
4/10/1860



  (Margaret’s child before she married Joseph Reilly)

Edward P. Reilly 


7/7/1866

 

Spouse Unknown



Robert Reilly 


9/13/1867



Spouse Unknown



Thomas Reilly 


4/24/1869



 Spouse Unknown



Eliza Reilly 


4/22/1870



? Lane



Susan Reilly 


9/29/1873 


1878

 

Died as a child



Margaret “Maggie” Reilly 
8/15/1874



? Chamglain



Joseph William Reilly 

2/22/1875



Jennie Lane



Bernard “Burney” Reilly 

7/30/1876

 

Spouse Unknown



John Reilly 


4/25/1878

 

Spouse Unknown



Anna Reilly 


11/7/1880



? Ham

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Julia Long and Andrew Leheyxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LEHEY:Andrew"


Andrew Lehey 


1828 



1/24/1896



Julia Long 


1848 



7/8/1905

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



James Lehey



Spouse Unknown



Mary Lehey



Spouse Unknown



Anne Lehey



Spouse Unknown



Ellen Lehey



Spouse Unknown



Jeremiah Lehey



Spouse Unknown



Margaret Lehey



Spouse Unknown



Andrew Lehey Jr.



Spouse Unknown



Walter Lehey



Spouse Unknown



William Lehey



Spouse Unknown



Patrick Lehey



Spouse Unknown

THE BUTLER FAMILY

Many of the stories that I heard from my grandfather were about his mother and her family.  I was about 12-years old when he died.  I had an excellent rapport with him and my memory of him is quite vivid.

I often spent time with my grandfather, running errands for him and helping him around the farm.  He talked to me often about his boyhood and how things were in the old country when he was young.  Grandpa and I often sat on the front porch steps and talked.  He talked to me about his own boyhood in Ireland.  He told me about such things as leprechauns and how they were always after little boys.  As a matter of fact, when he was small, mothers in Ireland let their little boy’s hair grow into long curls and even dressed them as girls, so that the “wee folk” wouldn’t steal them away.  His stories were usually tales of hardship and deprivation.  His parents had lived through the worst years of the famed “Irish Potato Famine” when the population of Ireland was decimated by starvation and hunger related disease.

One day while we were sitting on the front porch steps, Grandpa recounted a story of the Butler familyxe "Butler family".  “Before I was born”, he told me, “My mother’s folks, the Butlers, were renting a patch of ground in Ireland.  Periodically, the resident agent, an Englishman, would come around to collect the rent.  The rule was that if a tenant, even at their own expense, made any improvements to the property that might increase its value, the resident agent would raise the rent.  Even if they repaired the roof or fixed the doors in an effort to keep the chill from their bones, they were subject to a rent increase”.  “They had dug a well” he went on to say, “and to keep the resident agent from finding it, they hid it under a pile of fire wood.  An informer tipped off the agent, however.  When he arrived, he went straight to the woodpile and uncovered the well”.  Grandpa proceeded to tell me that a quarrel ensued, and his uncles, the four Butler brothers, threw the Englishman into the well, killing him.  I remember noticing that Grandpa Long didn’t seem to harbor resentment toward the English people even though it was obvious that he was convinced that this particular Englishman received his just dues.

Grandpa told me of the eventual fate of the four brothers, but I don’t recall the entire story.  I know that at least one of them was jailed and died in prison.  As I recall, the others all left Ireland.  Whether they escaped or were captured and then exiled, I am not sure.  My Aunt Helen Longxe "Long:Helen (1892-1984)"

xe "Long:Thomas B. (1865-1934)"

xe "Butler:William \"Billy\"" told me later that it was Grandpa’s uncle, William “Billy” Butler, who died in prison.

I don’t know for sure what happened to Grandpa’s uncles Francis “Frank”,xe "Butler:Francis \"Frank\"" Martin orxe "Butler:Martin" Richard.xe "Butler:Richard"  I vaguely recall hearing that one of them, Richard, I believe, migrated to Australia.  It may well be that he was captured and exiled to Australia, as that was the fate of many Irish prisoners in those days.

Mary Butler, the Butler’s other daughter, xe "Fitzgerald:Mary Butler"

xe "Fitzgerald:Thomas" married Thomas Fitzgerald and they came to the United States and to Peoria, Illinois. They had at least one son, James T. and two daughters, Margaret and Mary according to the 1860 census. James T. Fitzgerald married Mary McCarthy and they in turn had a family of six children.  The three boys were xe "Fitzgerald:Father James M." Thomas, John and James M.  The three daughters were Margaret, Mary and Agnes.  Five of these six children died in childhood.  

I was told by my aunt, Helen Long that all five died around 1900 within a three day period, from diphtheria. Further research shows that this story was probably not entirely accurate.  I now believe that perhaps four of the children so died, but the year would have been around 1886 or 1887.  One year old Margaret (Maggie) was the only child listed in this family in the 1888 Peoria county census.  Little Margaret, in turn, died about 10 years after her sibling’s deaths, or approximately in 1897. All five children are named on one tombstone in St. Mary’s cemetery in Peoria.  There are no birth or death dates listed for any of them. 

Father James M. Fitzgerald, the youngest child and last survivor of that family, was born October 30, 1889.  He was ordained on May 29, 1915 and died on March 16, 1973.  His parents, James T. and Mary McCarthy Fitzgerald died in 1927 and 1924 respectively.  Father Fitz, as he was known, served the Diocese of Peoria as a Parish Priest in several parishes.  He served as an assistant Pastor in Danville, IL, also in Kewanee, IL and in Farmer City, IL.  He served as Pastor in Wyoming, IL where he built a new parish church.  In 1941, Father Fitzgerald became the Pastor of St. Mark’s Parish in Peoria where he remained until his sudden death on March 16, 1973.

Senior priests and others in the Peoria diocese who remember him all remark about his generosity and his philanthropic activities.  His father, James T. Fitzgerald worked as a molder in a foundry and eventually became the owner of  THE BRASS FOUNDRY in Peoria.  His mother also had wealth of her own.  Father Fitzgerald, being their sole heir, inherited considerable wealth.  He was apparently very generous with that wealth, both to the Church and to other charities.  

Bridget Butler Long,xe "Long:Bridget Butler" my great grandmother and the Butler’s oldest daughter, probably lived only a little more than 30 years, and no wonder.  She was born and raised in a deprived and oppressed land   She probably never had a nutritious, well-balanced meal in her life.  During the depths of the Potato Famine, when she was a child, she would have been lucky to get anything at all to eat.  Her life was, in my view, the epitome of tragedy.  Not only did she endure deprivation and starvation, but also she saw her brothers arrested and imprisoned or exiled for defending their meager home.  She probably never knew good health, and consequently died at an early age.  One thing about her that we know for sure was that on the 8th of December, l865, she gave birth to Thomas Butler Long, my grandfather, and a little over 6 years later, she died in his presence.

When my grandfather’s mother was very ill, he and the other 3 children were taken into the sick room to see her.  While the children were present, she started to hemorrhage from her mouth and nose.  The children were taken out of the room immediately.  That was the last time he ever saw his mother.  He tried hard to tell me that story without breaking down, but he couldn’t make it.  At the time that he was telling the story, she had been dead well over 50 years and still he cried.  At that time I was aware that, although  many people had heard Tom Long swear,  I thought that  I was one of very few who ever saw him cry.  I learned later, however, that he often became quite emotional when discussing the treatment rendered by the English to the Irish, especially to his family.

The stories of the Butlers that were handed down to me are all tragic stories.  

The genealogical chart of the “star crossed” Butler family is on page 35.  

The Fitzgerald family genealogical chart is on page 36.

Genealogy OF THE Butler fAmily (Family Chart)

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

The Butler Familyxe "FAMILY CHARTS:BUTLER"


? Butler



Wife unknown

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Martin Butler



Wife unknown



Francis “Frank” Butler



Wife unknown



William “Billy” Butler



Single

        Mary Butler 


1832



    1870



Thomas Fitzgerald 

1811



    1877



Bridget Butler 


c1835



3/15/1872



Thomas Long Sr. 

1836 



4/13/1883 



Richard Butler



Wife unknown

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Mary Butler and Thomas Fitzgeraldxe "FAMILY CHARTS:FITZGERALD:Thomas (1811-1877)"


Thomas Fitzgerald 

1811



1877



Mary Butler
 


1832



1870






 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



James T. Fitzgerald 

1854



1/4/1927 



Mary McCarthy 


1854

8/4/1883

1924



Margaret                      

c1858



Spouse Unknown



Mary



1859



Spouse Unknown



Maybe others were born after the 1860 census

Grandchildren



Thomas 



12/15/1884


1887(


Died while a child



Mary 



10/29/1885


1887(




Died while a child



Margaret 


10/21/1886


1897(




Died while a child



Agnes 







1887(


Died while a child



John 







1887(



Died while a child



James M. Fitzgerald
 

10/30/1889 


3/16/1973



Ordained a Catholic Priest 


5/29/1915

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Thomas Long Sr., Bridget Butler and Mary Purcellxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Thomas D. Sr. (1836-1883)"


Thomas Long Sr. 

1836 



4/13/1883



Bridget Butler 


c1835 



3/15/1872



Mary Purcell 


1840 



4/17/1888

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children

Bridget Butler’s children

Anna Long 


1857 



1906


John Heffernan


1827



5/9/1895
Walter Long 


3/2/1863



4/6/1932



Mary “Molly” McCormack
1861



2/5/1955



  (No Children)



Mary Ann Long



Al Rice



Thomas Butler Long 

12/8/1865 


3/6/1934



Mary Duggan 


3/17/1866 
2/17/1890 
5/21/1936

Mary Purcell’s children


 
Patrick Long 


3/16/1874 


4/1942



Caroline Richleu


1879

1/9/1900

1962

 Michael Henry Long 

1876 



3/9/1944


Julia Mullaly


1873

1899

3/31/1948

Richard Long 


1879 



1946



Mary Crowe


1868

c.1910

c.1938



John Long 


6/1881 



10/10/1918



Nellie McDonough

c1883



7/29/1955



Catherine Long 


5/15/1883 
8/30/1904 
4/17/1950



John  C. Schleich 

8/5/1877 


1/10/1951

 
This Chart Is Also Shown On Pages 29 and 44.

CHAPTER II (Circa 1836 ()

THE THOMAS D. LONG SR. FAMILY





 THE THOMAS D. LONG SR. FAMILY

Patrick and Mary M. Long’s son, Thomas D. Long, Sr.xe "Long:Thomas Sr. (1836-1883)", my great-grandfather, was born about 1836 in County Kilkenny, Ireland near New Ross.  He remained in Ireland after the famine was over, until he too migrated to America in 1875, together with his son Thomas Butler Long,xe "Long:Thomas B. (1865-1934)" my grandfather.  Perhaps, as was often the case, he rented the same land in Ireland that his father held.  

Thomas D. Long, Sr., married Bridget Butlerxe "Long:Bridget Butler".  They had 4 children before she died in Ireland on March 15, 1872.  They were Anna Long Heffernanxe "Heffernan:Anna Long (1857-1906)", Walter, Mary Ann Long Ricexe "Rice:Mary Ann Long" and Thomas B. Long, my grandfather.  After Bridget died, Thomas Sr. married Mary Purcellxe "Long:Mary Purcell" and they had 5 more children, 2 of whom, Patrickxe "Long:Patrick (1874-1942)" and Michael,xe "Long:Michael (1876-1944)" were born in Ireland.  The last 3 children, Richard,xe "Long:Richard (1879-1946)" Johnxe "Long:John (1881-1918)" and Catherinexe "Schleich:Catherine Long", were born in the United States. 

When my grandfather was 9 years old, he and his father, Thomas D. Long Sr., came to the United States.  They boarded the ship “State of Pennsylvania” and sailed for America from Glasgow Scotland.  Even though I remember him telling me the story, I can’t recall the details, but on the way they were shipwrecked.  Although damaged, the ship did not sink and was able to limp back to Glasgow.  On the second try, on the ship “State of Indiana”, they made it to the United States, arriving in March, 1875.  They then traveled by rail to Sioux City, Iowa.  It appears that they lived in Sioux City for short time.  Thomas Sr. filed his first papers for United States citizenship in Woodbury County, IA on September 30, 1876.  He then purchased his farm near Hubbard, NE  in 1877.  His second wife, Mary, and their two children came to the United States probably later in 1875 or in 1876.

Grandpa’s family genealogical chart is on page 78.  It is the Thomas Butler Long family chart as distinguished from his fathers which is the Thomas D. Long, Sr. family chart on page 29 and also on pages 37 and 44.

Thomas Long, Srxe "Long:Thomas Sr. (1836-1883)"

xe "Long:Mary Purcell". and his wife, Mary purchased a farm
 from his sister, Bridget, and her husband, Johnxe "Rooney:John (1832-1904)"

xe "Rooney:Bridget Long (1835-1910)" Rooney, in January, 1877.  When he died in 1883, the farm was sold by Thomas Long’s estate to John Hartnettxe "Hartnett:John (1823-1893)", my mother’s grandfather, who in turn deeded it to his son, John Hartnettxe "Hartnett:John (1860-1956)", my mother’s uncle Jack.  Thomas Long, Sr. lived approximately 8 years after they came to America.  He was only 47 years old when he died on April 13, 1883. Years of hardship in Ireland undoubtedly took their toll.  He was buried in St. Johns Cemetery in Jackson, Nebraska.  His wife, Mary, died in 1888.  She is buried in Floyd Cemetery in Sioux City, IA.  Her children were living with her late husband’s relatives in 1886. City directories of Sioux City show that Mary Long, widow of Thomas, was living, apparently alone, in Sioux City between 1984 and 1988. Floyd cemetery records show that she died in 1888 and was buried in a potter’s field. 

The Thomas D. Long, Sr. family genealogical chart is on page 44.

Bridget Butler Long’s Children.

 THE ANNA LONG HEFFERNAN FAMILY

As related in Chapter I, Anna was the second wife of John Heffernan. His first wife was Anna’s aunt, Ellen. 

The John Heffernan family genealogical chart is shown on page 14.

THE WALTER LONG FAMILY

The oldest son of Thomas D. Long Sr. and his first wife, Bridget Butler was Walter.  Walterxe "Long:Walter (1863-?)"

xe "Long:Molly McCormack" married Molly McCormack and they lived in Peoria, Illinois.  They had no children. 

THE THOMAS B. LONG FAMILY

The Thomas Butler Long Family story will be told in Chapter III.

THE AL AND MARY ANN LONG RICE FAMILY

It is known that Mary Ann was married to Al Rice.  Nothing further is known.

After Thomas D. Long Sr. died his family was scattered.  The smaller children of the family were raised by relatives.  Walter, by that time was a young adult.  Annaxe "Heffernan:Anna Long (1857-1906)"

xe "Heffernan:Ellen Long (1829-1876)" had married John Heffernan after his first wife, Anna’s Aunt Ellen, died.  My grandfather, Thomas B. Long,xe "Long:Thomas B. (1865-1934)" her brother, was recorded as being a member of the Heffernan household in 1886 as was Anna’s  half-brother Patrick.
  Thomas was probably a boarder as he was 20 years old at that time and was working for the railroad.  Patrickxe "Long:Patrick (1874-1942)"

xe "Long:Richard (1879-1946)" was a child 10 or 11 years of age.  Richard, then a small child, was recorded as living in the Peter Haganxe "Hagan:Peter (1855-1936)" household.  He eventually lived with my grandparents, Thomas B. and Mary Long, and worked on their farm southwest of Hubbard.  Michaelxe "Long:Michael (1876-1944)"

xe "Long:John (1881-1918)" and John, both small children in 1886, were living with their father’s sister Catherine and her husband, James Lehey, who had no children of their own.  Mary Annxe "Rice:Mary Ann Long"

xe "Rice:Al" married Al Rice.  I have no further information about her.

 Their youngest daughter, Catherinexe "Schleich:Catherine Long", was raised by Martin and Jane Barrettxe "Barrett:Martin"

xe "Barrett:Jane Monahan" in Jackson.  When she grew up, she went to Peoria, Illinois where her older brothers, Walterxe "Long:Walter (1863-?)" and John,xe "Long:John (1881-1918)" had been living for several years.  Her step-cousin, James T. Fitzgeraldxe "Fitzgerald:James T."

xe "Fitzgerald:Mary McCarthy" and his wife Mary McCarthy Fitzgerald, also lived in Peoria.  Catherine Long married John C. Schleichxe "Schleich:John (1877-1951)", and they raised a family of four sons and two daughters.

Mary Purcell’s Long’s Children

THE PATRICK LONG FAMILY

The oldest son of Thomas D. Long  Sr. and his second wife, Mary Purcell was Patrick.   Patrickxe "Long:Patrick (1874-1942)"

xe "Long:Caroline Richleu", married Caroline Richleu.  They lived in South Sioux City where he was employed in various capacities such as a deputy sheriff.  Later in his life, he worked for my father operating a service station in South Sioux City.  Patrick and Caroline were  the parents of one daughter, Helen Vititoxe "Vitito:Helen Long"

xe "Long:Raymond", and 4 sons, Richardxe "Long:Richard (1903- )", Raymond, Georgexe "Long:George" and Bernard.xe "Long:Bernard (1905-1938)"  One of the sons, Bernard died as a young man.  

 The Patrick Long family genealogical charts begin on page 45. 

 THE MICHAEL LONG FAMILY

Michael Longxe "Long:Michael (1876-1944)", another of Grandpa’s half-brothers, was born in Ireland in 1876.  He came to America with his mother and his brother, Patrick.  He was about 7 years old when his father died and about 12 when his mother died in 1888, leaving him an orphan.  In 1886, the parish records for St. Mary’s Church in Hubbard showed Michael and his younger brother John as being members of the James Lahey household.  In 1899, he married Julia Mullalyxe "Long:Julia Mullaly" in her hometown of Ponca, Nebraska.  In 1905, Michael and Julia, together with their 3 children, Thomas,xe "Long:Thomas (Michael's son)"

xe "Long:Kathleen (1902-1923)"

xe "Long:Michael (1903-1922)" Kathleen and Michael, moved west to Oregon City, Oregon.  Julia’s father, Michael O’Mullaly, and her brother also moved to Oregon at the same time, but her brother soon returned to Nebraska.  After they arrived in Oregon City, Michael and Julia were the parents of 4 more children, Edward John, Richard Williamxe "Long:Richard W."

xe "Long:Edward J."

xe "Hendry:Julia Long"

xe "Dorr:Rose Long Denny", Julia and Rose.  It appears that the O’ was dropped from the Mullaly name somewhere along the line.xe "Dorr:Charles"
In Oregon, Michael started a small construction business with only a horse, a wagon and a few hand tools. He built concrete sidewalks and other concrete objects. 

Early in the century Oregon City had a system of wooden sidewalks, as did many other communities at that time. These sidewalks consisted of boards four or five feet long laid perpendicular to the direction of traffic. They were nailed to two or three wooden stringers about six inches square and which ran the length of the sidewalk. When Michael replaced these wooden sidewalks with concrete, he hauled the salvaged wood home to be used as firewood. 

At other times in his life, Michael worked as a blacksmith; he served as a volunteer fireman, was a policeman and worked as an inspector for the federal government. 

Their son, Michael contracted tuberculosis and was confined to a sanitarium where he died in 1922.  Michael and Julia did not have a car so they would hire someone to take them to the sanitarium to visit their son. Their 21-year-old daughter, Kathleen, died a year later, in 1923.  She had sleeping sickness, which was caused by a blood clot on her brain.

Their youngest son, Richardxe "Long:Richard W.", was the Mayor of Oregon City for several years following his first election to that post in 1953.  As a governmental leader in that area, he escorted President John F. Kennedy on a tour of the Oregon City area.  As he shared a hot dog and a coke with the president of the United States in a restaurant in Sandy, Oregon, perhaps neither man realized that, a century earlier, their two grandfathers might have shared a glass of poteen as neighbors when both lived near New Ross, Ireland.  

The Michael Long family genealogical charts begin on page 51.

THE RICHARD LONG FAMILY

Richard Longxe "Long:Richard (1879-1946)", my grandfather’s next half-brother, was born in 1879 and was the first in the family to be born in the United States.  After his parents died he was taken to live with the Peter Hagan family.  Peter Hagan was the young boy’s first cousin, being the son of Mary Long Hagan.  In 1886, Richard was listed in the records of St. Mary’s church in Hubbard as being a member of the Peter Hagan household.  Later, after February 1890, when Thomas B. Long and Mary Duggan were married, Richard moved to their household and worked on their farm while Tom continued to work for the railroad. 

Richard acquired a reputation as a somewhat boisterous youth.  Anna Killackey Farrell, my mother’s aunt, told that when she arrived in Hubbard from Boston on the 4th of July 1900, the first person she saw, as she stepped from the train, was Richard Longxe "Long:Richard (1879-1946)".  As she told the story, “He had a gun and they were both loaded”.

In 1910 the United States census shows that he was working as a hired man on the Andrew J. Crowe farm.  Andrew Crowe was listed as the head of that household.  The household consisted of Andrew, 40 years old, his sister Mary, 42 years old and Richard Long, hired man, 34 years old.  Actually, Richard was only 31 years old in 1910, having been born in 1879.  Sometime thereafter “Richie” Long and Mary Crowexe "Long:Mary Crowe" were married.  They lived in Waterbury, Nebraska for the rest of their lives.  They had one son, Josephxe "Long:Joseph (1911-?)", who married Catherine Maun and lived in the Pontiac, Michigan area.  

The Richard Long family genealogical chart is on page 59.

THE JOHN LONG FAMILY

John Longxe "Long:John (1881-1918)", another of my grandfather’s half-brothers was born in the United States in 1881, probably on his parent’s farm near Hubbard, NE.  After his parents died, his father’s sister, Catherine (Mrs. James) Lehey raised him.  He then moved to Peoria, IL where he married Nellie McDonoughxe "Long:Nellie McDonough".  They and their family lived in the Peoria, Illinois area for the rest of their lives.  John and Nellie were the parents of a family of eight, five daughters and three sons.  The oldest of the family was Maryxe "Long:Mary (1906-1994)", who was born in 1906 and died in 1994.  The next three were the boys, Walterxe "Long:Walter (1907-?)", John Jrxe "Long:John Jr. (1909-?)". and James.xe "Long:James"

xe "Long:Margaret (John's Daughter)"

xe "Long:Clarice (John's Daughter)"

xe "Long:Lucille"

xe "McAtee:Angela Long"  Next was Margaret who died as a child of about 16 or 17 years of age.  Next was Clarice who died while still an infant.  Then came Lucille, who served as a Notre Dame Sister.  The youngest member of the family was Angela.  Angela was born on February 12, 1919, four or five months after her father died.  Angela was married to J. Robert McAteexe "McAtee:J. Robert" and raised a family of three.  She died on October 21, 1993.

 John Long was only about 37 years old when he died in 1918.  When he died Nellie was left with five children and at the time was expecting Angela.  She raised her family by herself.  Nellie died on July 29, 1955 at the age of 72

 The John Long family genealogical chart is on page 60.

THE JOHN AND CATHERINE LONG SCHLEICH FAMILY

The youngest child born to Thomas Long Sr. and Mary Purcell Long was Catherine.  Catherinexe "Schleich:Catherine Long" was born on May 15, 1883, one month and two days after her father died.  Her mother moved to Sioux City and apparently became separated from her children around 1884.  She died in 1888 when Catherine was only a small child.  Catherine was raised by Martin and Jane (Monahan) Barrett , who had a farm near Jackson, NE.  After living with the Barretts for a few years, and while Catherine was still a child, so the story goes, a band of Indiansxe "Indians:Attacked the Barrett Farm" attacked the Barrett farm and burned the house to the ground.  The Barretts hid Catherine in a rain barrel to protect her.  In that incident, Catherine received a cut on her arm that left her with a large scar.  That scar was visible on her arm for the rest of her life.

The Long family were members of St. Patrick’s parish in Jackson until St. Mary’s in Hubbard was founded in 1886.  During this time Father P. A. Lysaghtxe "Lysaght:Father P. A." was the pastor of St. Patrick’s and had been Catherine’s pastor since her birth.  It was through him that Catherine went to live with the Barretts.

Father P. A. Lysaght became the pastor of St. Patrick’s in 1877 and served there until his death in 1903.  He was born in County Clare, Ireland in 1840 and came to the United States in 1867.  He was ordained in Louisville, Kentucky.

During his tenure as pastor, St. Catherine’s academyxe "St Catherine's Academy" was built.  Martin and Jane Barrett donated the land for the convent and school, with a reversion clause. The reversion clause provided that the title to the land would revert to the Barretts, or to their heirs, if and when it was no longer used for the school and convent.  In May 1893, Bishop Scannel, then Bishop of Omaha, wrote to Mother Emily of the Dominican Orderxe "Dominican Sisters" at Sinsinawa Mound, WI, telling her of the fine new convent which Father Lysaght had recently erected in Jackson.  He requested that Mother Emily send sisters of her community to Jackson to staff the new school.  On August 21, 1893, Sisters Mary Lucia Fitzhenry, Francesca McGlone, Walburga Lyons, Leonard Moran, Benetta Coughlin and Hilda Driscoll arrived in Jackson to take charge of the school.

When Jane Barrett died, on June 23, 1896, the sister teaching in St. Catherine’s Academy assumed an even more important role in Catherine’s life.  She had been studying at that school since it was founded, and now the sisters assumed a quasi-parental role as well.  This all occurred about, and shortly after, the time that the convent and school were founded.  Family tradition has it, that it was because of young Catherine, and the generosity of her foster parents, that the sisters decided to name the new school for another Catherine, that one a Dominican, St. Catherine of Siena. 

For several years, the Sinsinawa Dominican sisters not only taught Catholic girls at St. Catherine’s Academyxe "St Catherine's Academy", but also they taught both boys and girls, Catholic and Protestant, as the teachers in the Jackson public school.  They stopped teaching in the public school in 1918, when a State Law was passed prohibiting anyone from teaching in a public school while wearing a religious habit.

The influence of the Dominican sisters of Sinsinawa, WI on our family over the years has been quite profound.  My father’s sister, Bridget Longxe "Walsh:Bridget \"Jettie\" Long" Walsh studied with the Dominican sisters at St. Clara’s in Sinsinawa.  Several of the women in the Long family studied in St. Catherine’s Academy in Jackson.  My mother,xe "Long:Rose Hartnett (1900-1997)" and in fact, all the Hartnett girls, studied at St. Catherine’s.  I, too, studied at St. Catherine’s during my eighth grade school year in 1935-1936.  My eighth grade teacher was Sister Mary Bartholomew.  By that time it was no longer a girl’s boarding school. Both boys and girls were then admitted.

Significantly, Catherine Long Schleich’sxe "Schleich:Catherine Long" eldest daughter, Marie, Sister Mary Floricitaxe "Schleich:Marie (Sister M. Floricita)", served nearly sixty-two years as a teaching sister with the Dominican sisters of Sinsinawa.

Catherine Long graduated from St. Catherine’s high school.  Martin Barrett sold his land to Martin Beacom on June 11, 1902 and died soon thereafter.  On July 14, 1903 Catherine signed a Quit Claim deed to the same Martin Beacom in order to release any claim she might have as Martin Barrett’sxe "Barrett:Martin" heiress.  Very soon thereafter she moved to Peoria, IL.  Two of her brothers, Walter and John, were then living in Peoria.  Her father’s aunt and uncle, Thomas Fitzgeraldxe "Fitzgerald:Thomas"

xe "Fitzgerald:Mary Butler" and his wife, Mary Butler, had settled in the Peoria, IL area when they came from Ireland.  They lived there until her death in 1870 and his in 1877.  Their son, James T.xe "Fitzgerald:James T." Fitzgerald continued to live in Peoria, where he operated a brass foundry.  Catherine therefore had two brothers and a cousin already in Peoria.

On August 30, 1904, Catherine Longxe "Schleich:Catherine Long"

xe "Schleich:John (1877-1951)" married John Cornelius Schleich.  They were married in Peoria by Bishop P. J. O’Reillyxe "O'Reilly:Bishop P. J.".  Bishop O’Reilly was not the Bishop of Peoria but was, at the time, in Peoria for some other reason.

John and Catherine Schleichxe "Schleich:Catherine Long"

xe "Schleich:John (1877-1951)" lived in Peoria for the remainder of their lives.  They raised a family of two daughters and four sons. 

Their oldest daughter, Marie, (Sister Mary Floricita)xe "Schleich:Marie (Sister M. Floricita)" was born on September 15, 1905 and joined the Dominican order at Sinsinawa Mound, WI.  She professed her vows in 1930.  She taught in several assignments, teaching mostly at the grade school level.  She also taught business courses at the high school level for a time.  Sister Mary Floricita died at the Mother House in Sinsinawa on August 4, 1991 after serving the Lord for over 62 years. 

Their second, a son, Bernardxe "Schleich:Bernard"

xe "Schleich:Margaret Foley"

xe "Schleich:John (1935- )"

xe "Schleich:Sharon Ann Lasher"

xe "Schleich:Emmett"

xe "Schleich:David"

xe "Dodsell:Marie Schleich", was born on October 19, 1906 and lived his entire life in the Peoria area.  Bernard married Margaret Foley.  Their family consisted of three sons and a daughter.  The sons are: John, who married Sharon Ann Lasher, Emmett and David.  Their daughter is Marie Godsell.  Bernard died on May 12, 1989 and is buried in St. Mary’s cemetery in Peoria.  Margaret died on March 4, 1993 and is buried at her husband’s side.

Their third, a son, Emmettxe "Schleich:Father Emmett", was born on August 24, 1908.  He was ordained a Catholic priest for the diocese of Peoria on June 3, 1934.  Father Emmett served in several parishes in the diocese.  He died in Peoria on December 15, 1965.  He is also buried in St. Mary’s cemetery.

Their fourth, a son, Edwinxe "Schleich:Edwin"

xe "Schleich:Mary Conway", was born September 10, 1909.  He married Mary Conway.  They were the parents of three daughters, Patricia Rainwater xe "Schaub:Patricia Schleich", Cathleen Schaub xe "Rainwater:Cathleen Schleich"

xe "Kelly:Maureen Schleich"

xe "Schleich:Michael"

xe "Schleich:David" and Maureen Kelly and two sons Michael and James.  Edwin died November 11, 1985.  His wife’s sister died the following day.  Mary, his wife, still lives in Peoria.

John and Catherine Schleich’s fifth child was a daughter, Clarice.  She was born on January 15, 1912.  Clarice married Edward Kennedyxe "Kennedy:Clarice Schleich"

xe "Kennedy:Edward"

xe "Kennedy:Timothy" and they were the parents of a son, Timothy and a daughter, Therecita (Terry) Mauman.xe "Mauman:Tericita (Terry) Schleich" 

The youngest of the Schleich family was Richardxe "Schleich:Richard"

xe "Schleich:Lorraine Webber", who was born October 21, 1916.  He married Lorraine Webber and they made their home in Pekin IL.  Richard died on April 24, 1982

John Schleich was the proprietor of Slye Machinery Co. in Peoria.  He was a dealer of farm equipment and supplies.  In the early 1920’s, my father, John Benedictxe "Long:John Benedict (1900-1954)" “Ben” Long moved to Peoria where he worked for him.  During the 1930’s the business failed, as did many other farm related businesses, due to the farmer’s inability to purchase machinery.  Also, because of the depressed farm economy, many farmers were unable to pay overdue bills for equipment and supplies that they had previously purchased.

Sometime after 1940, when St. Catherine’s Academy in Jackson, Nebraska ceased to exist, the reversion clause in the title to the land on which the school and convent stood, came into play.  Catherine Schleich was the only surviving heir of Martin and Jane Barrett.  The land, therefore, would revert to her.  After consideration, she decided not to claim the land, as it would not be worth the back taxes and other expenses that would be needed to clear the title.

Catherine Long Schleich passed away on April 17, 1950, one month before her 67th birthday.  John Cornelius Schleich died the following January 10th. He was 73 years of age at the time of his death.  

The Schleich family genealogical charts begin on page 61.

Genealogy of the Thomas D. Long Sr. Family (Family Charts)

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Thomas Long Sr., Bridget Butler and Mary Purcellxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Thomas D. Sr. (1836-1883)"


Thomas Long Sr. 

1836 



4/13/1883



Bridget Butler 


c1835 



3/15/1872



Mary Purcell 


1840 



4/17/1888

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children

Bridget Butler’s children

Anna Long 


1857 



1906


John Heffernan


1827



5/9/1895
Walter Long 


3/2/1863



4/6/1932



Mary “Molly” McCormack
1861



2/5/1955



  (No Children)



Mary Ann Long



Al Rice



Thomas Butler Long 

12/8/1865 


3/6/1934



Mary Duggan 


3/17/1866 
2/17/1890 
5/21/1936

Mary Purcell’s children


 
Patrick Long 


3/16/1874 


4/1942



Caroline Richleu


1879

1/9/1900

1962

 Michael Henry Long 

1876 



3/9/1944


Julia Mullaly


1873

1899

3/31/1948

Richard Long 


1879 



1946



Mary Crowe


1868

c.1910

c.1938



John Long 


6/1881 



10/10/1918



Nellie McDonough

c1883



7/29/1955



Catherine Long 


5/15/1883 
8/30/1904 
4/17/1950



John  C. Schleich 

8/5/1877 


1/10/1951

 
This Chart Is Also Shown On Pages 29 and 37.

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Patrick Long and Caroline Richleuxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Patrick (1874-1942)"


Patrick Long 


3/16/1874 


4 /1942



Caroline Richleu 


1879 

1/9/1900 
1962

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children


Richard Long 


1902



Delores Goebel



Bernard Long 


1904 



1935(


Beulah Childs



Raymond Long 


1905



Golda Irwin



George Long 


1909



Mildred Shook



Helen Long 


1911 



11/2/1992



Ralph Vitito 






5/1990

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Richard Long and Delores Goebelxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Richard (1902-)"


Richard Long 


1902



Delores Goebel

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Mariette Long 


1933



Al Davis



   Stephen



   Anthony



   Cecelia



   Cynthia



Annette Long 


1934



Leo McKernan



   Patrick



   Michael



   Kellie



   Karrie



   Catherine



   Marie



   Molly



Rocky Long 


1935



? Lilas



   Theresa



   David



Dulcie

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Bernard Long and Beulah Childsxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Bernard (1904-1935)"


Bernard Long 


1904 



1935(


Beulah Childs

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Marjorie Long



Donald Albertson

Grandchildren



   Donald Albertson



   Jane Doer



       One child



       Buffy



   Candi Albertson



   Rocky Albertson



   Terrie Pojar



        Two children



        Beau



        Cody

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Raymond Long and Golda Irwin



Raymond Long 


1905xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Raymond"


Golda Irwin

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Patty Long



Earl Chapple

Grandchildren



Kris

 
   Jennifer



   Thomas



   Travis and Tray (Twins)



Brad



Kelly

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of George Long and Mildred Shook



George Long 


1909xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:George"


Mildred Shook

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Donald Long



Sussie ?



Muriel Long



Robert ?



Marian Long



Peggy Long

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Helen Long and Ralph Vitito



Ralph Vitito 






5 /1990



Helen Long 


1911 



11/2/1992

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:VITITO:Ralph"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Jack Vitito



Faye Reisch



Three children



   Dale



   Doug



   Don



      Two grandchildren



Betty Vitito



Gene Ohm



Four children



   Marie



   Kirk



   Kari



   Todd



      Three grandchildren



Gary Vitito



Sandi Erickson



One child



   Greg



       One grandchild



Caroline Vitito



David McCreary



Two children



   Troy



   Bradley



      One grandchild

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Michael Long and Julia Mullaly

.
 
Michael Henry Long 

1876 



3/9/1944



Julia Mullaly 


1873 

1899 

3/31/1948

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Michael (1876-1944)"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Thomas Long 


1900 ? 



Margaret Turney 






1968



Kathleen Long 


1902 



2 /1923



Single



Michael Long 


1903 



1922



Single



Edward John Long 

1/20/1906



Lorna Doone Long


7/26/1919 
11/1/1937 
8/29/1985



Richard William Long 

12/23/1907


12/2/1994



Helen Marie Donovan 

11/2/1907 
8/12/1933
10/10/1992



Julia Long 




1936



Eugene Hendry 






2/2/1948



Fred Phipps



Rose Long 



Robert Denny
 




1934



Charles Dorr 




1953

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Thomas Long and Margaret Turney



Thomas Long 


c1900



1968



Margaret Turney 

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Thomas (1900-?)"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Thomas Patrick Jr.



Adair (Bobby) Nerison

Grandchildren



Linda Long



Mack Mani



   Bobby



   Joe



   Michelle



Cindy Long



Kirby Taylor



   Amy



   Janson



Christi Long



Rodger Mani



Patrick Long



Single



Gerri Long



Larry Bobo

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Edward J. Long and Lorna Doone Long


Edward John Long 

1/20/1906



Lorna Doone Long

7/26/1919 
11/1/1937 
8/29/1985

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Edward J. (1906-?)"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Joyce Kathleen Long 

11/14/1941 
6/19/1965



Joseph Rudolph Pawlinac 

9/3/1940



   Joseph Edward 


5/5/1966



   James Michael 


7/25/1971



Michael John Long 

1/27/1947



Suzanne Marie Need 

7/10/1944 
9/15/1973



   Jennifer Marie 


6/22/1974



   Edward Michael 

11/12/1976



   Jack Patrick 


3/8/1980

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Richard W, Long and Helen Donovan



Richard William Long 

12/23/1907


12/2/1994



Helen Marie Donovan 

11/2/1907 
8/12/1933
10/10/1992

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Richard W."
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Helen Marie Long 

8/5/1934 
8/17/1957



Martin F. Hilgers 

5/23/1931



Patricia Ann Long 

4/16/1936 
8/24/1958
 9/1996



Charles Donald Misley 

5/31/1935



Richard William Long Jr. 

9/26/1937 
4/9/1961



Susan Josephine Murray 

4/17/1938

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Particia Long and Charles Misley



Patricia Ann Long 

4/16/1936 
8/24/1958
 9/1996



Charles Donald Misley 

5/31/1935

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:MISLEY:Charles"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Timothy Charles Misley 

3/22/1959



Single



Tamara Ann Misley 


10/18/1960



Richard John Krippaehne 

12/16/1957



Teresa Marie Misley 

1/22/1963



Single



Thomas Richard Misley 

5/17/1964



Single



Anthony Phillip Misley



Single

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Richard W. Long Jr. and Susan Murray



Richard William Long Jr. 

9/26/1937 



Susan Josephine Murray 

4/17/1938
4/9/1961

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Richard W. Jr."
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Julie Ann Long 


11/14/1963



Single



Patrick Richard Long 

6/14/1965



Single



Christi Catherine 


10/20/1969



Single

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Julia Long, Eugene Hendry and Fred Phipps



Julia Long 




1936



Eugene Hendry 






2/2/1948



Fred Phippsxe "FAMILY CHARTS:PHIPPS:Fred"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Hugh Hendry 






12/23/1989



Single



Theodore Hendry



Single



Julianne Hendry



Single

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Rose Long, Robert Denny and Charles Dorr



Rose Long 



Robert Denny
 




1934



Charles Dorr 




1953

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:DORR:Charles"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Donna Denny



James Howell 



   Jeffery



   Davis



   Caroline



Judy Denny



Tony Sangonito 



   Jeannie



Robert Denny 



Single



Kathy Dorr



Single

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Richard Long and Mary Crowe



Richard Long 


1879 



1946



Mary Crowe 


1868 

1910(

 1938(
 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Richard (1879-1946)"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Joseph Long 


1911 



 



Catherine Maun 

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of John Long and Nellie McDonough



John Long 


6 /1881   


10/10/1918 



Nellie McDonough 

c.1883



 7/29/1955

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:John (1881-1918)"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Mary Long 


5 /1906 



1994



Single



Walter T. Long 


1907



4/14/1971



Eleanor Morrow 


10/19/1911 


5/10/1993



John Long, Jr. 


1909



7/2/1950



Margaret Malone 



   2 children



James Long



Helen Bell



   3 children



Margaret Long 


11/14/1912


 1/30/1929



 Single 











Clarice Long 


 



Died as an











 infant.



Lucille Long 


 



11/25/1970



Notre Dame Sister



Angela Long 


2/12/1919 
5/15/1948 
10/21/1993

J. Robert McAtee 





 3 children

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of John Schleich and Catherine Long



John Cornelius Schleich 

8/5/1877 


1/10/1951



Catherine Mary Long 

5/15/1883 
8/30/1904 
4/17/1950

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:SCHLEICH:John C."
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Marie Schleich 


9/15/1905 
Professed 
8/4/1991



(Sister M. Floricita) 



Vows



Dominican Nun 




4/24/1930



Bernard Schleich 


10/19/1906 


5/12/1989



Margaret Foley 


2/16/1907 
6/9/1936 
3/4/1993



Emmett Schleich 


8/24/1908 
Ordained 
12/15/1965 









Priest 6/3/1934



Edwin Schleich 


9/10/1909 


11/11/1985 



Mary Conway 


7/23/1916



Clarice Schleich 


1/15/1912 
8/19/1934



Edward Kennedy



Richard David Schleich 

10/21/1916 


4/24/1982 



Lorraine Weber 


9/13/1919 
5/22/1943

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of  Bernard Schleich and Margaret Foley



Bernard Schleich 


10/19/1906 


5/12/1989



Margaret Foley 


2/16/1907 
6/9/1936

3/4/1993

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:SCHLEICH:Bernard (1906-1989)"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



John Schleich 


9/29/1937 



Sharon Ann Lasher 

12/23/1941
9/1/1979



Emmett Schleich 


4/20/1941



Single



David Schleich 


9/22/1945



Donna (?) 



Marie Schleich 


8/23/1953 
7/12/1974



Michael Godsell 


   1953

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Edwin Schleich and Mary Conway



Edwin Louis Schleich 

9/10/1909 


11/11/1985 



Mary Frances Conway 

7/23/1916

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:SCHLEICH:Edwin"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Michael Schleich 

9/13/1942



Single



Cathleen Schleich 

12/21/1944 
10/16/1965



Robert Schaub



Patricia Schleich 


9/22/1946 
6/10/1967



Robert Rainwater



Maureen Schleich 

11/17/1947 
7/3/1970



Timothy Kelley



James Dennis Schleich 

1/26/1950 
2/6/1978



Sherry 

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 
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Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Clarice Schleich and Edward Kennedy



Clarice Schleich 


1/15/1912
8/19/1934



Edward Kennedy


       

 xe "FAMILY CHARTS:KENNEDY:Edward"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Timothy Kennedy



Diane 



Therecita Kennedy



William Mauman



  Justin

FAMILY CHART
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Family of Richard Schleich and Lorraine Weber



Richard Schleich 


10/21/1916 


4/24/1982 



Lorraine Weber 


9/13/1919 
5/22/1943

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:SCHLEICH:Richard (1916-1982)"
 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Madeline A. Schleich 

1/10/1947 
6/21/1969



William W. Fly 


12/15/1945



   Alicia A. Fly 


5/4/1977



   Adrianne A. Fly 

10/16/1979



Catherine M. Schleich 

1/31/1950 
4/12/1980



Lance B. Harris 


11/13/1947



   Brian David Harris 

7/11/1987 


7/12/1987



   David Robert Harris 

2/24/1990

THE JOHN DUGGAN FAMILY





John Duggan

Catherine Hogan




(1826-1904)

   (1837-1911)



Patrick Duggan
      Mary Duggan
         John Duggan
Johanna  Duggan



 Ellen Rooney
  Thomas B. Long              Single

    James Tobin



Thomas Duggan
         Robert Duggan
William Duggan



 Margaret Cain

 Single

      Single



THE JOHN DUGGAN FAMILY

John and Catherine Duggan, my father’s maternal grandparents were both born in County Limerick, Ireland.  Their daughter, who was my grandmother, told me this story

Back in Ireland in 1862, John Dugganxe "Duggan:John (1832-1904)" had his belongings packed ready to load onto the cart that would take him to the place where he was to board a ship.  He was leaving Ireland for the United States, alone. That morning he was to have been married.  His intended bride, however, changed her mind at the last minute.  Her fear of leaving her parents, her home and Ireland for an unknown future in a strange land overwhelmed her, so she backed out.  John had borrowed money not only to pay for his own passage, but also for accommodations for two.

He said his final good-byes at a gathering of his family and friends.  In those days many people were migrating to America.  In 1862, the worst years of the Potato Famine were over, but times were still very hard in Ireland.  Families grieved to see loved ones leave, yet rejoiced that they would have a better life in the United States.  In Ireland, these gatherings to say goodbye were often called “America wakes” as the sadness was comparable to a funeral wake. 

 A younger sister of the intended bride was at the gathering.  She was Catherine “Kate” Hoganxe "Duggan:Catherine Hogan", who was about 25 years old and about 11 years younger than John.  When he was saying good-bye to her, Kate told John that she would be willing to marry him and go to America with him.  By that time, it was too late to have a wedding in their parish church.  They were married aboard ship by a priest who was also on his way to America.

Thus began the married life of John Duggan and Catherine Hogan, with her not even knowing whether or not her husband took sugar in his tea.

They lived in New York for a year or two, where he worked as a carpenter, and their first son, Patrick, was born.  In 1864, they traveled to Dakota County, Nebraska where they purchased an 80-acre farm from one of the original pioneers.  It was just east of where the Town of Hubbard would be located some 16 years later.

While living on that farm, they had four more sons and two daughters.  The eldest daughter was my grandmother, Mary Duggan Longxe "Long:Mary Duggan", who told me the story of her parents coming to America and to Dakota County, Nebraska.

 I heard a few stories about the Duggan family from my Grandma Long and from my mother.  One story recounted the fear of Indians, which may have been somewhat typical of pioneer women as they and their husbands settled what was then the “Frontier West”.

A band of Indiansxe "Indians:Intrude upon the Duggan Farm" was sighted approaching the farm.  Kate Duggan gathered her children into the house and watched through drawn curtains as the Indians approached.  They began to look into each building, one by one, as they neared the house.  Kate did her best to keep the small children from crying or making any noise as the Indians worked their way closer and closer.  They looked into the tool shed, into the granary, into the barn and into the chicken house.  After looking over the hogs and a calf, the Indians caught a few chickens and left.  The fear remained.  Upon reflecting on this little story I find it remarkable that there was no mention of a gun.  Nowadays, television stories have us conditioned to the fact that most of the pioneers’ problems were solved by gunfire.  I am sure that was not the way it was at all. I now wonder if they even owned a gun.

The Indians were not necessarily “thieving redskins”.  They were, however, operating from a much different point of view than were the pioneers.  For example, although private property ownership is practically a cornerstone of our society, the concept of private land ownership had never occurred to the American Indian.  They would no more consider buying and selling land than we would consider buying and selling parcels of the ocean.  Game and other produce of the land, in their culture, belonged to whoever needed it.  They considered that the chickens belonged to them as much as to the farmer who raised them.

Grandma Long also recounted a little about their neighbor, John Hartnettxe "Hartnett:John (1823-1893)", who had lost all of his fingers when they were frozen during the severe Nebraska winter of 1862-63
.  It seems that whenever she visited the Hartnett farm, she was asked to fill his pipe.  He was unable to do so because he had no fingers.  I’ll relate more about John Hartnett, my maternal great grandfather, later in this story.  

John Dugganxe "Duggan:John (1832-1904)" had a tendency to take a little drink now and then.  He was a cheerful and optimistic fellow, a reasonably good carpenter, a good farmer, a good father but not a very good manager.  He knew that things were going to be better tomorrow, so he borrowed against tomorrow’s bounty today.  He often found himself a bit too much in debt, which fact infuriated his son-in-law, my Grandpa Long.  That exasperation hit its peak one day when John told the family that all his bills were paid and he was out of debt.  Grandpa Long could hardly believe his ears.  “How did you accomplish that?” he asked.  “I signed a note and used the money to pay all my bills” John cheerfully announced.

One day John had a little bit too much to drink when their daughter and her husband, Tom Long, my grandparents, were visiting them.  Kate was angry with him for drinking too much and so she decided to go home with Tom and Mary until he sobered up.  When they were about a mile away they saw smoke billowing up over the hill.  They knew that one of the buildings was on fire, so they turned around and rushed back to the farm.  The house, by that time, had practically burned to the ground. John, by then, was fully awake, not totally sober but completely grief stricken.  He was not aware that Kate had left with Tom and Mary and was convinced that she had perished in the fire.

Kate was the quintessential good neighbor, according to stories that my mother related to me.  She was always on hand to help their neighbors during times of sickness and was present at many births and deaths.  Kate probably had little or no formal training in health care.  She was, however, quite talented and capable, but most of all, she was willing.  She was always there when needed to do what she could.  Tender and loving care was then and still is the best medicine.

After John Duggan died in 1904, their son Jack acquired a house in the Town of Hubbard where Kate lived for the rest of her life.  The house was only a block and a half from St. Mary’s Church and about two blocks from the stores.  Some time after she moved to town, Kate had a stroke and was more or less an invalid in her later years.  Her granddaughter, my Aunt Katie, lived with her off and on until she died in 1911 at the age of 74.

Their son, Patrick Dugganxe "Duggan:Patrick", was killed in 1914 when he was hit by train at a railroad crossing.  He was approximately 49 years old when he died.  He was born in New York; therefore he must have been born before 1864.  He and his wife, Ellen Rooneyxe "Duggan:Ellen Rooney", had no children.  Ellen then lived by herself in Hubbard until her death in 1935.  I remember her as being reclusive and always dressed in black.

Thomas Dugganxe "Duggan:Thomas", their second child was born on December 3, 1865 and died on October 5, 1906 at the age of 45.  He was married to Margaret Cainxe "Duggan:Margaret Cain" but they had no children.

Robert was their third son and fourth child.  As far as I know, he never married and died as a relatively young man.xe "Duggan:Robert"
Their son, Jackxe "Duggan:John \"Jack\" (1874-1922)", also lived in Hubbard where he ran a saloon.  He never married and died in 1922 of “consumption” at the age of 48.  At that time Pulmonary Tuberculosis was commonly called “consumption”.

William “Bill” Dugganxe "Duggan:William" also died of “consumption” in 1924.  He had previously been disabled by a stroke. He was musically talented, an excellent violinist, not merely a “fiddler” as one might expect in a country town such as Hubbard.  He, too, never married and was probably still in his 40’s when he died.

All of the Duggan brothers, I am told, were big, tall, strong and handsome men and they all died while quite young.  The two daughters both lived relatively long lives.  The youngest, Johanna “Jo”, married James Tobinxe "Tobin:James"

xe "Tobin:Johanna \"Jo\" Duggan".  They lived in Sioux City, Iowa.  Mary, the oldest daughter, as I have already said, married Thomas Butler Long.  They were my grandparents. 

My mother was also a source for stories about the Duggan family.  She and my Aunt Helen Long gave me the information for the John Duggan family genealogy chart on page 69.

THE TOBIN FAMILY

Johanna “Jo” Duggan married James Tobin, a man some sixteen years her senior.  They were married in approximately 1895 probably in St. Mary’s church in Hubbard.  They then lived on a farm near Martinsburg, Nebraska until they moved to South Sioux City, Nebraska sometime between 1900 and 1910. In 1917 they moved across the Missouri River to Sioux City Iowa, where they lived for the rest of their lives.  They were the parents of six: three sons, John J., James E. and Lawrence A. and three daughters, Marie, Catherine “Kate” B. and Anna J.  The 1920 census records show that all six of their offspring were born in Nebraska.  In 1920 the census revealed that the census takers counted them twice.  They were counted on Davis Street in Enumeration District 205.  They were also counted on West 28th Street in Enumeration District 202.  They were probably in the process of moving during the time that the census was being taken.  Most of the Tobin family continued to live in the Sioux City area for the rest of their lives.  James and Johanna together with four of their offspring are buried in Cavalry Cemetery in Sioux City.  Catherine married Stanley Frantz and moved to the Denver Colorado area.  Lawrence, the youngest moved to a suburb of Los Angeles, CA.  When Lawrence’s son James died in 1970 at the age of 34, his body was returned to Sioux City for burial.   

The James Tobin family genealogical chart is on page 71.

Genealogy of the John Duggan and Catherine Hogan Family (Family Charts)
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 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================


John Duggan 


c.1826



6/12/1904


Catherine Hogan 


c.1837 

c.1862

6/17/1911

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:DUGGAN:John (1832-1904)"

Patrick Duggan 


1864 



1914


Ellen Rooney 


1861 



1935 


Thomas Duggan 


12/3/1865
 


10/5/1906


Margaret Cain 


Mary Duggan 


3/17/1866
2/17/1890 
5/21/1936


Thomas Butler Long 

12/8/1865 


3/6/1934


Robert Duggan


Single 


John “Jack” Duggan 

1874 



1922


Single 


William “Bill” Duggan





1924


Single 


Johanna “Jo” Duggan

2/9/1873

1895

5/13/1951


James  “Jay” Tobin

8/23/1859


7/3/1944

FAMILY CHART
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Born 
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Family of Thomas Butler Long and Mary Duggan

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Thomas B. (1865-1934)"

Thomas Butler Long 

12/8/1865 


3/6/1934


Mary Duggan 


3/17/1866 
2/17/1890 
5/21/1936

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children


Thomas Edward Long 

1/13/1891 


9/14/1964


Gertrude Hall 


6/24/1889 
9/11/1912
10/31/1983 


Mary Helen Long 

7/29/1892 


11/30/1984


Single 


Francis James Long 

5/21/1894 


5/7/1963


Single 


Catherine V. Long 

3/10/1896 
6/12/1941 
7/23/1959


Jack Miley 






8/5/1946 


Bridget J. Long 


11/27/1898 


5/25/1978


Frank Walsh 


4/14/1894 


5/15/1955 


John Benedict Long 

5/18/1900 


10/23/1954


Rose Angela Hartnett 

12/31/1900 
9/11/1921 
11/12/1997

FAMILY CHART
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Family of James Tobin and Johanna Duggan XE "FAMILY CHARTS:TOBIN:James" 

James Tobin


8/23/1859


7/3/1944


Johanna Duggan


2/9/1873

1895

5/13/1951

----------------------------------------------------------------

Children


Marie Tobin


1896



11/22/1966


William H. Whitehouse





11/13/1947


John J. Tobin


1897



1979


Mildred  ?


1906



1954


Mary ?



1911



1987


Catherine “Kate” B. Tobin 
1899



    


Stanley Frantz



James  E. Tobin


6/25/1900


1/11/1982


Leah Sumner Ralya

1898

6/29/1935
2/13/1974


Anne J. Tobin


10/1/1902


11/4/1989


Single


Lawrence A. Tobin

1910


Spouse Unknown   

                  James Harry Tobin (son)
1936



1970
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         Thomas B. Long and Mary Duggan Long in 1926
They were both 60 years of age

CHAPTER III (Circa 1865 ()

THE THOMAS BUTLER LONG FAMILY





THE THOMAS B. LONG FAMILY

Thomas Butler Long, my grandfather, was born in County Kilkenny, Ireland, just across the river from the Town of New Ross, on the feast of the Immaculate Conception, December 8, 1865.xe "Long:Thomas B. (1865-1934)"
Only a few years after arriving in the United States, young Thomas Butler Long began working.  When he was only 14 years old he started working for the Sioux City and Nebraska Railroad Company, which later became the Chicago, Minneapolis, St. Paul and Omaha Railroad.  He started as a water boy.  He worked for the railroad until he was 41.  At the time of his “retirement,” in 1907, he held the position of Road Master, being in charge of all operations within his district.

On Monday, February 17, 1890, Thomas married Mary Dugganxe "Long:Mary Duggan" in The Immaculate Conception Catholic Church in Emerson, Nebraska.
 In addition to working for the railroad, Thomas was also a farmer.  On June 21, 1892, Thomas and Mary purchased 320 acres of land for $4000.
  It appears from the record that the land in question was the subject of intra-family litigation among people named Shimmers.  The court had ordered that the land be sold, probably to settle an estate.  Anna Cecilia Shimmers was the trustee who signed the deed.  That first farm that they owned is located approximately 3 miles southeast of the Town of Hubbard, NE.  It was paid for partly with income earned on the farm itself, but mostly with railroad income.

On March 1, 1920, Thomas and Mary Long sold that farm for $36,000.  It was a somewhat curious series of transactions.  The record shows that that farm was sold four times that same day.  The farm was first sold that day by Thomas and Mary Long to Leonard Langmack.  Langmack sold it to Charles Baker, Baker sold it to John McDonald and McDonald sold it to George Hayes.  All of these transactions took place on the same day with George Hayes being the final purchaser and Thomas and Mary Long still holding a mortgage.

In 1907, when Thomas retired from the railroad he also purchased another farm.
   The second farm was adjacent to the Town of Hubbard.  It was part of the south half of the original Andrew Lehey farm plus 80 acres of land that James Lehey originally owned.  Approximately 30 acres of the original Andrew Lehey farm had previously been sold to the railroad company.  The railroad company in turn platted it, together with approximately 40 acres, which they purchased from James Lehey, into the Town of Hubbard.

Thomas B. and Mary Long built a new house and farm buildings on this second farm.  The original house was converted into a hog barn even though it was a relatively substantial 2-story building.  The new house was built by a carpenter named Thomas McGeexe "McGee:Thomas".  He was my mother’s uncle by marriage.  It was a large 2-story building.  The house had one screened porch off of the kitchen and another that wrapped around the north and east sides of the living room.  I recall sitting on those porch steps listening to my grandfather’s stories.

By the time that Tom and Mary Long moved to their new farm adjacent to the Town of Hubbard in 1907, all of their children had been born and the youngest, a girl, had died as a baby.  They lived on that farm for the remainder of their lives.  Tom ran a successful farming operation, raising beef cattle as the principle activity.  For a few years, his stock consisted mostly of registered Herefords.  His daughter, Catherine “Katie”xe "Miley:Catherine \"Katie\" Long", helped him maintain the necessary records to keep the pedigrees current.  Being a pragmatic businessman, Tom was not too impressed by the prestige of owning registered herds but rather considered that the highest honor a farmer could receive was to “Top the Market”, that is to receive the highest price for his cattle when they went to market.  Several times Tom “Topped the Market” with his cattle even with some of his non-registered cattle.  In time he discontinued the practice of maintaining records for registering his cattle because there was no financial advantage in so doing.  He always, however, maintained a quality herd thereafter.  Thomas B. Long was also involved in other business ventures in addition to the farm.  In 1888, when he was 22 years old, Tom had purchased several building lots
 in the Town of Hubbard.  These lots comprised the entire east side of the main business block.  This was the first land that he had ever owned.  Several of these lots were soon sold, but he built store buildings and still owned some of that property until late in his life.  His son Eddie,xe "Long:Thomas Edward \"Eddie\" (1891-1964)" and later his daughter, Bridget “Jettie”xe "Walsh:Bridget \"Jettie\" Long"

xe "Walsh:Frank", and her husband, Frank Walsh, operated a grocery store in one of his buildings.  Even later, my father operated a silent movie theater.  Tom Long also owned and operated a grain elevator in Hubbard.  In addition, he owned, and my father, J. Benedict Long,xe "Long:John Benedict (1900-1954)" operated “Long Oil Company”.  That company included an oil distribution plant in Hubbard, plus two gasoline service stations, one in Homer, Nebraska and the other in South Sioux City, Nebraska.  Thomas B. Longxe "Long:Thomas B. (1865-1934)" also became involved in politics.  He was a Railroad Commissioner for the State of Nebraska.  He also served as a Dakota County Commissioner, a member of the three-person governing board of the county.  He served in that office from January 11, 1910 until January 3, 1917.  His term was not without controversy, however.  It was learned, as he was running for another term, that he had never completed his naturalization process and therefore was not a citizen of the United States.  He therefore withdrew.  He was under the impression that he became a citizen automatically when his father was naturalized.  His father, it was then learned, had filed his “first papers”, a declaration of intent to become a citizen, in 1896, but he apparently did not complete the process.  In January 1918, Thomas B. Long filed his “first papers”.  He completed the naturalization process and became a United States citizen in 1921.  Later, in 1932, he ran for that office again but, to his great disappointment, was not successful.

I never heard my grandfather express resentment, nor hatred, toward anyone.  Although even though I was quite young, I knew that he had enemies.  He had a reputation of being a combative and hard driving man.  He expressed himself very forcibly and was very determined to achieve whatever goal he had in mind.  Many people, including some of his own family, were afraid of him.  It seems as though he was always shouting at his daughter Helen or his son Frank.  I was never afraid of him, nor did he ever give me any reason to be.  He was always very gentle with me and spoke softly to me.  He even shouted at Grandma quite often.  I could never understand that.  She was to me a very saintly person.  She was as peaceable as he was bellicose.  She was, however, quite deaf so maybe a part of his loudness was just so that she could hear.  They each sat in rocking chairs in the dining room.  Her chair was in the corner near the door leading to the kitchen facing the heat register while his was next to the dining room table.  Both chairs faced in the same direction with hers being 6 to 8 feet ahead of and to the right his.  He used to sit there and smoke his pipe.  He smoked a vile-smelling concoction known as “Corn Cake”.  Grandma also surreptitiously smoked a pipe when no one was around.  I still credit them with the fact that I never became addicted to tobacco.  It was not only the smell of “Corn Cake” that turned me away from it, but also that Grandma hated to be so addicted, yet she could not escape it.  As a result, I made a conscious resolve not to allow myself to become a slave to tobacco.  I have always been thankful for making that decision early in my life.

My most vivid recollection of my grandmother was her sitting in front of that heat register with a shawl wrapped around her shoulders.  That, of course, is not my only memory of her.  I remember helping her in the garden, hoeing weeds and harvesting string beans and other vegetables.  I also recall picking bugs from the underside of the leaves on potato plants.  As a young boy, Grandma’s house meant good food, freshly baked bread and home churned butter.

I remember her calling me a “foin bye” instead of a “fine boy”.  She used to say “ye” rather than “you”. Grandma had more of an Irish brogue than did  Grandpa even though he was born in Ireland and she in Hubbard, Nebraska.  Grandpa, on the other hand, had an excellent command of the English language.

He didn’t spend too much time in his rocking chair.  He was out and around except when he came in for a smoke.  To me, Grandma was the epitome of saintliness and holiness and he of knowledge and wisdom.  I was aware that, at the age of 10, I already had more formal education than he, as he only went to school 3 or 4 years.  His knowledge and wisdom always impressed me but I most vividly remember his whimsy.  For example, I remember his lesson on everlasting reward and punishment.  “Laddie, stop working on Sunday” he told me one Sunday while I was nailing down a floor in a new hay loft that he was building.  “Every nail that you drive on Sunday, you’ll have to pull out with your nose in purgatory”.  Yet I noticed that he often had me running errands on Sunday.

I also remember one dark night while he and I were walking across a field, Grandpa walked into a fence.  When he fell I laughed.  As soon as he got back on his feet he also laughed and said “Laddie, when you are my age and run into a fence, I’ll look down and laugh at you”.  Today, I am several years older that he was then.  Whenever I bump into something or stumble in the dark I can hear my grandfather laughing.

It seemed that I was always running errands for him.  He had me cutting thistles, chasing cows, counting hogs and fetching things that he needed.  One night, I had to hold a lantern while a sow was farrowing.  One of the litter was a runt.  It was too small to survive the competition from the others.  Also, the old sow herself might have killed it.  We took it into the house where Grandma kept it behind the stove and cared for it until it was strong enough to survive.

When I was 6 or 7 years old, I walked between a cow and her calf and she attacked me.  She knocked me down and would have harmed me further had Grandpa not intervened with his “walking stick”.  He always carried a cane. He didn’t need it to walk with, only to swing.  It was a battered old cane, wrapped in wire to repair a crack or split which resulted from his hitting something with it.  He had better canes, which were given to him as presents, but he always preferred his old “walking stick”.

It was an everyday sight to see him walking on a path that crossed the field from his farm to our house, a distance of about a quarter of a mile.  Right beside that path was a power line that carried electricity to the farm.  Under the path was the water line that brought town water to the farm.  In those days, it was rare for a farm to be served with electricity and with public water.  I often walked that path across the field as I spent much of my time on my grandparent’s farm.  Rarely a day passed that I didn’t go down to the farm for one reason or another.

Thomas and Mary Long raised their family on the farm adjacent to Hubbard.  Their 3 sons were Thomas Edward “Eddie”xe "Long:Thomas Edward \"Eddie\" (1891-1964)", Francis James “Frank”xe "Long:Francis James \"Frank\"" and my father, John Benedict “Ben”.xe "Long:John Benedict (1900-1954)"  Their three daughters were Mary Helen “Helen”xe "Long:Helen (1892-1984)", Catherine Veronica “Katie”xe "Miley:Catherine \"Katie\" Long" and Bridget Josephine “Jettie”xe "Walsh:Bridget \"Jettie\" Long".  

The Thomas B. Long family genealogical chart is on page 78.

THE THOMAS EDWARD LONG FAMILY

Thomas Edward Longxe "Long:Thomas Edward \"Eddie\" (1891-1964)"

xe "Long:Gertrude Hall", who was always known as Eddie, was born in 1891.  When he married Gertrude Hall on September 11, 1912, they moved to Colorado Springs, Colorado, where Eddie was manager of a grain elevator.  Later they moved to Akron, Ohio and then to Kansas City where he was in the wholesale grain business.  In 1921 they moved to Hastings, Nebraska where he operated a grocery store.  In 1931 They moved back to Hubbard and farmed an 80 acre parcel that his father owned.  Eddie and Gertrude had two children, Thomasxe "Long:Thomas (1915- )" and a girl who died in early childhood.  When young Tom graduated from high school in 1935, they moved to Lincoln, Nebraska where Eddie took a job so that young Tom could live at home while attending the University of Nebraska.  

Young Tom graduated in 1939 with a degree in Engineering.  On November 22 of the same year he married Helen Vestecka.xe "Long:Helen Vestecka"  They lived for a year or two in Fargo, North Dakota while Tom worked for the University of North Dakota.  He then became a staff engineer and eventually a manager for Portland Cement Association, where he worked his entire career.  He worked in Chicago for many years during which time they lived in Hinsdale, Illinois.  He was then transferred to New York City.  His family then moved to Stamford, CT where his children grew up and were educated.  Their son, Thomasxe "Long:Father Thomas", was ordained a Catholic priest, in the Order of St. Viator, while they lived in Stamford.  Thomas and Helen moved to Sun City, Arizona when they retired.  Helen died in 1988.  

Eddie and Gertrude moved back to Hubbard in 1942.  They operated a small farm adjacent to Hubbard that was once a part of his father’s farm.  After Eddie died in 1964, Gertrude lived with her son Tom until her death in 1983 at the age of 94.  They are buried in St. Mary’s Cemetery in Hubbard. 

The Thomas Edward Long family genealogical chart is on page 79.

MARY HELEN LONGxe "Long:Helen (1892-1984)" 

She was called Helen, was born on July 29, 1892.  She never married and lived with her parents until their deaths.  Helen lived either in Sioux City, Iowa or in Dakota County, Nebraska for the rest of her life except for a short time when she lived with my mother in Chicago.  In her old age, she was confined to nursing homes, first in South Sioux City, and then in Emerson, Nebraska, where she died on November 30, 1984, at the age of 92.  She is buried in the family plot in St. Mary’s Cemetery in Hubbard.

FRANCIS JAMES “FRANK” LONG

Hexe "Long:Francis James \"Frank\"" was born in 1894.  He too never married and also lived with his parents until their deaths.  Frank spent the rest of his life in Dakota County.  He died in Dakota City in 1963.  He too is buried in the family plot in Hubbard. Helen and Frank lived on the family farm for a few years after the deaths of their parents.

CATHERINE VERONICA “KATIE”xe "Miley:Catherine \"Katie\" Long" LONG MILEY 

Katie was the fourth child of Thomas B. and Mary Long.  She not only was the first Long to graduate from high school, but also was probably the first person from Hubbard to earn a Baccalaureate Degree from the University of Nebraska.  Katie taught Latin in South Sioux City High School for many years.  When she was about 45 years old, she married Jack Miley.  They lived in Stover, Missouri until Jack died in 1946.  They had no children.  Soon after Jack’s death, Katie moved back to Nebraska.  Katie, Helen and Frank lived in Hubbard for several years.  Katie suffered several strokes and was partially paralyzed on her right side.  She and Helen took an apartment in South Sioux City, where they lived until Katie died in 1959.  Katie and Jack Miley are both buried in Chariton, Iowa.

THE FRANK AND BRIDGET LONG WALSH FAMILY

Bridget Josephinexe "Walsh:Bridget \"Jettie\" Long" was the fifth child of Tom and Mary.  Her nickname was “Jettie”.  After she graduated from high school in Hubbard, which at that time was after completing the eleventh grade, she attended St. Clara’s academy in Sinsinawa Mound, Wisconsin.  There she completed the necessary studies to qualify her to teach in a country school.  She taught at a one-room school southwest of Hubbard near the farm where she was born.  It was the same school she attended when she was a small child before the family moved to the new farm adjacent to Hubbard.  In schools such as this, grades kindergarten through eight, were all taught in the same room and all by one teacher.  Midway through her second year of teaching, she and Francis M. “Frank” Walshxe "Walsh:Frank" were married.  Because her teaching contract did not allow her to be married, my father took over and taught in that school for the remainder of her contract.

After Frank and Jettie were married, they operated a grocery store in Hubbard.  After a few years Frank took a job as a butcher in a grocery store in Winnebago, Nebraska.  In the late 1930’s, Frank took a position as a United States government meat inspector in Milwaukee, Wisconsin.  By that time, all five of their children had been born.   Mary Francesxe "Walsh:Mary Frances", their second child died in early childhood, while they still lived in Hubbard.  While all of their family started school in Winnebago, their educations were completed while the family lived in Milwaukee.

Their oldest son, Vincent Thomas Walshxe "Walsh:Vincent", was born on December 21, 1919.  He graduated from St. Norberts College in De Pere, Wisconsin and had a successful career as a chemist.  He worked in Milwaukee as a chemist specializing in paint development for his entire career.  Vincent married Margaret Havlista.  They were the parents of one daughter, Patriciaxe "Reckery:Patricia Walsh"

xe "Walsh:Thomas", and one son Thomas.

Frank and Jettie’s second son, John Walshxe "Walsh:John"

xe "Walsh:Barbara", was born on July 4, 1923.  He was ordained a Catholic priest in the Order of the Holy Cross on June 8, 1949.  He attended St. Matthew’s Grade School and St. John’s Cathedral High School in Milwaukee and received his undergraduate degree from Notre Dame University where he taught after his ordination.  He also earned a PHD degree at Yale University.  John was eventually laicized and later was married.  He and his wife Barbara lived in Pueblo, Colorado until his death on November 11, 1998.

Frank and Jettie’s daughter, Dolores,xe "Wesley:Dolores Walsh"

xe "Wesley:Harold" was born on August 24, 1924.  She graduated from Marquette University in Milwaukee with a Bachelors Degree in Nursing.  She worked for a time as a nurse at St. Joseph’s Hospital in Milwaukee.  Dolores married Harold Wesley in 1947.  They had two daughters, Mary Ann and Sharon.  Dolores died on May 15, 1953 while giving birth to their third daughter.  The baby also died.

Frank and Jettie’s youngest, Marjoriexe "Schneider:Jack"

xe "Schneider:Marjorie Walsh", married Jack Schnieder in 1950.  Her brother, John, officiated at their wedding.  They lived in Fond Du Lac, Wisconsin, where three sons, John, James and Christopher and a daughter Mary were born.  They were divorced and Marjorie moved to Tucson, Arizona in an effort to alleviate her oldest son’s breathing problems.  After Frank Walsh’s death, Jettie went to Arizona to live with Marjorie.  Jettie died in Arizona on May 25, 1978.  She, Frank and their daughter Dolores are all buried in their family plot in Milwaukee.  

 The Frank Walsh family genealogical chart is on page 80.

THE JOHN BENEDICT LONG FAMILY

John Benedict “Ben”xe "Long:John Benedict (1900-1954)", my father, was the sixth child of Thomas B. and Mary Long.  His story will be told later in Chapter IV.

Genealogy of the Thomas B. and Mary Duggan Long Family (Family Charts)

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Thomas Butler Long and Mary Duggan

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Thomas B. (1865-1934)"

Thomas Butler Long 

12/8/1865 


3/6/1934


Mary Duggan 


3/17/1866 
2/17/1890 
5/21/1936

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children


Thomas Edward Long 

1/13/1891 


9/14/1964


Gertrude Hall 


6/24/1889 
9/11/1912
10/31/1983 


Mary Helen Long 

7/29/1892 


11/30/1984


Single 


Francis James Long 

5/21/1894 


5/7/1963


Single 


Catherine V. Long 

3/10/1896 
6/12/1941 
7/23/1959


Jack Miley 






8/5/1946 


Bridget J. Long 


11/27/1898 


5/25/1978


Frank Walsh 


4/14/1894 


5/15/1955 


John Benedict Long 

5/18/1900 


10/23/1954


Rose Angela Hartnett 

12/31/1900 
9/11/1921 
11/12/1997

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Thomas E. Long and Gertrude Hallxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Thomas Edward (1891-1964)"

Thomas Edward Long 

1/13/1891 


9/14/1964


Gertrude Mary Hall 

6/24/1889 
9/11/1912 
10/31/1983

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children


Thomas E. Long IV 

6/15/1915


Helen Frances Vestecka

8/14/1914 
11/22/1939 
1/24/1988

 -----------------------------------------------------------------------

Grandchildren


Thomas E. Long 


7/15/1941 
Ordained








Priest 5/17/1969 


Marie Long 


2/14/1945 
9/5/1970


Joseph Eugene Gray 

9/15/19--


   Nathan Gray 


12/21/19-- 


John Robert Long 

11/17/1946


Rita Rubin 


7/29/19-- 
8/22/1987 


James Francis Long 

2/17/1951


Carol Frances Swita 

3/6/1951 
8/22/1987


   Jennifer Long


   David Long 


Laura Jean Long 


8/5/1953 
4/29/1989


Joseph Sarcone 


5/6/19-- 


Kathleen A. Long 

2/19/1956


Single 

FAMILY CHART

================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 


Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Frank Walsh and Bridget Longxe "FAMILY CHARTS:WALSH:Frank"

Frank Walsh 

4/14/1894 



5/15/1955


Bridget J. Long 

11/27/1898 



5/25/1978

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children


Vincent T. Walsh 
12/21/1919



2008


Margaret Havlista
7/22/1918 

6/6/1942

2008 


John Walsh 

7/4/1923




11/11/1998


Barbara ? 


Dolores Walsh 

8/24/1924 

1947

5/15/1953


Harold Wesley 


Marjorie (now Margaret) Walsh


1950

01/ /2009


Jack Schneider

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Grandchildren

Children of Vincent and Margaret Walsh


Patricia Walsh 

5/22/1943


Fred Reckery 


Thomas Walsh 

1/19/1945


Caroline Schinz 

1945 




1991


   Kathy and Debbie 


Children of Delores Walsh and Harold Wesley

Mary Ann Wesley 
1949


   ?     Carson


Sharon Wesley 

1951


James Huppert


Harold Wesley and his second wife, Barbara, were the parents of three more daughters, Monica Wesley Houtler, Barbara Wesley Wasielewski and Jean Wesley. They also had one son, Robert Wesley.


Children of Margaret and Jack Schneider

John Schneider

1848


Gail Annoinette Putney 



3/ /1972


James Schneider


Spouse Unknown 


Mary Schneider




12/22/1973


William Eaton Hatch
1945


Christopher Schneider


Mary Sullivan

CHAPTER IV (1900 – Present)

THE JOHN BENEDICT LONG FAMILY
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xe "Long:John Benedict (1900-1954)"

xe "Long:Rose Hartnett (1900-1997)"

xe "Long:Kenneth E."

xe "Long:Margaret M. \"Margie\" Wilcheck (1923-1982)"

xe "Long:Mary Grzan Berglund"

xe "Long:Thomas E. (1926-)"

xe "Long:Dorothy Bergman"

xe "Long:Bernard (1931-1952)"

xe "Long:Gerald D."

xe "Long:J. Michael (1945-)"

xe "Dyrssen:George"

xe "Dyrssen:Margaret M. Long"

xe "Luenser:Kurt"

xe "Luenser:Monica E. Long"

xe "Hoch:Arthur"

xe "Hoch:Eleanor Long"

xe "Long:Debbie Wilson"
           THE J. BENEDICT AND ROSE A. LONG FAMILY

(In 1948)

Standing (From left)  Thomas E.,  Margaret M.,  Kenneth E.,  Monica J., J. Bernard and Gerald D.

Seated (From Left)  Eleanor P., J. Benedict,  J. Michael and Rose A.

.

THE J. BENEDICT AND ROSE A. LONG FAMILY 

My father, John Benedict “Ben” Long was the youngest son of Thomas B. and Mary Long.  He was born on a farm about 3 miles southwest of Hubbard, Nebraska on May 18, 1900.  My mother, Rose Angela Hartnett was the daughter of Thomas J. and Madge Hartnett.  She was born on a farm about 3 miles west of Jackson, Nebraska on December 31, 1900.  They were both descendants of Irish immigrants who had migrated to the Hubbard area in Dakota County in 1857.  My father and mother were raised about 6 miles from one another.  Their churches, St. Patrick’s Church in Jackson and St. Mary’s Church in Hubbard were only about 5 miles apart.  Even though my mother and father did not live in the same town, go to the same school or worship in the same parish, they had been acquainted with one another since childhood.  Their courtship started while she was working for the John Green implement company in Hubbard. 

Dad attended Hubbard High School, which, at that time, only went through the 11th grade.  In order to qualify for admission to college, he completed the 12th grade and graduated from Trinity High School in Sioux City, Iowa.  After graduation he studied for 2 years at St. Thomas College in St. Paul, Minnesota, where he played fullback on their football team.  While studying at St. Thomas, he was also enrolled in the Army Reserve Officer’s Training Program at Fort Snelling in Minneapolis.  World War I ended in November 1918 while he was still too young to be called to active duty.  Even so, because he was in a military training program, he was considered to be a World War I veteran.  Although he did not meet the requirements for a veteran’s bonus, he was eligible to join the American Legion.  He was also entitled to veteran’s benefits, including hospitalization and veteran’s preference in obtaining employment with the federal government.  

My mother graduated from St. Catherine’s Academy in Jackson, which, at that time, was an all girls’ school.  Upon graduation, she was eligible for a teaching certificate, which entitled her to teach in a one-room country school where one teacher taught all grades, from kindergarten through grade eight.  She taught for a year at a country school north of Sioux City, Iowa.  She then worked for a year in the office of a farm implement company in Hubbard before she was married.   

They were married in St. Patrick’s Church in Jackson on September 11, 1921.  In those days, when a young man married, he was expected to leave college, get a job and support his family and so my Dad’s formal education ended when they were married.  

Their first home was in Carroll, Iowa where my father took a job in the post office.  That job only lasted until January 1922 when the Christmas rush was over.  They then moved to Sioux City, Iowa into a house that was owned by his father.  At that time, his father, Thomas B. Long, owned two houses on that block in Sioux City, across the street from one another.  My father and mother lived in one house and my father’s sister and her husband; Jettie and Frank Walsh lived in the other.  A short time after they moved to Sioux City, my Dad was offered a job in Omaha, Nebraska and he and my mother traveled there to investigate.  While they were in Omaha, they received word that their house in Sioux City had burned to the ground.  They lost all of their belongings including all of their wedding gifts, their household furnishings and all of their clothing except for the items that they had with them.  Dad then took the job in Omaha and they found a place to live across the river in Council Bluffs, Iowa.  They didn’t return to Sioux City.

While they were living in Council Bluffs, I was born on July 19, 1922 and was baptized on July 30 in St. Thomas Catholic Church in Council Bluffs.  

That fall my father played fullback on a semi-professional football team in the Omaha-Council Bluffs area.  The numbers on their jerseys was quite small and difficult to see in those days, however, my mother said that she could always recognize him because he had the thinnest legs of anyone on the field.

In 1923, they moved to Peoria, Illinois, where my father worked for his uncle, John Schleich, who owned a farm implement dealership.  Their second child, Margaret Mary, was born in Peoria on July 30, 1924.  Father James Fitzgerald, who was my father’s second cousin, baptized her.  You will recall that Father Fitzgerald was the grandson of Mary Butler Fitzgerald and the only child of James T. and Mary McCarthy Fitzgerald’s six children to survive to adulthood.

In the fall of 1925, my father and mother returned to Hubbard, Nebraska where they lived until 1941. While they lived in Hubbard, they became the parents of 5 more children.  Thomas was born March 23, 1926 in the Thomas B. Long farm house.  Monica Eugenia “Mona Jean” was born August 20, 1928, in her parent’s home in Hubbard.  Joseph Bernard was born May 7, 1931, Gerald Daniel September 10, 1933 and Eleanor Patricia August 25, 1939, all three in St. Vincent’s hospital in Sioux City. xe "Long:Thomas E. (1926-)"

xe "Long:Bernard (1931-1952)"

xe "Long:Gerald D."

xe "Luenser:Monica E. Long"

xe "Hoch:Eleanor Long"
When my parents moved back to Hubbard, my father and grandfather, Thomas B. Long, organized the Long Oil Company.  That company operated a bulk gasoline and fuel oil plant in Hubbard together with 2 retail gasoline stations, one in Homer, Nebraska and one in South Sioux City, Nebraska.  Although my grandfather was the owner, my father operated the business.  The company owned a bulk plant consisting of four bulk oil storage tanks, a tank truck with which my father would deliver gasoline and fuel oil to the farms in the area as well as to the two gas stations that the company owned.  Grandpa’s brother, Patrick Long, operated the station in South Sioux City and Joe Maloney operated the station in Homer.  The business operated with reasonable success until the entire economy collapsed in the early 1930’s.  According to Grandpa’s will, the oil business was to be inherited jointly by my father and his sister Catherine “Katie”.  Prior to Grandpa’s death, however, he sold the bulk plant part of the business.  At approximately the same time the highway through Homer was relocated, leaving the Homer station isolated on a little used local road.  That station, therefore, was forced to close.  My father and his sister Katie, in actuality, jointly inherited only the South Sioux City gas station.  The great depression, as it was called, reduced farm prices and caused many farm failures.  As a direct result of the farmer’s inability to pay their bills, Long Oil Co. was overburdened with doubtful accounts receivable, a great majority of which were never collected.  Even then the business struggled along, minus the bulk plant and the Homer station, until 1935 when Dad became ill.

On Memorial Day in 1935, even though my father didn’t feel well, a sense of obligation compelled him, as commander of Harty-McNalley American Legion post, to lead the Memorial Day ceremony at St. John’s Cemetery, north of Jackson.  It was a cold windy day and a misty rain fell throughout the services.  Dad came home feeling sick, went to bed and didn’t recover until December.  He was hospitalized several times that summer with massive infections in various parts of his body.  In the fall, he entered the Veterans Hospital in Omaha where the doctors removed one of his eyes.  When he recovered enough to return to his business, he found very little left.  Even with lingering poor health, however, he attempted to resuscitate the service station in South Sioux City, but to no avail.  Long Oil Company ceased to exist.  

In 1940, Dad took a United States civil service examination in an attempt to obtain a government job.  In conjunction with that examination, he submitted a copy of his army discharge certificate in order to get veteran’s preference.  He took the examination using his correct name, John Benedict Long, but the name on his Army discharge was Benedict J. Long.  He then had to prove that Benedict J. Long was the same person as John Benedict Long.  To accomplish that, he obtained a copy of his baptismal certificate.  To his dismay, the name on that certificate was John Dominic Long.  His godmother, Alice Heffernan, resolved the matter by certifying that his name was indeed, John Benedict Long.  xe "Long:John Benedict (1900-1954)"

xe "Heffernan:Alice"
My father took a civil service job with the United States Treasury in Washington, D.C. in the spring of 1941.  Later that year, my mother sold almost all of their possessions and traveled with five of their children to Washington.  Dad, at that time, was in one of the lowest paying civil service classifications and until he earned several promotions, the Long family existed barely above the survival level.  While they lived in Washington, D.C. two of their family graduated from high school. Margaret graduated from St. Anthony’s High school in 1942 and Thomas graduated from McKinley Technical High School in 1944.  

In 1944, the government transferred Dad to Chicago.  The next year, on April 14, 1945, their youngest son, John Michael, was born.  They now were the parents of 5 sons and 3 daughters.xe "Long:J. Michael (1945-)"
After living in rented quarters for about four years, my father and mother purchased a two-flat building at 5355 North Wayne Avenue in Chicago.  When they bought it, the first floor had been totally dismantled and required complete rebuilding.  Their sons, Thomas, Bernard and Gerald, did the carpentry, plumbing, wiring, plastering, painting and all other work necessary to get the first floor apartment ready for occupancy.  Once it was ready, it was rented and the rent helped offset the amortization of the mortgage on the property. 

After they moved to Chicago, Monica, “Mona Jean” graduated from high school in 1947, Bernard in 1949 and Gerald in 1951.  All three graduated from Amundsen High School.

In 1954, Dad became ill with what was diagnosed as lung cancer.  At first the family was told that he had several months to live.  As it turned out he lived less than three months after the disease was diagnosed.  He had been a heavy cigarette smoker for most of his life.  Not only were cigarettes the probable cause of the lung cancer that killed him, but they also were adversely instrumental in his struggle with poor health throughout his adult life.  In his early adult years, he was badly burned over a substantial portion of his body when he lit a cigarette after he had accidentally spilled some gasoline on his clothing.  His recovery from those burns left residual problems, including a general malaise and an inability to properly regulate his body temperature.  Even on the coldest day of winter, he felt too warm. When he was 26 years old, all of his teeth were extracted as a result of a mistaken diagnosis that blamed his ill health on his teeth.  Later, doctors found it necessary to remove his goiter.  That operation left a “Frankenstein” type scar that extended across his throat from ear to ear.  It was successful in that it relieved the problems that had beset him.  After they moved to Chicago, my father was diagnosed as having diabetes mellitus, which may have contributed to the fact that cancer caused his demise so quickly.

John Benedict Long died at his home on October 23, 1954 at the age of 54.

After Dad’s death, my mother continued to live in the same house and completed the job of raising their family.  Eleanor attended St. Ita’s grade school and Immaculata High School, graduating in 1957.  Michael also attended St. Ita’s Grade School and Loyola Academy in Wilmette, Illinois, graduating in 1963.  

While Eleanor and Michael were small, my mother worked as a shop clerk.  Later, she took a job with the Internal Revenue Department, where she worked until she retired in 1969.  She continued to live in the family home in Chicago for many more years.  In her dotage she was moved to a nursing home, first in Chicago and finally in Libertyville, IL.  Rose Angela Hartnett Long died on November 12, 1997.  She lived 96 years, 10 months and 12 days.  She, my father, my brothers Bernard and Gerald are all buried in All Saints Cemetery in Des Plaines IL. 

A brief biographical sketch of each of their children follows. 

The John Benedict Long family genealogical chart is on page 91.

Kenneth E. Long

I, Kenneth, am the oldest child in my parent’s family. I was nicknamed “Laddie” because my parents tired of answering, “Where did you get the name “Kenneth”?  I never knew why my parents named me “Kenneth”. An excellent reason did exist, however, but I doubt if my parents were fully aware of it.  The patron Saint of the Long’s ancestral home in County Kilkenny Ireland was St. Canice (Kenneth).  

I was born on July 19, 1922 in Council Bluffs, Iowa and was baptized in St. Thomas Catholic Church in that City.  I attended grade school in School District #7 in Hubbard, Nebraska through the seventh grade and completed eighth grade in St. Catherine’s School in Jackson.  In high school, I attended both Hubbard High School and South Sioux City High School, graduating from South Sioux City High School in 1940.  I attended Nebraska State Teachers College, Catholic University of America and the University of Maryland, all on a part-time basis, before entering military service.

I joined the army while I was a student at the University of Maryland, on July 10, 1942.  A law had just been passed lowering the age when a young man could be drafted from 21 to 18 years of age.  I therefore decided to enlist rather than to wait to be drafted.  Later, when I was called to active duty I was mustered in at Fort Lee, Virginia.  When asked for my preference as to which branch of service I preferred, I asked for the Corps of Engineers.  Inasmuch as I apparently was the only recruit who didn’t ask for the Air Corps I was not only granted my preference but also granted a preference as to which Corps of Engineers training base I wanted, Fort Leonard Wood, MO or Fort Belvoir, VA.  I, of course, chose and was sent to Fort Belvoir, VA, which was only 17 miles from my parent’s home in Washington DC.  I served in the Army Corps of Engineers in Fort Belvoir, Virginia until the spring of 1945.  While in Fort Belvoir, I completed basic training and was then kept in that training center as an instructor.  Also while in Fort Belvoir I completed Officer Candidate School and received a commission as an Officer in the Army Corps of Engineers.  I was then assigned to the same training center where I had served as an enlisted soldier.  Having received a commission, I therefore had two army serial numbers.  As an enlisted man, my serial number was 13-101-635 and as an officer my serial number was 0-111-9331. 

When the war in Europe ended, I was assigned to duty in the Pacific theater and served my last year in the Army as a construction and maintenance officer in the Province of Batangas on the Island of Luzon in the Philippine Islands.  My rank was First Lieutenant.

I was separated from active duty in July 1946.  I remained in the Army reserves for five more years before I was discharged in 1951.  After being separated from active duty, I immediately took on the task of continuing my formal education.  After corresponding with several Universities I entered Marquette University, a Jesuit University in Milwaukee, WI in June, 1947 and attended school 12 months a year until I graduated.  Even though I had several college credits before I entered the Army, I decided to start from the very beginning at Marquette. Most of my previous credits were in Mathematics and Science.  I was convinced that starting from the beginning would be better than trying to remember in detail and then to build upon what I had learned several years earlier.

After graduating from Marquette University in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, in June 1950, with a degree in Civil Engineering, I worked for most of my career as a City Manager.  I worked both in Ironwood, Michigan and Lake Bluff, Illinois and retired in 1989.  I also worked for a few months for the Milwaukee County Highway Department and also for a Consulting Engineering firm in Elkhorn, WI for two years.

While in the Philippine Islands, I met an Army nurse, Lieutenant Margaret Mary “Margie” Wilcheck, who was serving in an Army field hospital that was also located in Batangas.  After we both returned to the United States we were married on May 3, 1947, before Father Jeremiah B. Moriarity in St. Ambrose Catholic Church in her hometown, Ironwood, Michigan. xe "Long:Margaret M. \"Margie\" Wilcheck (1923-1982)"
Margie and I raised a family of five daughters and four sons: Rosemary, Theresa Jean Rodgers, Richard John, Kathleen Marie Narrigan, Maureen Ann, Gregory Benedict, Steven Joseph, Jane Frances Sprenne and Daniel Edward.  
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The Kenneth and Margaret Long Family

 A family portrait, taken in the late 1970’s 

Maureen, Rosemary, Theresa, Richard, Steven, Kathleen

Margaret “Margie”, Jane, Gregory, Daniel, Kenneth 

The Kenneth E. Long family genealogical chart is on page 92.  xe "Long:Rosemary"

xe "Long:Theresa Jean"

xe "Long:Richard John (1951-)"

xe "Long:Maureen Ann"

xe "Long:Gregory Benedict"

xe "Long:Steven Joseph (1957-)"

xe "Long:Jane Frances"

xe "Long:Daniel Edward"

xe "Narrigan:Kathleen Marie Long"
Our first home in Milwaukee, WI was a small one-bedroom apartment with a bathroom that was shared by another apartment.  It was the only apartment we could find.  During and right after the war, the government controlled rents.  We paid only $8.50 per week rent.  With rents controlled at such low levels, investment in apartment buildings was not practical; therefore very few apartments were available.  We lived there from the time we were married until Rosemary was born.  

In order to work in Wisconsin, Margie applied for her Nursing registration by reciprocity from Illinois.  Her application was denied because her dietetics teacher in Illinois did not meet Wisconsin requirements.  She therefore went back to school in Milwaukee to study hospital dietetics. When she completed these studies she exceeded the requirements to be licensed as a Registered Nurse.  She then was  educated to the extent that she was eligible for a license as a registered dietitian.  Because of Rosemary’s impending birth, however, she did not write the examination for that registration.

While she was studying dietetics she was at the same time learning to cook.  She had already learned a lot about cooking from her mother, who was an outstanding cook in her own right.  In school, Margie studied the scientific aspects of dietary requirements together with meal preparation and presentation.  At home she made a concerted study of preparing and serving tasty, well balanced and attractively served meals.  She was meticulous and precise in food preparation and painstaking in her table setting and meal presentations.

I now recognize, in retrospect, I was not adequately appreciative of her efforts in that regard.  At the time we were married I was accustomed to and perfectly satisfied with army chow.  I was never a “fussy” eater, so much of her talent and effort was probably wasted on me.

When Rosemary was born we moved to a larger apartment where we lived until Margie’s mother died.  We then moved to Ironwood, MI to stay with her father temporarily.  We ended up staying in Ironwood 29 years.  We lived in two rental houses until we purchased our house at 656 E. McLeod Ave.  It was that house that our children remember as the home in which they were raised.  Daniel was the only child who was born while we lived there. However, the other children were young enough so that is the house that they all remember as home.

In 1979 we moved to Delavan, Wisconsin and in 1981 to Lake Bluff, Illinois.

ROSEMARY was born April 16, 1949 in Milwaukee and was educated in Ironwood, graduating from St. Ambrose Grade School and from Ironwood High School in 1967.  She is a Registered Nurse, having studied nursing at Northern Michigan University and at the College of Lake County.  She also earned a BS degree in Health Management from National Louis University in Evanston, ILxe "Long:Rosemary"
THERESA JEAN was born in Milwaukee on June 5, 1950.  After graduating from St. Ambrose Grade School and Ironwood High School and Gogebic Community College in Ironwood, she attended and graduated from Northland College in Ashland, Wisconsin.  Theresa is a Certified Public Accountant and is employed as an accountant in Chicago.  She and her husband, Christopher Rodgers, live in LaGrangexe "Long:Theresa Jean" Park IL  Chris is a traffic manager for a steel processing company.  

RICHARD JOHN was born in Ironwood, Michigan on December 11, 1951.  He too graduated from St. Ambrose Grade School, as did all nine children in our family. He then attended St. Lawrence Seminary for two years after which he returned to Ironwood and graduated from St. Ambrose High School.  After serving in the Army in Viet Nam in 1970 and 1971, Richard married Beatrice “Gail” Blaylock.  They are the parents of three daughters: Samantha, Kimberly and Michelle. Samantha’s son Alexander was born in 1999.  On July 31 2004, Kimberly married Randy Jungers who she met while both were attending Briar Cliff College in Sioux City IA. Prior to that wedding, Gail was diagnosed with cancer.  She passed away on October 20, 2005.  Richard is a hospital maintenance supervisor.  He lives in Freeport IL.xe "Long:Richard John (1951-)"

xe "Long:Gail Blaylock"

xe "Long:Samantha Kay"

xe "Long:Kimberly Ann"

xe "Long:Michelle Diane"
KATHLEEN MARIE was born March 5, 1953 in Ironwood. She graduated from St. Ambrose Grade School and High School.  She married William Stewart Narrigan on September 26, 1981 in St. Andrew’s Catholic Church in Delavan, Wisconsin before her cousin, Father Thomas Long.  They live in Bryn Mawr, Pennsylvania, a suburb of Philadelphia.  They are the parents of a daughter, Elizabeth Amy and two sons, Timothy Andrew and Paul Matthew. Bill is the owner of a swimming pool business.xe "Narrigan:Kathleen Marie Long"

xe "Narrigan:William"

xe "Narrigan:Elizabeth Amy"

xe "Narrigan:Timothy Andrew"

xe "Narrigan:Paul Matthew"

xe "Long:Father Thomas"
MAUREEN ANNxe "Long:Maureen Ann" was born June 15, 1954 in Bessemer, Michigan and was educated in Ironwood, graduating from Ironwood High School.  After graduation she attended The University of Michigan and graduated in 1976.  She lives in Lindenhurst, Illinois and is employed as an actuary with an employee benefits consulting firm. 

GREGORY BENEDICTxe "Long:Gregory Benedict" was born in Bessemer, Michigan December 3, 1955.  He graduated from Ironwood High School in 1975.  He then graduated from the University of Wisconsin in 1982.  Gregory is an assistant manager of a Walgreen Drug Store in Springfield IL.

STEVEN JOSEPH was born in Wakefield, Michigan on August 6, 1957.  After graduating from Ironwood High School in 1975, he attended and graduated from Michigan Technological University in 1979 with a degree in Civil Engineering.  On August 20, 1994 Steven married Isabel Figueroa in St. Hillary’s Catholic Church in Chicago. They are the parents of two daughters, Kathryn Rose and Margaret Mary and a son Steven Joseph Jr.  Steven also adopted Isabel’s two children Juan and Michelle. Steven now heads the airport design division of the State of Illinois Department of Transportation.  They live in Rochester, IL, a suburb of Springfield, IL. xe "Long:Steven Joseph (1957-)"

xe "Long:Steven Joseph (1994-)"

xe "Long:Isabel Figueroa"

xe "Long:Kathryn Rose"

xe "Long:Margaret Mary (1993-)"

xe "Long:Michelle (Collozo)"

xe "Long:Juan (Collozo)"
JANE FRANCES was born in Wakefield, Michigan on March 3, 1959.  After graduating from Ironwood High School in 1977, she attended The University of Michigan, graduating in 1981.  After graduation Jane continued her studies at The University College of Galway in Ireland.  After she returned to the United States she earned a Masters Degree in Education from National-Louis University in Evanston, Illinois.  After teaching science in Chicago public schools for several years, for two years Jane was a volunteer teacher with the Jesuit Missionaries in Tacna, Peru.  She then taught in the Chicago and the Blue Island, IL public school systems.  Jane and Erik Sprenne were married on November 13, 1999.  They live in Highland, Indiana and have twin sons, Rudis and Martis who were born on October 10, 2001.  Erik is a research chemist. xe "Long:Jane Frances"
DANIEL EDWARD was born in Bessemer, Michigan on January 21, 1965.  Daniel graduated from Ironwood Catholic Grade School in Ironwood, after which he attended Delavan, Wisconsin High School and Lake Forest, Illinois High School, graduating from the latter in 1983.  He then attended and graduated from Northern Illinois University in 1987.  Daniel received his MBA degree from Loyola University in 2006 and now works as a financial analyst at a bank in Tampa FL

Early in 1981, while we were living in rural Delavan, Wisconsin, Margie became quite interested in a pigeon that came to roost every evening in an oak tree in our yard.  She objected to me calling it a pigeon.  It was, she claimed, a mourning dove, a bird that was named for its call, which is low, sweet and melancholy.  There was a rifle range in a gravel pit not too far from our house and she could hear occasional rifle shots.  She waited by the window every evening until her special mourning dove arrived at its roost in the oak tree, fearful each day that the bird might be shot.  Every day we teased her about her concern for the pigeon.  One day she told me that she had a feeling that the bird brought with it a mystical premonition that something was going to happen to her.  She soon became ill with pain in her chest and back.  Extensive tests by physicians showed that even though she had a previous heart attack, her heart was relatively strong.  Later, while performing surgery on her spine to remove a blockage, the surgeon discovered cancer.  

Further tests showed that it was multiple myloma, a type of cancer that is invariably fatal.  She was told in September 1981, that her illness was terminal.  Throughout the next year, she talked to me frequently about her impending death, reminding me each day that, not only her, but I too was a day closer to eternal life. 

Margie died in Lake Forest, Illinois on October 7, 1982.  There is no doubt in my mind that the Lord immediately received her with open arms and that she is now constantly interceding for all of us.

Margaret M. Long Dyrssen

After graduating from high school, Margaret Mary, my parent’s second child, was born in Peoria, IL on July 30, 1924.  She was still a baby when the family moved back to Hubbard, NE.  She attended school in Hubbard until the family moved to Washington, DC.  Margaret studied nursing at Providence Hospital, which was affiliated with the Catholic University of America in Washington, D.C.xe "Dyrssen:Margaret M. Long"

xe "Dyrssen:George"

xe "Dyrssen:Mary Lucille"

xe "Navilio:Christina"  After working in Denver, Colorado for a short time she returned to Chicago where she was a nursing supervisor at St. Vincent’s Orphanage.  Later, she took a position with the City of Chicago Health Department.  On September 30, 1955, Margaret married George Dyrssen and they are the parents of two daughters.  Their oldest daughter, Christina was born May 16, 1956.  Mary Lucille Dyrssen, their youngest daughter, was born June 17, 1960.  

Christina is married to James Navilio and they, in turn, are the parents of two sons, Charles and George and a daughter Monica Rose Angela.  xe "Navilio:Christina"

xe "Navilio:James"

xe "Navilio:George Leo"

xe "Navilio:Charles"

xe "Navilio:Monica Rose Angela"
Margaret’s husband, George Dyrssen, died on August 30, 1993.

Thomas E. Long

Thomas Emmett, my parent’s third child, was born on the Thomas B. Long farm near Hubbard, NE on March 23, 1926.  He attended grade school in Hubbard.  He moved to Washington, DC with our parents in 1941 where he graduated from high school.  Tom served in the army during World War II in a military intelligence unit.  After the war, he attended and graduated from the University of Illinois.  He married Dorothy Bergman and they are the parents of three sons.  Emmett Francis was born July 15, 1958, Martin Thomas on August 8, 1959 and Daniel Gerard on March 25, 1962.  xe "Long:Thomas E. (1926-)"

xe "Long:Dorothy Bergman"

xe "Long:Emmett Francis"

xe "Long:Martin Thomas"

xe "Long:Daniel Gerard"
Emmett and his wife, Madelyn are the parents of four: Brian, Jessica, Tyler and Rebecca. Brian married Joy Vosters on 11/5/2005.  Jessica married Brian Bayer.

 Martin and Jean Marie Suntrup are the parents of a daughter Cassandra “Cassie”. Cassie, in turn is the mother of Jayne Lee Grandaw, Tom and Dorothy’s great granddaughter.  

Daniel and his wife Joanne are the parents of a daughter, Emily Rose and a son, Benjamin.  xe "Long:Madelyn Daniels"

xe "Long:Brian"

xe "Long:Jessica"

xe "Long:Tyler"

xe "Long:Rebecca"

xe "Long:Cassandra"

xe "Long:Emily Rose"

xe "Long:Joanne Gibson"
Thomas was an Insurance Underwriter. He was a Vice President of a Casualty Insurance Company.  Upon retirement Thomas and Dorothy lived on a lake near Shawano, WI. Tom passed away on April 19, 2007 in a nursing home in Appleton WI.

Monica  E. Long Luenser

My next sister is Monica Eugenia, who was given the nickname Mona Jean when she was a baby.  She was always called Mona Jean by her brothers and sisters but was called Monica by her husband and her friends.  On May 13, 1950, she was married to Kurt Luenser and they are the parents of six.  The oldest, Susan, was born March 25, 1951, Donald was born October 12, 1952, Mary was born June 25, 1955, Brian was born July 16, 1956, Mark was born June 6, 1963 and Laura, the youngest, was born July 28, 1966.  Kurt, now retired, was an engineer for a machine tool manufacturing company.  He was employed first in the Chicago area, but his company transferred him to Dallas, Texas where he and his family lived for several years.  Kurt was then transferred back to the Chicago area but their children, now raised and with families and jobs of their own, all stayed in the south.  When Kurt retired he and Monica moved to Texas and resided on Lake Cypress near Scroggins TX. xe "Luenser:Monica E. Long"

xe "Luenser:Kurt"

xe "Luenser:Mark"

xe "Luenser:Donald"

xe "Luenser:Brian"
Kurt and Monica’s oldest child, Susan married Ed Taylor and they have a son, Adam and a daughter, Kathryn.  Susan’s marriage failed and she is now married to George Moore.  

Their second child, Donald and his wife, Sharon, have a son Markus.  

Their third child, Mary married Darrell Adams and they have a daughter, Sarah and twins Christopher and Elizabeth.  That marriage failed and Mary is now married to Thomas Moe.  

Their fourth child, Brian, is married to Debra Ann Fink.  They have no children.  

Their fifth child, Mark, is married to Mary Jeannine Penkilo.  They were married on June 8, 1996.  Mark and Jeannine are the parents of two boys, Kenneth and Steven.  

Kurt and Monica’s sixth child, Laura, married Steve McKeever on March 14, 1992.  They, in turn, are the parents of three sons, Sean Michael, Luke Stephen and Zachary Gorman and a daughter, Hannah Rose.   

Monica passed away on March 21,2003 and is buried in Mt. Vernon, TX.

Joseph Bernard Long

The next one in my parent’s family was Joseph Bernardxe "Long:Bernard (1931-1952)" who was known as Bernard.  After graduating from Amundsen High School, Bernard attended Notre Dame University for two years.  During the summer vacation, between his sophomore and junior years, he traveled to Yellowstone Park in Wyoming where he held a temporary summer job.  On the evening of July 23, 1952, he and three companions were involved in an automobile accident where the car plunged into the Yellowstone River near Gardiner, Montana.  All four occupants lost their lives.  Bernard is buried next to his parents in All Saints Cemetery in Des Plaines, Illinois. 

Gerald Daniel Long

Gerald Danielxe "Long:Gerald D." was number six in the family.  After high school he attended St. Norbert’s College in De Pere, Wisconsin and De Paul University in Chicago.  He then served in the army in France.  While in the army, he operated computers that were used for army administration.  After his discharge he continued in the computer field, working as a programmer and systems analyst.  He retired in January 1994 because of poor health.  Gerald “Jerry” never married and lived in Chicago.  In 1991 he became ill at work and was taken to Northwestern Hospital in Chicago.  There, they discovered a cancerous lesion in his lung, which they surgically removed.  In 1994 the cancer in his lungs returned.  Jerry never fully recovered.  In October 1998 he again was hospitalized.  For the last year and several months of his life he was connected to mechanical respirator, a machine that forced oxygen enriched air into his lungs.  He could not adequately breath on his own.  He could not speak and was forced to communicate by writing notes.  He was put on the ventilator in August 1999 and he passed away on October 20, 2000.  He is buried in All Saints Cemetery next to his brother and his parents.

Eleanor P. Hoch

My youngest sister, Eleanor Patricia was born when I was a senior in high school.  She was only 18 months old when the family left Nebraska.  Eleanor was educated in St. Ita’s Grade School and Immaculata High School in Chicago.  She married Arthur Hoch and they are the parents of two sons, Paul, who as born January 19, 1971 and Jonathan, who was born January 19, 1974. She later attended and graduated summa cum laude from the University of Connecticut.  She earned a Masters Degree from the same institution and was elected to the Phi Beta Kappa honor society.  Eleanor lives in New Canaan, Connecticut.  Her husband, Arthur died on September 13, 1998.  

Eleanor’s first Son, Paul, married Susan Anderson in Ocean Beach, ME on September 25, 1999.  They are the parents of three, two daughters and a son.  Paul adopted Susan’s daughter, Morgan.  Their son, Declan Gordon was born September 8, 2000 and their daughter Clair Patricia was born on June 25, 2002.  

Eleanor’s second son married Melissa Lynn Carlisle on August 9, 2002. On May 30, 2003 their first child, Jonathan Thomas “Jack” Hoch Jr. was born.

J. Michael  Long 

John xe "Hoch:Arthur"

xe "Hoch:Eleanor Long"

xe "Hoch:Paul"

xe "Hoch:Jonathan"Michael “Mike”, the youngest member of my parent’s family, was born while I was in the Army.  Although he is my brother, I have never lived in the same household with him because as soon as I was discharged from the army I started my own household.  He, too, was educated in St. Ita’s Grade School after which he attended and graduated from Loyola Academy in Wilmette, Illinois.  Michael married Debbie Wilson and they are the parents of two sons, Joshua, who was born September 6, 1977 and Jason, who was born October 10, 1985.  Michael and his family live in Christchurch, New Zeeland.xe "Long:J. Michael (1945-)"

xe "Long:Debbie Wilson"

xe "Long:Joshua"

xe "Long:Jason"
The Grzan - Smolcich Family

Mary Grzan Berglund Long

On April 13, 1985, I married Mary Grzan Berglundxe "Long:Mary Grzan Berglund" in Holy Family Catholic Church in Rockford, Illinois.  We chose to be married in Rockford because Mary’s sister Helen lived within a block of that parish church.  Mary wanted her sister, who was ill with cancer and unable to travel, to witness our wedding.  We both obtained permission from our respective pastors to be married in the Rockford Diocese.  Mary and I had known one another since 1951 when I began to work for the City of Ironwood.  She was my secretary for most of that time.  She was born in Ironwood and had been employed by the City for ten years before I started working there.  She graduated from Ironwood High School and Gogebic Community College and was a member of Holy Trinity Parish in Ironwood.  On June 27, 1953, she was married to Forrest Berglund.  She continued to work for the City and Forrest worked for a freight transfer company.  On January 6, 1972, Forrest died of cancer and is buried in Ironwood.  Mary and Forrest had no children.  xe "Berglund:Forrest"
Mary’s father, John Grzanxe "Grzan:John (1887-1965)", was born Pazariste, Lika, Yugoslavia on September 7, 1887.  His parents names were Adam Grzan and Mary Rukovina.  Adam and Mary lived their entire lives in Yugoslavia, which at that time was a part of Hungary.  John came to the United States about 1902 and had been employed as an iron ore miner for several years.  When he first arrived in America, he worked in a clothespin factory in Hancock, Michigan until he was old enough to work in the iron ore mines.  He became deeply involved in union organizing activities and, for a while, was blacklisted by the mining companies. As a result he was unable, for some time, to secure employment in any mine.  Eventually he was again employed as an iron ore miner. 

John died from cancer on January 30, 1965.  Mary and I were both going back and forth to the hospital that month as I was going to the hospital to visit Margie and our newborn son, Daniel, while Mary was visiting her father.  Daniel was born January 21,1965.

Mary’s mother, Anna Smolcich, was born in Klanac, Pazariste, Lika, Yugoslavia on May 1, 1900.  Anna’s parent’s names were Vinko (Vincent) and Mandy Smolcich.  Her mother’s maiden name was also Smolcich.  xe "Grzan:Anna Smolcich (1900-1994)"
Her father was married twice.  He had five daughters and one son before his first wife died.  His second marriage was to Anna’s mother.  Vinko and Mandy were then the parents of a family of seven more, five sons and two daughters.  Mary’s mother, Anna, was the youngest.  Her father and, soon thereafter, her mother died while Anna was very young.  As a child she lived with her older brother, Emil, and his wife.  Alternately she also lived with another brother, Jack, and his wife.  

In 1920, her brother Peter, who was working in an iron ore mine in Montreal, Wisconsin sent money to her for steamship passage to America.  She came to the United States aboard the steamship “Pannonia”, arriving in the United States in September 1920 and lived with her first cousin, Matilda Grivicich, who was living in Ironwood, MI.   Soon after she arrived in Ironwood she met John Grzan.  On November 22, 1920 they were married in Holy Trinity Church.  John then repaid her brother, Peter, for Anna’s passage. 

After John died Anna purchased a home only a few doors away from Mary and Forrest.  Then when Forrest died Anna sold her house and moved in with Mary.  She and Mary lived together until 1985 when Mary and I were married.  She then planned to live alternately with her daughter Helen and with Mary and me.  Helen died shortly thereafter so Anna lived with Mary and me until her death.  Anna died on July 17, 1994.

Mary is the oldest of the three children of John and Anna Grzan.  The second was her sister Helen Banfield, who was born August 13, 1923 in Ironwood and died in Rockford, Illinois on September 25, 1985. The youngest was her brother John Grzan, who was born in Ironwood on May 15, 1925 and now lives in Mullan, Idaho.  

Helen was married to Jerome Banfieldxe "Banfield:Helen Grzan"

xe "Banfield:Jerome"

xe "Banfield:John"

xe "Banfield:Joseph"

xe "Banfield:Elizabeth A. Keyser"

xe "Korst:Debbie Banfield"

xe "Korst:Michael"

xe "Korst:Christopher"

xe "Korst:Kelly" and they were the parents of John, who was born July 27, 1955 and Debbie Korst, who was born July 2, 1957.  John Banfield and his wife Elizabeth Ann “Beth” Keyser are the parents of a son, Joseph.  Debbie and her husband Michael Korst are the parents of a daughter, Kelly and a son, Christopher.  

Mary’s brother John was married to Mary Tucker.  They were the parents of three daughters, Beverly, Susan and Mary, and a son, Anthony.  Beverly Soggs was born October 26, 1954 and is the mother of two sons, Trevor and Aaron.  They live in King Hill, Idaho.  Susan was born October 16, 1960 and is married to Stanley Weeks.  They are the parents of a son, Steve.xe "Grzan:John (1925-)"

xe "Grzan:Tony"

xe "Weeks:Susan Grzan"

xe "Weeks:Steve"

xe "Weeks:Stan"

xe "Soggs:Beverly Grzan"

xe "Soggs:Trevor"

xe "Soggs:Aaron"

xe "Ivanoff:Mary Grzan"

xe "Ivanoff:Christopher"

xe "Ivanoff:Lucas"

xe "Ivanoff:Ayzlynn"  They live in Coeur d’Alene, Idaho where she is an attorney.  Mary was born June 5, 1962.  She is the mother of two sons, Christopher and Lucas, and a daughter, Ayzlynn. They live in Cody, Wyoming.  Anthony “Tony” was born December 8, 1958, is unmarried and lives in Seattle, WA.

The Grzan and  family genealogical charts are on pages 113 through 115.
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Genealogy of the J. Benedict Long and Rose A. Hartnett Family (Family Charts)


John Benedict Long       

5/18/1900              

10/23/1954


Rose Angela Hartnett     

12/31/1900  
9/11/1921 
11/12/1997

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:J. Benedict and Rose"

Kenneth E. Long           

7/19/1922               


Margaret M. Wilcheck    

7/4/1923    
5/3/1947    
10/7/1982


Mary K. Grzan Berglund  

6/27/1922   
4/13/1985


Margaret M. Long         

7/30/1924   
9/30/1955


George Dyrssen           

7/1/1929               

8/30/1993


Thomas E. Long           

3/23/1926


4/19/2007


Dorothy Bergman          

11/8/1929    
9/1/1956



Monica E. Long           

8/20/1928   
5/13/1950
3/21/2003


Kurt Luenser


2/20/1929

   
Joseph Bernard Long     

5/7/1931                

7/23/1952


Single


Gerald D. Long          

9/10/1933


10/20/2000


Single


Eleanor P. Long          

8/25/1939   
7/19/1969

  
Arthur Hoch             

10/12/1931


9/13/1998


John Michael Long        

4/14/1945

   
Debbie Wilson            

1955        
11/17/1973

FAMILY CHART
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Family of Kenneth E. Long and Margaret M. Wilcheck


Kenneth E. Long          

7/19/1922


Margaret M. Wilcheck     

7/4/1923    
5/3/1947   
10/7/1982


Mary K. Grzan Berglund  

6/27/1922   
4/13/1985

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Kenneth and Margaret"
Margaret Wilcheck’s children

Rosemary Long           

4/16/1949


Single


Theresa Jean Long          

6/5/1950

12/29/2000

Christopher Michael Rodgers
8/15/1951


Richard John Long          

12/11/1951


Beatrice “Gail” Blaylock

12/19/1955
6/21/1979
10/20/2005


Kathleen Marie Long        

3/5/1953    
9/26/1981

   
William Stewart Narrigan     
4/30/1952


Maureen Ann Long         

6/15/1954


Single


Gregory Benedict Long     

12/3/1955


Single


Steven Joseph Long           
8/6/1957


Isabel M. Figueroa       

12/21/1955
8/20/1994


Jane Frances Long            

3/3/1959

11/13/1999


Erik V. Sprenne


9/25/1953



Daniel Edward Long         

1/21/1965


Single

Mary Grzan Berglund Long had no children.
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Family of Richard Long and Gail Blaylock


Richard J. Long          

12/11/1951


Beatrice “Gail” Blaylock 

12/19/1955  
6/21/1979
10/20/2005

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Richard and Gail"
 
Samantha Kay Long        

1/26/1980

               Daniel Hopkins


   Alexander Cody Long

4/21/1999


Oscar Perez


1972

6/21/2007


Kimberly Ann Long        

1/31/1982
7/31/2004


Randy Daniel Jungers

12/7/1979

 
Michelle Diane Long             
4/12/1984

FAMILY CHART
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Family of William Narrigan and Kathleen Long


Kathleen M. Long         

3/5/1953    
9/26/1981

             
William S. Narrigan     

4/30/1952

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:NARRIGAN:William and Kathleen"

Elizabeth Amy Narrigan   

11/12/1983


Timothy Andrew Narrigan  
12/7/1985


Paul Matthew Narrigan    

12/17/1990

FAMILY CHART
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Family of  Steven J. Long and Isabel M. Figueroa


Steven J. Long           

8/6/1957


Isabel M. Figueroa       

12/21/1955  
8/20/1994

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Steven and Isabel"

Juan Joseph Long         

2/25/1980


(Formerly Collazo)


Michelle Nicole Long     

3/8/1982


(Formerly Collazo)

          
     Michael Anthony Long

11/8/1999


Demarco Boyd




4/2002


Kathryn Rose Long        

1/30/1990


Margaret Mary Long       

5/15/1993


Steven Joseph Long       

9/14/1994

FAMILY CHART
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Family of Erik V. Sprenne and Jane Frances Long XE "FAMILY CHARTS:SPRENNE:Erik and Jane" 
Jane Frances Long            

3/3/1959

11/13/1999


Erik V. Sprenne


9/25/1953

----------------------------------------------------------------

Children


Rudis Sprenne


10/10/2001

Martis Sprenne


10/10/2001

(Fraternal Twins)

FAMILY CHART
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Family of George Dyrssen and Margaret M. Long


Margaret M. Long         

7/30/1924   
9/30/1955


George Dyrssen           

7/1/1929               

8/30/1993

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:DYRSSEN:George and Margaret"

Christina Dyrssen        

5/16/1956
11/16/1985


James L. Navilio


9/24/1952


Mary Lucille Dyrssen     

6/17/1960


Single

FAMILY CHART
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Family of James L. Navilio and Christina Dyrssen


Christina Dyrssen          

5/16/1956
11/16/1985


James L. Navilio


9/24/1952

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:NAVILIO:James and Christina"

Charles James Navilio      

8/28/1989

 
George Leo Navilio         

11/9/1993


Monica Rose Angela Navilio 
12/26/1995

FAMILY CHART
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Family of Thomas E. Long and Dorothy Bergman


Thomas E. Long           

3/23/1926


4/19/2007

             
Dorothy Bergman          

11/8/1929    
9/1/1956

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Thomas E. and Dorothy"

Emmett Francis Long      

7/15/1958

             
Madalyn Ann Daniels      

4/16/1958   
10/25/80


Martin Thomas Long       

8/8/1959


Single


Daniel Gerard Long       

3/25/1962


Joanne Gibson                        
6/10/1964
5/23/1993

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Emmett Long and Madalyn Daniels


Emmett Francis Long      

7/15/1958

     
Madalyn Ann Daniels      

4/16/1958   
10/24/1980

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Emmett and Madelyn"

Brian Thomas Long        

4/9/1981

               Joy Vosters


9/26/1980
11/5/2005



Eathon


3/20/2008


Jessica Grace Long       

12/31/1982
10/25/2008


David Bayer


12/13/1982


Tyler Richard Long       

5/24/1984


Rebecca Ann Long         

3/08/1986

FAMILY CHART
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Family of Martin T. Long and Jean Suntrup


Martin Thomas Long       

8/8/1959


Jean Marie Suntrup       

5/7/1960

    No

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Martin T. and Jean Suntrup"
Cassandra Jane Long                        10/5/1985                                                                                                                    Dylan Lee Grandaw 



       Jayne Lee Grandaw

7/16/2005                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

FAMILY CHART
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Family of Daniel G. Long and Joanne Gibson


Daniel Gerard Long       

3/25/1962

  
Joanne Gibson            

6/10/1964   
5/23/1993

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Daniel G. and Joanne"

Emily Rose Long          

11/4/1995


Benjamin Long


2/26/1998

FAMILY CHART
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Family of Kurt Luenser and Monica Long


Monica E. Long           

8/20/1928   
5/13/1950
3/21/2003

   
Kurt Luenser             

2/20/1929

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LUENSER:Kurt and Monica"

Susan Luenser       

3/25/1951


Ed Taylor




Divorced


George Moore




7/4/2002


Donald Luenser           

10/12/1952


Sharon Troutman


10/8/1956
4/21/1979


Mary Luenser             

6/25/1955


Darrell Adams




Divorced

      
Thomas Moe




9/23/2001

       
Brian Luenser            

7/16/1956

       
Debra Ann Fink           

4/11/1956   
2/13/1982

       
Mark Joseph Luenser          
6/6/1963

       
Mary Jeannine Penkilo

11/23/1964
6/8/1996

       
Laura Luenser            

7/28/1966   
3/14/1992

       
Steve McKeever           

12/21/1965

FAMILY CHART
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Family of  Susan Luenser Moore


Susan Luenser            

3/25/1951


Ed Taylor




Divorced


George Moore




7/4/2002

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:MOORE:Ed Taylor and Susan Moore"

Adam Taylor              

7/28/1973


Natalie Strauss


8/26/1975
10/20/2001


       Aidan Taylor


2/24/2003


Kathryn Angela Taylor    

1/6/1976

FAMILY CHART
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Family of Donald Luenser and Sharon Troutman

Donald Luenser           

10/12/1952

Sharon Troutman


10/8/1956
4/21/1979

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LUENSER:Donald and Sharon"
Marcus Luenser           

4/29/1983

FAMILY CHART
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Family of Mary Luenser Moe


Mary Luenser             

6/25/1955


Darrell Adams




Divorced


Thomas Moe




9/23/2001

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:MOE:Darrell Adams and Mary Moe"

Sarah Adams              

8/11/1974

         
John Bailey


Christopher Adams        

11/17/1977

         
Erin Ripey


     Krista


Jeremy Sommerville

5/20/1977


Elizabeth Adams          

11/17/1977
4/17/1999


     Mikayla Jade Sommerville
7/22/1999

FAMILY CHART
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Family of Mark Joseph Luenser and Mary Jeannine Penkilo XE "FAMILY CHARTS:LUENSER:Mark and Jeannine" 

Mark Joseph Luenser             
6/6/1963

       
Mary Jeannine Penkilo

11/23/1964
6/8/1996

----------------------------------------------------------------

Children

Kenneth Joseph Luenser

7/14/1997


Steven Daniel Luenser

8/24/2001


Mathew Kurt Luenser

10/09/2003

FAMILY CHART
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Family of Steve McKeever and Laura Luenser


Laura Luenser            

7/28/1966   
3/14/1992

 
Steve McKeever           

12/21/1965

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:MCKEEVER:Steve and Laura"

Sean Michael McKeever    
2/17/1994


Hannah Rose McKeever

11/6/1995


Luke Stephen McKeever

5/10/1999


Zackary Gorman McKeever  
10/22/2000


FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Arthur Hoch and Eleanor Long


Eleanor P. Long          

8/25/1939   
7/19/1969


Arthur Hoch             

10/12/1931


9/13/1998

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:HOCH:Arthur and Eleanor"

Paul Hoch 


1/19/1971

         
Susan Andersen


4/18/1969
9/25/1999


Jonathan Hoch


1/19/1974 


Melissa Lynn Carlisle



8/9/2002

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of Paul Hoch and Susan Anderson

Paul Hoch 


1/19/1971

         
Susan Andersen


4/18/1969
9/25/1999

---------------------------------------------------------------- XE "FAMILY CHARTS:HOCH:Paul and Susan" 
Children

      Morgan Andersen Hoch
9/18/1993


      Declan Gordon Hoch

9/ 8/2000


      Claire Patricia Hoch

6/25/2002
FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of Jonathon T. Hoch and Melissa Lynn Carlisle

Jonathan Thomas Hoch 

1/19/1974

         
Melissa Lynn Carlisle



8/9/2002 XE "FAMILY CHARTS:HOCH:Jonathan and Melissa" 
----------------------------------------------------------------

Children


Jonathan Thomas Hoch Jr.

5/30/2003


Connor  Carlisle Hoch

5/20/2005

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of John Michael Long and Debbie Wilson


John Michael Long


4/14/1945


Debbie Wilson            

1955        
11/17/1973

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Michael and Debbie"

Joshua Long              

9/6/1977


Bianca Kirsty Finn

9/01/1982
9/27/2003


     Aleida Rose Long

1/16/2007





Jason Long               

10/10/1985

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 



Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Adam Grzan and Maria Rukovina


Adam Grzanxe "Grzan, Anton"

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:GRZAN:Anton and Maria Rucovena"


Maria Rukovinaxe "Grzan,Maria Rucovena" 

 ----------------------------------------------------------------

Children



Adam Grzanxe "Grzan,Adam" 


Wife’s name unknown


John Grzanxe "Grzan,John"



9/7/1887               

1/30/1965

Anna Smolcichxe "Grzan,Anna Smolcich"



5/1/1900

11/22/1920 
7/17/1994

Louis Grzanxe "Grzan,Louis"

Wife’s name unknown


Marko Grzanxe "Grzan,Marko"



12/30/1891


10/31/1988


Florencexe "Grzan,Florence" 

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born 

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of Vinco and Mandy Smolcich


Vinco Smolcich   





1907(

First wife’s name unknown




1890(

Mandy Smolcich 






1907(
----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:SMOLCICH:Vinco and Mandy"
Ivan Smolcich

Wife unknown

Milo Smolcich

Matilda 

George Smolcich

Mary Lucia

Jacque Smolcich

Helen 

       Nickolas Smolcich






1918

Single                   




He died in World War I

Joseph Balenovich

Helen Smolcich

Peter Smolcich

Mary Murat

Mary Smolich


10/16/1926

Glen Deckelbor


9/28/1917


8/4/1985

William Smolich


12/13/1922

Phyllis Deckelbor


11/4/1925

John Grzan



9/7/1887               

1/30/1965

Anna Smolcich


5/1/1900

11/22/1920 
7/17/1994

        There were five other children; Vinco was the father of 13 children. Anna was the youngest.


FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 


Born

Married 

Died

 ================================================================

Family of John Grzan and Anna Smolcich


John Grzan               

9/7/1887               

1/30/1965


Anna Smolcich            

5/1/1900    
11/22/1920 
7/17/1994

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:GRZAN:John and Anna"

Mary K. Grzan Berglund  

6/27/1922



Forrest L. Berglund       

12/22/1923  
6/27/1953  
1/6/1972


Kenneth E. Long          

7/19/1922
4/13/1985

 
Helen Grzan              

8/13/1923              

9/25/1985


Jerome Banfield


11/4/1926
8/25/1950
2/15/1988



    John Joseph Banfield    

7/27/1955


    Elizabeth Ann Keyser      
12/23/1956  
7/9/1983


        Joseph Leo Banfield    
6/13/1988


    Debbie Banfield       

7/2/1957    
3/2/1985


    Michael Korst         

9/28/1957


        Kelly Korst        

4/29/1988


        Christopher Korst  

12/18/1989


John Grzan               

5/15/1925


Mary Tucker






1997


   
    Beverly Grzan         

10/26/1954


    ?   Soggs


         Trevor


         Aaron


    Anthony Grzan         

12/8/1958

      
     Single

 
    Susan Grzan           

10/16/1960


    Stanley Weeks


         Steve Weeks


   Mary Grzan            

6/5/1962


   Christopher Ivanoff

       Christopher

       Lucas

       Ayzlynn

CHAPTER V (Circa 1800 ()

THE JOHN HARTNETT FAMILY


John Hartnett

Margaret Fitzpatrick




       (1823?-1893)

           (1825-1864)




Mary Hartnett

James Hartnett

Thomas J. Hartnett


Thomas McGee
  Ellen “Nellie” Moriarty

       Annie Ryan







       Margaret (Madge) Killackey




Daniel Hartnett

John Hartnett


William Hartnett



Margaret Casey

Margaret McShane

Margaret Hogan

xe "Hartnett:Margaret Fitzpatrick"

xe "McGee:Mary Hartnett"

xe "McGee:Thomas"

xe "Hartnett:Daniel (1855-1937)"

xe "Hartnett:Margaret Casey"

xe "Hartnett:Thomas J. (1862-1950)"

xe "Hartnett:Anne Ryan"

xe "Hartnett:Margaret Madge Killackey"

xe "Hartnett:William (1864-1950)"

xe "Hartnett:Margaret Hogan"

xe "Hartnett:John (1823-1893)"

xe "Hartnett:James (1857-?)"

xe "Hartnett:Ellen “Nellie” Moriarty"

xe "Hartnett:John (1860-1956)"

xe "Hartnett:Margaret McShane"
THE JOHN HARTNETT FAMILY

John Hartnett, the patriarch of the Hartnett family, was born in County Limerick, Ireland probably in 1823.  Accurately determining John Hartnett’s birth year has been quite difficult.  Warner’s History of Dakota County lists his birth year as 1823, but his tombstone says that he was 78 when he died in 1893, making his birth year 1815.  The 1860 census lists his age as 45, again making his birth year 1815.  I therefore tentatively accepted 1815 as his birth year.  His naturalization records show that in 1852 he stated his age as “25 or 26” making his birth year 1826 or 1827.  The passenger list of the “Bark Montgomery” states his age as 25 in February, 1849 indicating that he turned 25 sometime in 1848, again pointing to 1923 as his birth year.  I now wonder if 1823 was his true birth year.  For some reason, maybe a distrust of government census takers, he left an inconsistent record of his age.

The record shows that John Hartnett arrived in the United States through the port of New Orleans on February 6, 1849.

My mother had told me, as one of her cousins had told her, that John Hartnett had gone to France from Ireland and then had worked his way to America as part of the crew on a slave trading ship.  She ASSUMED, correctly as it turned out, that he came through the port of New Orleans.  The rest of their story is not true.  There were no slaves aboard the ship and John was a passenger, not part of the ship’s crew.  From the passenger list we can see that the Bark Montgomery arrived in New Orleans from Cork Ireland with 94 passengers, all of whom were Irishmen coming to America.

A Bark (or Barque) is a wind powered sailing vessel with 3 masts.  The front or foremast is rigged with 4 or 5 square sails, as is the center or main mast.  The rear or mizzenmast has a triangular “fore and aft” sail.  The term “Bark” only describes how the sails were rigged, it says nothing about the hull or the rest of the ship.  Other information contained in the passenger list shows that the ship had a registered tonnage of 247, and had 1386 superficial feet set apart for passengers.  From that I estimate that the ship was relatively small, probably 125 to 150 feet long with a 25 to 35 foot beam.  The 1386 square feet of space for 94 passengers divides up to just over 14 square feet per passenger, equivalent to a space 7 feet by 2 feet. They were therefore loaded onto that ship like hogs in a truck.  No thought for comfort of the passengers but only for how much revenue producing cargo could be crowded into the space available.

The crowded conditions on this small vessel, with its apparent total lack of amenities, lend some credence to the “Slave Ship” story.  The Bark Montgomery might have been used as a slave ship on some of its voyages across the Atlantic Ocean and alternately as a ship that transported Irish peasants on other voyages.  Both groups may have been treated similarly, merely as so much livestock or uncouth cargo.

Another indication that the ship was quite small is that it picked up passengers at several small ports in Ireland before sailing across the ocean. A large ship would probably have not been able to stop at these small ports but rather would have required all of the passengers to board at one larger port.

First; in Cork they would have boarded 25 people.  Next; in Dingle they would have boarded 1 person.  Third; in Ennis they would have boarded 1 person.  Fourth; in Dilworth they would have boarded 13.  Fifth: in Newmarket they would have boarded 34, including John Hartnett.  Sixth, back in Ennis again, they boarded 12.  Seventh, back to Carrigtohill, in Cork harbor, they would have boarded 5.  And last, back up near Ennis and Newmarket, at Askeaton Abby, they boarded 6.

It seems quite unlikely that they would have made two or three trips up and down the west coast of Ireland looking for passengers.  It seems more reasonable to speculate that they started near the mouth of the River Shannon near where Shannon airport is today.  In that area they probably would have called at Ennis,      Newmarket, Askeaton Abbey and maybe Kilworth (probably Kilrush) before sailing south to Cork and Carrigtohill, picking up a passenger named John Martin at Dingle while en route.  After one passenger left the ship they then probably left Cork for New Orleans.  In all likelihood they spent the month of January 1849 on the high seas.  William Ahern, a month old baby and Patt Meecham, a 20 year old died while at sea.

They boarded 97 people. Two died at sea and Richard Ford left the ship at Cork, so they arrived in New Orleans with 94.

John Hartnett then traveled on a river boat up the Mississippi River to Alton, Illinois, which is just upstream from St. Louis Missouri, near the confluence of the Missouri and Mississippi Rivers.  John’s life centered around the Alton area from 1849 until 1857.  

In 1849 Alton was an important steamboat terminal on the Mississippi river.  The years between 1840 and 1860 were the golden years of steam boating on the Mississippi river and Alton shared in that general prosperity.  At one time (1836) Alton was considered the head of navigation for New Orleans boats.  Many upper river boats turned back up the river from Alton, and Ohio river boats came in to Alton and turned back from there.

In 1850 Madison County, in which Alton is located, had a population of 22,441.  In addition to farming and river related commerce, railroads were being built and coal was being mined in Madison County. The first railroad built in Madison County, Illinois was the Chicago and Alton, then known as the Alton and Sangamon.  It was chartered in 1847 and completed to Springfield in 1852.  The second railroad was the Terre Haute and Alton, a westward continuation of the Terre Haute and Richmond (Indianna) Railroad, which was chartered in 1851 and completed to East St. Louis in 1856.  These railroads were built while John Hartnett was living in the Alton area. John Hartnett, age 25 was listed in the 1850 US census in Liberty Township in Hendricks County, Indianna. His occupation was llisted as “Rail Road laborer”.  Such economic activity would have created employment either directly or indirectly.  John probably had no trouble finding employment.  It appears that Alton and Madison County were quite prosperous while John Hartnett was living there
.

Also while in the Alton area, John together with Morris Hartnett, purchased a 40 acre parcel of land in Madison County. This purchase occurred on August 4, 1852.  Morris, and his wife Dorah, in turn sold their share of that land back to John on December 20, 1853. 

John was, in all likelihood, a member of St. Matthew’s parish while he lived in Alton.  Father Michael Carroll came to Alton in 1841.  He established St. Matthew’s parish and built a stone church in 1842 and was its pastor until the church was destroyed by fire in 1853.  The Church then purchased property at a different location and the Cathedral of SS. Peter and Paul was constructed.  The first Mass was celebrated there in 1856.

John Hartnett and Margaret Fitzpatrick obtained a marriage license on October 7, 1852, according to the records in the office of the county clerk in Edwardsville.  That license was never returned so it is assumed that they were married in St. Matthew’s parish by Father Carroll.  Their first child, Maryxe "McGee:Mary Hartnett", was born in 1854, after St. Matthew’s was destroyed by fire.  A record of her baptism was found at SS. Peter and Paul’s parish.  The earliest records in that parish date from 1857, however they did find an earlier record that Father Patrick Flemming baptized Mary Hartnett, daughter of John Hartnett and Margaret Fitzpatrick on February 17, 1854.  The sponsors were Daniel Sweeney and his wife.  It appears that in the interim period between 1853 and 1856, from the time that St. Matthew’s was destroyed and SS. Peter and Paul’s was built, Catholics in Alton either worshipped in a temporary facility or in a neighboring parish.  I have not found the records of St. Matthew’s nor those of the temporary church.

The Hartnetts apparently moved across the Mississippi river to Missouri after Mary was born. Daniel, their second child, was born somewhere in Missouri in 1855.  They finally moved to Dakota County, Nebraska, in 1857.xe "Hartnett:Daniel (1855-1937)"
It may be appropriate to digress at this point, to relate a few historical facts that may provide some perspective as to the westward progress of civilization in relation to the Hartnett’s journey up the Missouri River from Madison County, Illinois to Dakota County, Nebraska.  These events are being related in an effort to show the time frame in which the territory, which encompasses Dakota County, Nebraska, was explored and settled.  They are also intended to show the advancement of the Catholic Church in the territory, the organization of the various governmental units in the area and also to show the westward progress of modes of transportation, railroads in particular.

· 1803 - President Thomas Jefferson purchased the Louisiana territory, which included what now is Nebraska, from France for $15 million.  The land was actually transferred to the United States at St. Louis on May 10, 1804.

· 1804 - On May 14, 1804, Captains Merriweather Lewis and William Clark began their expedition up the Missouri River to explore the new territory.  They passed Dakota County on August 20, 1804.  Sgt. Charles Floyd, a member of the exploration party, died that day of a ruptured appendix.  He is buried on the top of a bluff in Sioux City, Iowa.  Sgt. Floyd was the only casualty of the Lewis and Clark expedition.  The monument marking his grave is visible in Sioux City  across the river from Dakota County, NE.

· April 24, 1820 - Congress passed an Act making provision for the sale of Public Lands.  This law enabled settlers to buy Public Lands for $ 1.25 per acre. 

· 1820 - Steamboats began traveling on the Missouri River between St. Louis and Montana.  The first steamship, WESTERN ENGINEER, a government steamer, was under the command of Major Stephen H. Long.  (No relation to the Longs in this story).

· May 30, 1854 - Nebraska became a territory of the United States when Franklin Peirce was president.  The area had been a part of the territory of Missouri since 1820.  As a result of a treaty with the Omaha Indians, an area that includes Dakota County was opened to settlement for the first time.  

· 1855 - Congress passed an act entitled “An Act in addition to certain Acts granting Bounty Land to certain Officers and Soldiers who have engaged in the military service of the United States”.  It was this law by which lands were given to military veterans such as Antonio Qusinias, who in turn assigned his warrant for land thus acquired, to John Hartnett.

· 1855 - The organization of Dakota County, Nebraska was authorized by an act of the first territorial legislature.  The county was organized in 1857 even though the boundaries were not finalized until 1859.

· 1856 - Father Jeremiah F. Trecyxe "Trecy:Father Jeremiah F." founded a colony of twenty-five Irish Catholic immigrant families at St. Johns, a now abandoned community, about one and one-half miles north of Jackson. 

· June 1856 – The Steamship “Omaha” arrived at the Sioux City Levee.  Its cargo included a sawmill, furniture, hardware, dry goods and groceries.

· 1857 – Sioux City, IA was platted and incorporated.

**    1857 - THE HARTNETTS MOVED FROM ILLINOIS TO THE NEBRASKA TERRITORY.

· May 7, 1859 - James O’Gorman was consecrated first Bishop of the Diocese of Omaha.

· 1859 - A railroad was built as far west as the Missouri River at St. Joseph, Missouri.  In 1863, construction of the Union Pacific Railroad between Omaha and California began.  At that time, however, no railroad existed east of Council Bluffs.  All materials and supplies for that project were transported by steamboat up the Missouri River to Omaha.  The Rock Island Railroad reached Council Bluffs and Omaha late in 1867.

· The Town of Franklin (now Jackson, NE) was established around 1860 about a mile and one-half south of the original settlement at St. Johns.  St. Johns then ceased to exist as a town site.  The name “Franklin” was later dropped because that name had already been given to another post office in Nebraska.

· May 30, 1862 - The first Homestead law was passed by Congress, whereby a head of a family could acquire a tract of land not to exceed 160 acres at no cost by settling on the land and cultivating it for a prescribed period of time. 

· March 1, 1867 - Nebraska became a State.

· 1868 - The Sioux City and Pacific Railroad was built into Sioux City, Iowa.  In 1870, the Illinois Central Railroad reached Sioux City.  

· 1880 - The Sioux City and Nebraska Railroad Company built a standard gauge railroad from Covington (now South Sioux City, NE) to Coburn Junction, Hubbard and Emerson, NE.

· 1880 - Hubbard, Nebraska was founded.  St. Mary’s Church, in Hubbard, was founded in 1886.

In the meantime, James Buchanan became president, and after him, Abraham Lincoln. The south seceded from the union and the War Between the States was fought.

When the pioneers, including the Hartnetts, first arrived in Dakota County, Nebraska, the predominate vegetation was some 200 species of prairie grasses. There were also many scattered, timbered areas, or groves, comprising several species of trees such as cottonwood, walnut and oak.  Late in the summer, these grasses would grow shoulder high and were so dense that traveling was difficult.  Prairie fires were common when the grasses were dry.  Every two or three years, these fearsome, intense fires would leave large acreages blackened The prairie grasses actually needed those fires to survive and propagate.  The seeds of these plants needed the heat of the fire to open and germinate.  The roots were not only unharmed by the fire, but also were relieved from the job of providing support and nutrients to the rest of the plant.  The roots, therefore, waxed stronger and tougher year by year.  The top several inches of the soil, therefore, became a tangled mass of these tough roots, and were extremely difficult to plow.

The pioneers, or “settlers”, as they came to be called in Dakota County, faced the formidable task of plowing this “sod”.  “Breaking” the sod was done with a plow pulled by a yoke of oxen.  The settler followed the plow on foot, guiding it, using handles attached to the plow blade.  Oxen were used for “sod breaking” because of their great strength.  In subsequent years, after the sod was broken, the slow plodding oxen were replaced by horses that were much faster and more versatile.  Approximately the eastern third of Dakota County was an alluvial plain, all of which, at one time or another over the centuries, was occupied by the Missouri River.  This plain, which came to be called “the swamp”, was built of soil washed down from Montana and the Dakotas by the river, and from the hills in Dakota County by Elk Creek, Pigeon Creek and Omaha Creek.  It is extremely flat and, when the settlers arrived, it was poorly drained.  There were two lakes located in this plain as a result of the river changing its course and leaving the lakes as remnants of the old riverbed.  One is Crystal Lake which still exists, and the other was called Jackson Lake.  In 1916, the railroad company constructed a drainage ditch along Elk Creek to alleviate a constant flooding problem.  That ditch was directed into Jackson Lake.  Within a few years, the mud that eroded from the hills and washed down Elk Creek ditch completely filled Jackson Lake.  It is now a farm.  Elk Creek ditch has now been extended to the Missouri River.

Around 1930, another railroad company constructed a similar ditch along Pigeon Creek past Hubbard. This ditch is enclosed by levies as it passes through the great swamp. In many places, the bottom of the ditch is higher than the surrounding plain.  It discharges into the Missouri River east of Homer.  Omaha Creek joins the Pigeon Creek drainage ditch near Homer.

As a result of these drainage projects, which were built to protect the railroad from floods, the large plain is no longer a swampy area but rather has become the richest farmland in the county.  The settlers passed it by for what was, at the time, a good reason.

One can only speculate as to the way John and Margaret Hartnett actually traveled to Dakota County in 1857.

It is possible that the Hartnetts may have traveled up the Mississippi to Dubuque, Iowa.  There they could have outfitted themselves with a wagon, oxen, tools, implements and provisions.  They then could have proceeded west across Iowa to Nebraska territory in an ox-drawn wagon as Father Trecy’s group did a year earlier.

It is more likely that they boarded a steamboat at Alton, Illinois or St. Louis, Missouri, traveled up the Missouri River and disembarked at Sioux City as did Captain Cornelius O’Connor, another Dakota County pioneer
.  They then could have outfitted themselves at Sioux City, Iowa, and then preceded to the property which was to be their new home.  Sioux City was already an established community,then known as Thompsonville.  It was incorporated as Sioux City in 1857.  Provisions in the 1850’s and early 1860’s arrived by steamboat from St. Louis.  James A. Jackson, one of the founders of Sioux City was also one of the first to charter a steamboat from St. Louis.  His first vessel the “Omaha” arrived at the Sioux City levee in June 1856.  Its cargo included a sawmill, furniture, hardware and groceries.

It is a logical assumption that the Hartnetts traveled with a group.  About forty families arrived in Dakota County during 1857 from various places.  These families might have included the Maloneys, the Leheys, the Ryans and the Howards.  It also seems logical that, once they were in Dakota County, they would have wanted to leave the women and children in a town, such as Sioux City, or some sort of a base camp while the men scouted the territory, located the plot of land on which each would settle and returned to the United States Land Office in Dakota City Nebraska to file their claim.  The men then would take the women and children to their new home and begin the task of building a shelter and breaking the sod.

John Hartnett acquired his first parcel of land by way of government warrant No. 83110, which was granted to Antonio Qusinias, a private in Captain Garcias Company of the New Mexico Volunteers.  Private Qusinias was given the warrant for military service during a Navajo Indian disturbance.  He assigned the warrant to John Hartnett who then claimed the land
.  Other settlers who acquired land in a similar manner, and at approximately the same time were Michael Maloney, James Lehey, Andrew Lehey, John Ryan and John Howard.

Many of the settlers soon acquired additional land in the immediate area.  They paid the United States government for the land at the going rate of $1.25 per acre.  When the Homestead Act, which provided free land, was passed in 1862, some of these settlers acquired still more land.  

The opportunity to own their own land was the primary motivator for the original settlers, the Hartnetts and others, to migrate to Dakota county, that unknown frontier beyond the Missouri River.  They must have realized that opportunity would be accompanied by challenges and hardship, especially for the first few years.

The first summer the Hartnetts and the other pioneers probably slept in tents, or in their covered wagons.  Before winter, however, it would have been necessary to erect a shelter of some sort.  Many built small houses out of the sod that they were in the process of plowing.  The next year or two would see them building log cabins to live in until they could acquire lumber and build a permanent frame house.  They also had to provide shelter for their animals as well as build fences to contain them.  

Those who made it through those first tough years found life a bit better once the sod was broken and their houses, fences and other buildings were built.  As more settlers came west, civilization came with them. Trails became crude roads.  New neighbors meant more friends and an easing of the loneliness they must have experienced.  Communication  and the marketing of crops became easier.  The pioneers could begin to concentrate on prospering rather than on merely surviving.

The Hartnetts and other pioneers must either have had great courage when they came west, or else they didn’t appreciate the difficulties they were about to face.  Their health had to be excellent, or they would not have survived for very long.  Pioneer life was difficult, even for the strong and hearty.  For Margaret, and the other pioneer women, those difficulties must have been overwhelming.  Not only was strenuous manual labor a fact of daily life, but also their children were born and raised under the most primitive of conditions.  Some of the settlers, of course, did give up and go back east.  The Hartnetts stayed.  

The same year that John and Margaret settled on their new property, their second son and third child, James, was born.  That first year must have been very challenging.  Not only did they have a new baby, but also during the summer and fall of that first year, it would have been necessary for them to erect a sod hut, or a log cabin in order to provide shelter for the winter.  During the first or second summer that they were in Nebraska they built a log cabin and at least one building to house animals.  The log cabin lasted until 1990 when the present owners of the land tore it down.  The log barn is still in existence.  John would have plowed a few acres that first summer and raised enough food to survive the winter.  The soil was fertile, once the extremely tough sod was broken, and game was plentiful, so food was probably not a severe problem.  Shelter, in Dakota County, was another matter.  Winter must have taken on an entirely new meaning for these pioneers.  Nothing that they would have experienced in Ireland, or on their journey up the rivers, would have prepared them for the severe winters that they would experience in Dakota County.  They must have anticipated hardship, however, and they got it. During the winter of 1862-63, John Hartnett was caught out in a blizzard and his hands were frozen so badly that all of his fingers were amputated.

John and Margaret Hartnett were the parents of three more children.  In 1860, their son, John, was born.  On February 14, 1862, another son, my grandfather, Thomas J. Hartnett was born.  On February 10, 1864, Margaret died eight days after giving birth to their sixth child, William.  Her sister, Mary Fitzpatrick Maloney, took the baby and raised him as her own.  It has been told that her own baby had recently died thus she was able to nurse the newborn child.  No record, however, of the existence of the Maloney baby has been found.  In 1886, 22 years later, William Hartnett was listed in St. Mary’s Church records as still being a member of the Michael Maloney household.

John did not remarry, but raised his family by himself.  Mary, his oldest child, was 11 years old when her mother passed away.  John continued to farm utilizing hired help, together with the help of his children, as they grew older and stronger.  Stories have been handed down which attest to his faith in God and his devotion to our blessed Mother. He asked his family to kneel after each evening meal to pray the holy rosary for the repose of the soul of their departed wife and mother.  Also, John was evidently an excellent businessman and manager.  As time went on, he prospered and acquired additional land as the opportunities arose.  In 1868, John acquired another 120 acres from the United States government on warrant No. 89779.  In 1890, it was reported that he owned, at one time or another, some 1600 acres in Dakota County.  

On October 5, 1893, John Hartnett was killed while returning to his home from the town of Hubbard.  The story of his death was contained in a lawsuit, which was filed on December 22, 1893 against the Chicago, St. Paul, Minneapolis and Omaha Railway Company by James Hartnett who was the administrator of his father’s estate.  The petition in that lawsuit stated in part:

“3rd - That on or about the 5th day of October A.D. 1893, the said John Hartnett, now deceased, was traveling on foot, between the village of Hubbard, in Dakota County, Nebraska, and his home, situated in said county, near the said village of Hubbard and while upon the track of the said railway company, at a point where the public highway leading to his house crosses the said railway track, without any fault or negligence upon his own part, and owing to the defective construction of a cattle guard upon the said railway track, the foot of the said John Hartnett became fastened in the said cattle guard in such a manner hat he was unable to extricate himself, and shortly thereafter a passenger train of the said defendant company, approaching at a high rate of speed, struck and killed the said John Hartnett”.  

Because John had no fingers, having lost them due to frostbite, he could not unlace his boots and thus free himself.  He undoubtedly struggled to get his boot free.  He also obviously called for help as he was within shouting distance of home.  John could see the train rapidly approaching as he struggled to free himself to no avail.

The petition went on to say that the track was level and straight and that no obstacles existed to prevent the engineer from stopping the train in time to avoid that accident.  The time of day was not stated, however. The amount asked in the lawsuit was $5000.  On April 19, 1894, the case was dismissed.  A journal entry in the court record says, “And now comes on this 19th day of April 1894 the parties to this cause having duly settled the same in open court, Said cause is dismissed at the cost of the plaintiff taxed at $0”.  The terms upon which the case was settled were not revealed.  It is interesting that James, the third child in John Hartnett’s family, was the administrator of his estate.

John Hartnett is buried in St. John’s Cemetery in Jackson, Nebraska.  His grave is marked with a round, or cylindrical, tombstone.  The name on his stone is Hartnady rather than Hartnett.  

Father Lysaght was the pastor of St. Patrick Parish at that time.  Being from the same part of Ireland as the Hartnetts he told the family that the proper family name should be “Hartnady”.  Later, John’s brother Thomas insisted that the family name was “Hartnett”. Thomas’ tombstone, right next to John’s, has the name “Hartnett”.  The two brothers are buried side by side with different spellings of their family name.

John spelled his name “HARTNETT” on the passenger list of the “Bark Montgomery”; he spelled his name “HARTNETT on both of his naturalization papers. The name is listed as “HARTNETT” on land transactions and census records.  The government tract books, however, in which the original land sales of public lands to the settlers are recorded, show John’s name as both Hartnett and, in one instance, as Hartnady.  This indicates that “HARTNADY” may have occasionally been used, even though “HARTNETT” was obviously his preference.

John and Margaret were the parents of six, one daughter and five sons.  Four of the five sons married women named Margaret and three were nicknamed “Maggie”. My mother referred to her aunts as “Aunt Maggie Dan”, “Aunt Maggie Jack” and “Aunt Maggie Will”.  In total, John and Margaret Hartnett were the grandparents of 36.

The John Hartnett and Margaret Fitzpatrick family genealogical chart is shown on page 130.

THE THOMAS AND MARY HARTNETT McGEE FAMILY






Thomas McGee

Mary Hartnett





  (1852-1926)

(1854-1939)




    



      Mabel McGee
Anna McGee

Cecelia McGee



 Thomas “Ben” Rooney    William Rooney                 Charles Heeney
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Thomas and Mary Hartnett McGee

With Mable

John and Margaret’s oldest daughter, Mary, married Thomas McGee.  They were the parents of three daughters, Mabel, Anna and Cecilia.  Thomas died at a relatively young age, but Mary was quite old when she died.  While in her kitchen preparing a meal, her clothing caught fire.  She was so severely burned that she only lived for a few hours.

Mabel was the first person to graduate from Hubbard High School in 1907.  At that time, graduation was from the tenth grade.  She continued her education at St. Catherine’s Academy in Jackson.  Starting in 1911, she taught school at Hubbard High School, and also at Bell school, a country school west of Hubbard, until she was married.  In 1917, Mabel married Ben Rooney, a brother of her sister’s husband, William.  They were the parents of two sons, Thomas and John.  After the death of her husband, in 1926, Mabel and her small boys lived with her mother in Hubbard.  She returned to teaching and taught for 35 more years.  Mabel taught kindergarten, first and second grades in Hubbard until her retirement in 1961.  She taught as many as three generations in some families.  In our family she taught both my father and me.  Mrs. Rooney was my first teacher.

Anna married William Rooney. Their Children were:  William, Patrick, Elaine and Eugene.

 Cecilia married Charles Heeney.  Their children were:  Margaret (Liewer), Joseph, James, Thomas and Edward.  Joseph attended the Hubbard School for 13 years, kindergarten through grade 12, without being late or missing a day of school.  He had perfect attendance for 13 years.

 See the Thomas McGee family genealogical chart is on page 131.

THE DANIEL HARTNETT FAMILY





xe "Hartnett:Daniel (1855-1937)"

xe "Hartnett:Margaret Casey"

xe "Hartnett:John (Daniel's Son)"

xe "Hartnett:Mary Calahan"

xe "Hartnett:Joseph"

xe "Hartnett:Ethel Rice"

xe "Hartnett:Thomas (Daniel's Son)"

xe "Hartnett:Alma Fredrickson"

xe "Hartnett:James B. (Daniel's Son)"

xe "Hartnett:Raymond"

xe "Hartnett:Claire Kavanaugh"

xe "Hartnett:Margaret Harrington"

xe "Hartnett:Ann Hennigan"

xe "Hartnett:Daniel L. (Daniel's Son)"

xe "Hartnett:Pearl Harty"

xe "Hartnett:William (Daniel's Son)"

xe "Hartnett:Eleanor Lynch"

xe "Hartnett:Louise ?"

xe "Hayes:Mary Hartnett"

xe "Hayes:John"

xe "Beacom:Owen"

xe "Beacom:Margarite Hartnett"
John and Margaret Hartnett’s second child, Daniel, reportedly was born in Missouri before his parents moved to Nebraska.  He married Margaret “Maggie” Casey in St. Mary’s Church in Sioux City, IA.  Fifty years later, they repeated their wedding vows at their golden wedding anniversary Mass, before the same priest and in the presence of the same bridesmaid and best man. They were the parents of nine: John, Mary, Joseph, Thomas, Margarite, Daniel, James, William and Raymond. 

 John was Daniel’s and Margaret’s first son.  I know very little about him except that he married Mary Callaghan, that they had no children and they lived in Chicago. 

 Mary was their second child. When Mary was a very small child, some Indians xe "Indians:Kidnaped Mary Hartnett Hayes"came past the farm and kidnapped her.  They then took her to town and tried to sell her.  Of course the Indians were apprehended and Mary was returned to her parents.  Mary married John Hayes.  They had a son, “Casey” and a daughter, Molly Gerow.  They also lived in Chicago.  xe "Gerow:Molly Hayes"

xe "Hayes:\"Casey\""
Their third child was Joseph.  Joseph was married to Ethel Rice and they had a family of five: John “Jack”, Joseph, Bernadette and twins Daniel Eugene and Jane.  Joseph died while quite young leaving Ethel to raise the family alone.  They lived in a small house in Hubbard until the family was raised and educated.  Ethel then worked as a housekeeper for a priest in Kenosha, Wisconsin.xe "Hartnett:Bernadette"

xe "Hartnett:John (Joseph and Ethel’s Son"

xe "Hartnett:Daniel Eugene"

xe "Hartnett:Joseph"

xe "Hartnett:Jane"

xe "Hartnett:Lois"

xe "Hartnett:Patrick"
Daniel’s and Margaret’s fourth child was Thomas.  He married Alma Fredrickson.  They had a daughter Lois and a son Patrick.  Thomas and Alma operated a farm west of Hubbard.

The fifth child in the family was Margarite.  She married Owen Beacom.  They lived in Hubbard in a building that was built to be a hotel.  It was called “the hotel”, but as far as I know, very few, if any, rooms were ever rented as hotel rooms.  An apartment in the building was rented out, however.  Owen operated a grocery store and a saloon in Hubbard.  Their children were Margaret, Joseph, Owen Jr. and Raymond.xe "Beacom:Margaret"

xe "Beacom:Owen Jr."

xe "Beacom:Joseph"

xe "Beacom:Raymond"
The sixth member of the family was Daniel.  Daniel married Pearl Harty.  They lived in Hubbard all their lives where Dan was a rural route mail carrier for many years. He also operated a farm adjacent to the west edge of Hubbard.  Their son Paul was the high school principal in Hubbard for many years, was also on the faculty at Creighton University for many years and now (in 2003) is a Senator in the Nebraska Unicameral Legislature.

Daniel and Margaret’s seventh child was James.  James married Claire Kavanaugh who was a teacher in Hubbard.  They moved to Chicago where he worked as a stationary engineer for the Chicago Public School System. They had a son, Michael, and two daughters, Catherine, who is a nun and Jean Marie.xe "Hartnett:Michael"

xe "Hartnett:Sr. Catherine"

xe "Hartnett:Jean Marie" 

The eighth child was William, who was born September 5, 1901 and died December 28, 1979.  He also worked as a stationary engineer for the Chicago Public School System. He married Eleanor Lynch who died in 1970.  William then married Louise who survived him and died in 1989.

The ninth and youngest child was Raymond.  He too lived most of his adult life in Chicago. He married Margaret Harrington and they had one daughter, Margaret Dempsey.  His second wife was Ann Hennigan.

The Daniel Hartnett family genealogical chart is on page 132.
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Daniel and Margaret Casey Hartnett

             In the 1930’s

                                                     [image: image7.png]



  Daniel and Margaret Casey Hartnett


  In the 1890’s

THE JAMES HARTNETT FAMILY




xe "Hartnett:James (1857-?)"

xe "Hartnett:Ellen “Nellie” Moriarty"

xe "Hartnett:Carmel"
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James and Ellen “Nellie” Moriarty Hartnett

In the 1890’s

John and Margaret Hartnett, the pioneers, had four more children after they arrived in Dakota County.  James, their third, was born in 1857, the same year that his parents migrated west.  James and his brother, Thomas, worked on his father’s farm until they were adults and for some time thereafter.  He married Ellen “Nellie” Moriarty and they had one son Carmel.  Carmel married but had no children.

On September 4, 1890, John Hartnett deeded the family farm to James and Nellie, his new wife.  He had previously given land to his daughter, Mary McGee, to his son, Daniel, and to his son, John.  He had not, at that time, given any land to either his son Thomas nor to William.  This incident caused friction between John and his son, Thomas, who apparently believed that he was being treated unfairly.  This dispute resulted in a lawsuit between the father and son.

When James and Nellie left the farm they moved to Omaha, where they lived for the rest of their lives.  They are buried in Omaha.    

The James and Ellen “Nellie” Hartnett family genealogical chart is on page 133.

THE JOHN HARTNETT FAMILY
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John and Margaret McShane Hartnett

In the 1890’s

THE JOHN HARTNETT FAMILY

A third son, John, was born to John and Margaret April 23, 1860 in the log house that they built as their first house on their new farm. He grew up on his father’s farm; John Jr. “Jack” married Margaret “Maggie” McShane in October 1893.  They were the parents of five:  Margaret “Peg”, Bridget Veronica “Bonnie”, Alice, John Peter and Mary Camilla “Babe”.  

John “Jack” and Margaret “Maggie” lived on a farm two miles west of his father’s farm.  His father, John Hartnett Sr. deeded the farm to them. It is a farm, which was once owned by Thomas Long Sr. which he purchased from Thomas Long’s estate in 1884.  They later acquired additional property.  They lived on that farm for the rest of their lives.

Their oldest daughter Margaret “Peg” married John Sherlock.  Their children are John P. “Pat”, Margaret “Sally” Swanson, Dorothy Anderson, Rose Mary Shiffiar and Alice Henry.  Bridget Veronica “Bonnie” married Herman Renze. Their children are Ruth Prince, John and James.  Alice married Ed Wolfe.  Their children are Margaret Ann Perdue, Raymond and Mary Helen Jacobs.  John Peter married Katherine Uffing.  They had one son, John.   When his wife, Katherine died, John Peter married Inez Hall.  Mary Camilla “Babe” married Frederick Bartells.  Their children are Marion Rehg, John, Kenneth, Joan Walsh, Eugene and Margaret Castor.xe "Sherlock:Margaret \"Peg\" Hartnett"

xe "Sherlock:John"

xe "Sherlock:Pat"

xe "Renze:\"Bonnie\""

xe "Renze:Herman"

xe "Hartnett:John Peter"

xe "Hartnett:Katherine Uffing"

xe "Hartnett:Inez Hall"

xe "Wolfe:Alice Hartnett"

xe "Wolfe:Ed"

xe "Bartels:Frederick"

xe "Bartels:\"Babe\""
The John Hartnett – Margaret McShane family genealogical chart is on page 134.

THE THOMAS J. HARTNETT FAMILY

The fifth child born to John Hartnett and Margaret Fitzpatrick was my grandfather, THOMAS J. HARTNETT.  His story will be told in Chapter VI.  

THE WILLIAM HARTNETT FAMILY
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William and Margaret Hogan Hartnett

In the 1890’s

William was the sixth child in John and Margaret Fitzpatrick Hartnett’s family.  He was born February 2, 1864.  Margaret died soon after he was born.  Her sister, Mary Fitzpatrick Maloney, took him and raised him as one of her own.  In 1886, when he was 22 years old, he was still listed in the parish records of the then new St. Mary’s Church as being a member of the Michael Maloney household.  xe "Maloney:Mary Fitzpatrick"

xe "Maloney:Michael"
William married Margaret “Maggie” Hogan. They were the parents of a family of eleven children.  Their names are:  William, Eileen Rush, John, James, Donald, Sylvester, Paul, Mary Smith, Lucille Green, Bernadine Sullivan and Maxine Dineen.

 The William Hartnett family genealogical chart on page 135.xe "Hartnett:William (1864-1950)"

xe "Hartnett:Margaret Hogan"

xe "Hartnett:William (William's Son)"

xe "Rush:Eileen Hartnett"

xe "Hartnett:John (William's Son)"

xe "Hartnett:James (William's Son)"

xe "Hartnett:Donald"

xe "Hartnett:Sylvester"

xe "Hartnett:Paul (William's Son)"

xe "Smith:Mary Hartnett"

xe "Green:Lucille Hartnett"

xe "Sullivan:Bernadine Hartnett"

xe "Dineen:Maxine Hartnett"
On this and on the following pages is a genealogy of the JOHN HARTNETT - MARGARET FITZPATRICK family. This genealogy depicts their family and the families of their children.  A separate chart has been prepared for each family showing birth dates, marriage dates and death dates as far as they are known.

FAMILY CHARTS

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Genealogy of John Hartnett and Margaret Fitzpatrick family (Family Charts)


John Hartnett 


1823?



10/5/1893


Margaret Fitzpatrick

1825

10/7/1852
2/10/1864

----------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTNETT:John (1823-1893)"
Children


Mary Hartnett


2/2/1854

9/12/1888
3/31/1939


Thomas F. McGee

6/9/1852



1/3/1926


Daniel Hartnett


1855



1937


Margaret Casey                                12/25/1858
6/16/1885
1942


James Hartnett


1857


Ellen “Nellie” Moriarty


John Hartnett


4/23/1860
10/1893

1956


Margaret McShane

1863



1924


Thomas J. Hartnett

2/14/1862
4/1891

5/28/1950


Annie Ryan


1/8/1869



11/3/1896


Margaret “Madge” Killackey
4/7/1869

1/11/1898
1/8/1934


William Hartnett


2/2/1864



1950


Margaret Hogan


1877

4/26/1899
1937

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of Mary Hartnett and Thomas McGee


Thomas McGee


6/9/1852

9/12/1888
1/3/1926


Mary Hartnett


2/2/1854



3/31/1939

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:McGEE:Thomas"
Children


 Mabel McGee


8/4/1891

6/1917

1/31/1979 


Thomas “Ben” Rooney

1893



1926

 
Anna McGee


1894



1967


William Rooney


Cecelia McGee


2/24/1899
5 /1918

12/30/1959


Charles Heeney


5/4/1888



5/11/1962

FAMILY CHART

================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family Of Daniel Hartnett And Margaret Casey


Daniel Hartnett         

1855



1937


Margaret Casey 


12/25/1858   
6/16/1885    
1942

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTNETT:Daniel (1855-1937)"
Children


John Hartnett


Mary Callaghan


Mary Hartnett




2/1914

1/1978


John Hayes


Joseph Hartnett      

1886



1924


Ethel Rice


Thomas Hartnett







Alma Fredrickson



2/1916


Margarite Hartnett         

6/14/1893      


11/4/1972

   
Owen Beacom   


1882

8/1922

1937

   
Daniel L. Hartnett      

4/11/1896     


5/29/1986

   
Pearl Harty   


2/10/1896     


3/25/1987

   
James B.Hartnett        

1/6/1898      


5/18/1987

   
Claire Kavanaugh       

1/14/1902     


12/31/1989

   
William Hartnett        

9/5/1901      


12/28/1979

   
Eleanor Lynch 


7/24/1907     


11/23/1970


Louise ?







    1989


Raymond Hartnett      

1/14/1904     


6/21/1982

   
Margaret Harrington   

1904



1982


Ann Hennigan


6/20/1908


4 /1997

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of James Hartnett and Ellen (Nellie) Moriarity


James Hartnett


1857 


Ellen (Nellie) Moriarity

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTNETT:James (1857-?)"Children

James Carmel Hartnett

    

James Carmel Hartnett had no children

================================================================

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of John Hartnett and Margaret McShane


John Hartnett   


4/23/1860      


1956

   
Margaret McShane     

1863        
10/1893      
1924

-----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTNETT:John (1860-1956)"
Children


James F. Hartnett


3/18/1897


3/26/1897

Margaret “Peg” Hartnett

1/17/1898
6 /1925

2/15/1999


John Sherlock


Bridget Veronica Hartnett  
1900

6 /1924


Herman Renze


1900


Alice Hartnett




6 /1929


Ed Wolfe


John Peter Hartnett


Katherine Uffing        

1904



1946


Inez Hall

   
Mary Camilla Hartnett

1907

11/ 3/1929
4/2/1992

   
Frederick Bartells 

2/6/1906



8/17/2000

FAMILY CHART

================================================================

No.
 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of William Hartnett and Margaret Hogan


William Hartnett


2/2/1864       
4/26/1899
1950 



Margaret Hogan


1877



1937

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTNETT:William (1864-1950)"
Children


William D. Hartnett    

2/21/1900     


2/9/1962 


Julia Graves  


1/16/1901     


7/21/1983


Eileen Hartnett 


10/2/1901
2/6/1960

5/15/1993


Joseph Rush






7/14/1981


John Hartnett 


7/1903



7/1923 


Single


James Hartnett 


9/11/1905


5/1978


Anne Sullivan


Donald Hartnett         

10/11/1907


2/1978 


Single


Sylvester Hartnett 

9/4/1909



6/1977


Single


Paul Hartnett 


8/1/1911


Helen Heenan


Mary Hartnett 


5/13/1913
6/13/1932
3/13/1980


Harold Smith


12/25/1902


6/6/1978


Lucille Hartnett 


2/21/1915


2/18/1999


John Joseph Green


Bernadine Hartnett 

2/23/1917


Maxwell Sullivan






10/1980


Maxine Hartnett 


8/26/1919


Richard Dineen
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Thomas J. and Margaret “Madge” Killackey Hartnett

CHAPTER VI (Circa 1860 ()

THE THOMAS J. HARTNETT FAMILY





xe "Hartnett:Thomas J. (1862-1950)"

xe "Hartnett:Anne Ryan"

xe "Hartnett:Margaret \"Madge\" Killackey"

xe "Brennan:Monica Hartnett"

xe "Brennan:William"

xe "McKearnen:Edward \"Doc\""

xe "McKearnen:Margaret \"Peg\" Hartnett"

xe "Ryan:Ann Hartnett"

xe "Hartnett:Thomas (Thomas' Son) (1899-1971)"

xe "Hartnett:Florence Graves"

xe "Long:Rose Hartnett (1900-1997)"

xe "Long:John Benedict (1900-1954)"

xe "Harty:John (1901-1954)"

xe "Harty:Charlotte Hartnett"

xe "Hartnett:William C. (1907-)"

xe "Hartnett:Hazel Graves"

xe "Hartnett:John J. (1905-1991)"

xe "Hartnett:Lucille Donahoe"

xe "Hartnett:Daniel (Thomas’ Son) (1911-1954)"

xe "Hartnett:Faye Armstrong"
I asked my grandfather what the “J.”, his middle initial, stood for.  “Jefferson Davis” was his reply. “My name is Thomas Jefferson Davis Hartnett”.  I still don’t know if his answer was serious or not.  At the time I didn’t think it was.  If “Jefferson Davis” was his real middle name, or even if it was only a pseudo middle name, it could shed some light on the political views of his parents.  When Thomas was born, on February 14, 1862, the War Between the States had been in progress for about a year.  Jefferson Davis was the president of the Confederate States of America.  His inauguration took place just 7 days after Thomas was born.  Jefferson Davis, when he was Secretary of War in President Franklin Pierce’s cabinet in 1854, greatly influenced the president to sign the Kansas-Nebraska Act.  That was the law that opened Nebraska to settlement for the first time.  Jefferson Davis, therefore, may have been somewhat of a hero to John and Margaret Hartnett, thus influencing them to give Thomas the middle name “Jefferson Davis”.  Thomas grew up on his father’s farm.  He attended public school #7 which at that time was within a mile of their home.  As he grew older, he worked on the farm together with his brother James “Jim”. They continued to work with and for their father in apparent harmony until James married Nellie Moriarity sometime prior to 1890.  On September 4, 1890, John Hartnett Sr. deeded his home farm to James and his wife Nellie.  This apparently angered Thomas, who then insisted that his father deed a parcel of land to him also.  On December 18, 1890, according to a deposition of J. F. Duggan, a Notary Public who acknowledged the deed, John signed a deed granting Thomas an 80 acre parcel of land, which land lies about 2 miles north of his father’s farm.  Later, on November 12, 1892, John sued his son, Thomas, to get the land back, alleging that he had signed the deed under duress.  That lawsuit between Thomas J. Hartnett, my maternal grandfather, and my great-grandfather, John Hartnett, resulted in a landmark decision by the Nebraska Supreme Court, defining what constitutes undue influence in the execution of a deed for real estate.

According to Mr. Duggan’s deposition, James and his wife were present at the time the deed was signed.  It was James who went to town to get Mr. Duggan for the purpose of acknowledging the deeds. James and Nellie also signed some papers, which Mr. Duggan acknowledged.  Mr. Duggan also said that there was some arguing going on at that time as to whether the deeds were any good.  Old John was described as being of advanced age and in poor health.

In the lawsuit, John Hartnett alleged that the deed was procured from him by fraud and undue means, by false and fraudulent statements, by threats of personal violence, and by Thomas threatening to bring suit against his father.

James’ testimony in that trial suggested that my grandfather displayed a great deal of rancor towards his father.  James testified that Thomas threatened his father continuously, as often as five or six times a day and that he heard him berate the old man and use strong language against him saying, “If you don’t give me my rights I will kill you.”  Thomas, in turn, testified that he never threatened bodily harm.  He did, however intend to sue his father if he did not get either the land or cash payment for services that he had rendered to his father by working on the old man’s farm from the time he reached the age of 21. 

The trial court ruled in favor of my great grandfather, John Hartnett.  The case was appealed to the Nebraska Supreme Court, and on October 2, 1894, the Supreme Court confirmed the trial court decision.
  My great-grandfather, by that time had been dead for approximately a year.  After his estate was settled Thomas retained title to the land in dispute.xe "Hartnett:John (1823-1893)"
It appears to me that sibling rivalry between Thomas and his brother James was the root cause of the difficulty in the Hartnett family.  James and Thomas apparently worked in harmony until 1890.  They even had a joint checking account. At the time of the dispute, however, they were rivals.  James testified against Thomas at the trial.  James witnessed his father’s signature on the original petition to the court, suing Thomas.  Whether or not James and his new wife, Ellen “Nellie” prompted the lawsuit is open to speculation.  Papers filed in court indicate that John reckoned that Thomas was being well provided for.  Thomas was about to marry John Ryan’s daughter, Anne, and thus would probably receive some of the Ryan land.  Thomas also was negotiating with his aged uncle Thomas for land west of Jackson.xe "Hartnett:James (1857-?)"

xe "Hartnett:Thomas J. (1862-1950)"

xe "Hartnett:Ellen “Nellie” Moriarty"
It is not known whether my grandfather and his father ever re-established a friendly rapport before the accident that claimed John Hartnett’s life.  All evidence, however, indicates that Thomas J. Hartnett, my grandfather, was always on very friendly terms with his sister and all of his brothers for the rest of their lives.  In January, 1891, Thomas J. Hartnett, my grandfather, acquired a 320-acre farm west of the Town of Jackson from his 93-year old uncle, whose name was also Thomas Hartnett for a nominal monetary consideration.  As additional consideration for the land, he was to support and care for his aged uncle for the rest of the old man’s life.  The old man lived until 1902.  When he died, he was 104 years of age and had lived in the eighteenth, nineteenth and twentieth centuries.  xe "Hartnett:Thomas (1798-1902)"
Old Tom had purchased a part of that farm on April 15, 1867, when he was 69 year old, for $1300 from John Trecy, a brother of Father Jeremiah F. Trecy and also the first sheriff of Dakota County.  My grandfather, Thomas J. Hartnett owned that farm from 1891 until 1933.  He also acquired additional land until he finally owned 514 acres.  

My grandfather, Thomas took great pride in his farm.  He owned a herd of registered Hereford cattle that was widely recognized.  In order to prevent inbreeding he traded bulls frequently.  One of his bulls sold for $35,000, an exceptionally high price at that time.  His buildings were always in an excellent state of repair as were his orchards lawns and gardens.  Tom owned the best farming implements and equipment available.  He utilized the most current farming methods and operated a model livestock farming operation.  In later years he referred to himself as a “Stock Man” as well as a farmer.  

When he retired and moved to the town of Jackson, his son Thomas Jr. took over the operation of the farm that was then known as “The Twentieth Century Stock Farm”.xe "Twentieth Century Stock Farm"  On February 18, 1933, at a time when the general collapse of the national economy caused many farms and businesses to fail, Banker’s Life of Nebraska foreclosed the mortgage on his property.  Thomas Hartnett’s Twentieth Century Stock Farm went out of business.  

Thomas J. Hartnett ran for and was elected as a county commissioner, an office that he held from January 7, 1937 until January 2, 1941.  While he was county commissioner, Dakota County issued bonds and purchased the toll bridge over the Missouri river between Sioux City, Iowa and South Sioux City, Nebraska.  Their plan was to pay the principal and interest on the bonds with the revenue from the tolls.  Once the bonds were amortized the plan was to eliminate the tolls and make it a free bridge.xe "Hartnett:Thomas J. (1862-1950)"
The family of Thomas J. Hartnett and his 1st wife Annie Ryan.xe "Hartnett:Margaret \"Madge\" Killackey"

xe "Hartnett:Thomas (Thomas' Son) (1899-1971)"

xe "Hartnett:Florence Graves"
About 1891, Thomas J. Hartnett, my grandfather, married Annie Ryan.  Annie was the daughter of John Ryan, also one of the earliest settlers in Dakota County.  Thomas and Annie had four daughters, three of whom lived past infancy, Monica, Margaret and Ann.  Annie died in 1896 while giving birth to their fourth daughter, Katie.  The baby also died, living only one day.  

Monica Hartnett Brennanxe "Hartnett:Anne Ryan"
Monica, who was Thomas and Annie’s oldest daughter, was born in 1892. She graduated from St. Catherine’s Academy in Jackson and then went to Chicago where she attended St. Joseph’s School of Nursing becoming a registered nurse.  She continued working in St. Joseph’s Hospital for many years.  In 1941, she married William Brennan, a widower with two grown daughters.  Bill Brennan died in 1955.  Monica, whose nickname was “Harty”, was living with my mother when she died on February 12, 1969.

Margaret “Peg” Hartnett McKearnenxe "Brennan:Monica Hartnett"

xe "Brennan:William"
Margaret “Peg”, who was Thomas and Annie’s second daughter was born in 1893.  She also graduated from St. Catherine’s. She married Edward “Doc” McKearnen on June 16,1924.  They lived in Dakota City, where Doc was a mailman.  When Doc retired they moved to South Sioux City.  They had no children.  Peg died in South Sioux City in 1953.  Doc lived until 1959.

Ann Hartnett Ryanxe "McKearnen:Margaret \"Peg\" Hartnett"

xe "McKearnen:Edward \"Doc\""
Ann married Jeff Boler and, oddly enough, became Mrs. Jerry Ryan.  Ann was the third daughter of Thomas and Annie. She was born in 1895 and was her mother’s namesake in more than one way. Her mother’s maiden name was Anne Ryan and her married name was Ann Ryan.  Her husband, Geoffrey J. “Jerry” Ryan, was an orphan who was raised, on a farm near Jackson, by a family named Boler.  He grew up using the name Jeff Boler.  When he married, he again began using his birth name.  He reassumed the name “Jerry Ryan” abruptly with no preliminary announcements and apparently with no problems. Ann and Jerry were the parents of six: Dorothy Hammond, who died in 1995, William “Billy”, who was a prisoner of war during World War II, and who died in 1965, Rosemary Tedrow, Joseph, Margaret “Peggy” Smith, and Thomas Patrick, who died in 1961.  Ann died in 1960 and Jerry died in 1968.  They are buried in South Sioux City.

The family of Thomas J. Hartnett and his 2nd wife, Margaret “Madge” Killackey.xe "Ryan:Ann Hartnett"

xe "Ryan:Geoffrey J. ‘Jerry"

xe "Hammond:Dorothy Ryan"

xe "Hammond:George"

xe "Ryan:William \"Billy\""

xe "Ryan:Patrick"

xe "Tedrow:Rosemary Ryan"

xe "Smith:Margaret \"Peggy\" Ryan"

xe "Ryan:Joseph"
On Tuesday, January 11, 1898, Thomas married my grandmother, Margaret “Madge” Killackey, in St. Patrick’s Church in Jackson, Nebraska.  They became the parents of six, two daughters and four sons.  My mother Rose Angela was the second child and first daughter born to Thomas and Madge Hartnett.

Thomas and Madge owned a magnificent home in Jackson where they lived for the rest of their lives.  Madge died in 1934.  Thomas died in 1950.  After Madge died, Tom lived in his home in Jackson with one or another of his children.  My mother, Rose, and her family lived there for about a year when I was in the eighth grade.  His oldest son Thomas Jr., his wife Florence and their 11 children lived with him until he died.  Thomas Jr. inherited the house and in turn, his son John (Jack) still lives there.

Thomas Hartnett Jr.

Thomas was Madge Hartnett’s oldest.  He was born in 1899.  Thomas went to the public high school in Jackson because St. Catherine’s, at that time was restricted to girls only.  He worked on the farm for his father and when his father and mother moved to the Town of Jackson, he took over the farm and operated it.  At that time, the farm was called “The Twentieth Century Stock Farm”. He and his father kept a herd of registered Hereford cattle.  They received considerable recognition for the quality of their herd.  xe "Hartnett:Thomas (Thomas' Son) (1899-1971)"
Thomas married Florence Graves in 1919, and they became the parents of eleven:  Thomas Robert “Bob” who practiced law in Dallas, Texas, Edward “Ned”, Monica Ann Berkley, Eugene, Margaret “Peggy” O’Neil, William, James, who also practiced law in Dallas, Richard, Mary Jo Nelson, John and Bart.  

Florence was the postmistress in Jackson, Nebraska. xe "Hartnett:Florence Graves"

xe "Hartnett:Robert Thomas \"Bob\""

xe "Hartnett:Edward \"Ned\""

xe "Hartnett:Eugene"

xe "Hartnett:William (1927-)"

xe "Hartnett:James (1929-)"

xe "Hartnett:Richard"

xe "Hartnett:John (1937-)"

xe "Hartnett:Bart"

xe "Berkley:Monica Ann Hartnett"

xe "Nelson:Mary Jo Hartnett"

xe "O'Neil:Margaret \"Peggy\" Hartnett"
After her husband, Thomas died, in 1971, Florence moved to Dallas where she lived  until her death in 1987. 

Rose Angela Hartnett Long

Rose Angela, my mother, was next.  More about her in Chapter IV.

Charlotte Hartnett Harty

Charlotte was Madge Hartnett’s third child.  She, as did all her sisters before her, graduated from St. Catherine’s Academy in Jackson.  Charlotte married John Harty and lived on the Harty farm adjacent to Hubbard for many years. When John began to work as a toll taker on the toll bridge over the Missouri river, they moved to South Sioux City.  She and John were the parents of a son, James and a daughter, Mary Edler.

John Hartnett xe "Harty:John (1901-1954)"

xe "Harty:Charlotte Hartnett"

xe "Harty:James"

xe "Edler:Mary Harty"
John was Madge’s fourth child.  Johnny, as he was known, graduated from the public high school in Jackson.  He married Lucille Donahoe.  They were the parents of six: Joseph, David, Rodney, Ann, Jane and Robert.  In 1941, Johnny took a job with the United State government in Washington, D.C.  He soon transferred to Peoria, Illinois where he was a government inspector for the Tobacco, Alcohol and Firearms Division of the United States Treasury, a job he held for his entire career.  When Johnny and Lucille retired they moved to Arizona.  John died in Tuscon in 1991.  Lucille died there in 1994.  They are buried in Hartington, Nebraska.

William C. Hartnett

William Clement, who went by the name of Clement or “Clem” as a boy and later assumed the nickname “Bill”, was next.  He too graduated from Jackson High School.  He married Hazel Graves who was a sister of his older brother Tommy’s wife Florence.  Bill worked in Sioux City, Iowa as a steelworker.  Bill and Hazel were the parents of Patrick, Raymond and Virginia “Ginger” (Mrs. Stan Kennelly). 

Daniel Hartnett  xe "Hartnett:William C. (1907-)"

xe "Hartnett:Hazel Graves"

xe "Hartnett:Patrick (1927-1954)"

xe "Hartnett:Leo Raymond (1929-1964)"

xe "Kennelly:Virginia \"Ginger\" Hartnett"

xe "Kennelly:Stan"
Daniel was the youngest of the family.  When Dan was a child, he was stricken with polio and walked with a limp for the rest of his life.  He too graduated from Jackson High School. Dan moved to Chicago where he lived with his sister Monica.  He took a job with the City of Chicago, a job he held for the rest of his life.  He married Faye Armstrong and they had four children, one of whom, Mary Jo, was born and died in infancy in 1946.  Faye also had a daughter, Joan, from a previous marriage.  Daniel and Faye’s oldest daughter Margaret was nicknamed “Madge” after her grandmother. Daniel Junior is a Jesuit Priest.  Mary Faye who was known as “Murphy”, a childhood diminution of her name, was their youngest.  Mary Faye died of cancer at the age of 23. Dan Sr. died in 1954 at the age of 43.xe "Hartnett:Daniel (Thomas' Son) (1911-1954)"

xe "Hartnett:Faye Armstrong"

xe "Hartnett:Father Daniel SJ."

xe "Hartnett:Mary Faye \"Murphy\" (1949-1972)"

xe "Erlenbaugh:Margaret \"Madge\" Hartnett"

xe "Hartnett:Mary Jo (1946-1946)"
The Thomas J. Hartnett family genealogical chart is on page 141.

The family genealogical chart of Annie Ryan Hartnett’s daughter Ann is on page 142.

The family genealogical charts of Madge Killackey Hartnett, except Rose, are on pages 143 through page 147.

Genealogy of the Thomas J. Hartnett Family (Family Charts)
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of Thomas J. Hartnett, Annie Ryan and Margaret (Madge) Killackey


Thomas J. Hartnett      

2/14/1862     


5/28/1950 


Annie Ryan     


1/8/1869      
4/1891

11/3/1896


Margaret “Madge” Killackey 
4/7/1869    
1/11/1898   
1/8/1934

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTNETT:Thomas J."
Children

Annie Ryan’s Children

 
Monica Hartnett         

1/21/1892   
12/10/1941  
2/12/1969 


William Brennan     





4 /1955


Margaret “Peg” Hartnett 

2/1/1893    
6/16 /1924    
7/3/1953 


Edward “Doc” McKearnen  
6/14/1880     


7/25/1959


Ann Catherine Hartnett  

6/28/1895     


10/19/1960 


Geoffrey J. “Jerry” Ryan      




1968


 Katie Hartnett


11/3/1896     


11/4/1896 


 Lived 1 day

Margaret “Madge” Killackey’s Children


Thomas Hartnett        

11/26/1899    


8/7/1971 


Florence Graves 


3/15/1899      
11/1919

9/15/1987


Rose Angela Hartnett  

12/31/1900  
9/11/1921
11/12/1997


John Benedict Long    

5/18/1900     


10/23/1954


Charlotte Hartnett      

5/12/1902     
6/8/1922

8/17/1989 


John Harty    


11/10/1901    


9/8/1954


John J. Hartnett        

9/15/1905     


11/21/1991

 
Lucille Donahoe      

7/5/1911    
5/22/1930  
1/21/1994


William C. Hartnett    

4/4/1907 


3/4/2001


Hazel Graves   


8/22/1907    
11/20/1926
2/20/1998


Daniel Hartnett         

1/14/1911     


3/13/1954 


Faye Armstrong 


11/4/1913    
6/27/1941
1/26/2002

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of Ann Hartnett and Geoffrey J. “Jerry” Ryan


Ann Hartnett  


6/28/1895     


10/19/1960

   
Jerry Ryan         






1968

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:RYAN:Jerry"
Children


Dorothy Ryan   


3/12/1921    


4/27/1995


George Hammond


William “Billy” Ryan   

1922



1965


Unknown


Rosemary Ryan 


3/271925


3/3/2004

   
Richard F. Tedrow 

10/8/1919


12/22/1993

   
Joseph Ryan   


1929


Unknown


Margaret “Peggy” Ryan 

1933


Jack Smith


Thomas Patrick Ryan    

6/6/1940      


12/30/1961


Patricia Brennan

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of Thomas Hartnett and Florence Graves


Thomas  Joseph Hartnett   

11/26/1899    
11/1919

8/7/1971


Mary Florence Graves 

3/15/1899      


9/15/1987

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTNETT:Thomas and Florence"
Children


Thomas R.”Bob” Hartnett 

7/19/1920 


10/8/2005


Betty Jeanne Dobbins


Daniel Edward (Ned) Hartnett
8/22/1921


6/16/2006

   
Lila Ross     


1/23/1925     


7/8/1978 


Ruth Van Hoose


Monica Ann Hartnett     

1/12/1923     


5/12/1972 


James Berkley 


Raymond Eugene Hartnett  
2/3/1924 


3/15/2000


Mary Maun     


9/20/1922   
5/17/1941   
6/16/1991

 
Margaret Rose “Peggy” Hartnett 
2/12/1925 
9/26/1944 


Vernard O’Neil


William Francis Hartnett

10/4/1927 


Mary Ann Cahill


James Joseph Hartnett   

9/5/1929 


Emily High


Richard “Dick” Hartnett 

1/16/1931 


Beth Hughs 


Jesse Miller


Mary Josephine Hartnett 

9/4/1933 


Anthony Nelson


L. John “Jack” Hartnett 

10/27/1937 


Sharon Danielson




5/15/1965


Mark Bartholomew Hartnett 
2/12/1939 


1/2/2002


Sari Pitts

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died
 ================================================================

Family of Charlotte Hartnett and John Harty


Charlotte Hartnett      

5/12/1902     
6/8/1922

8/17/1989

   
John Harty    


11/10/1901    


9/8/1954

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTY:John (1901-1954)"
Children

   
James Harty   


5/7/1923

   
Lucille Mary Horton       

11//1922

12/29/1943

   
Mary Harty    


2/2/1927    
11/19/1947
2/02/2007

   
Ronald Edler  


5/20/1926     


2/22/1970

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died
 ================================================================

Family of John J. Hartnett and Lucille Donahoe


John J. Hartnett        

9/15/1905     


11/21/1991


Lucille Donahoe      

7/5/1911    
5/22/1930  
1/21/1994

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTNETT:John and Lucille"
Children


Joseph John Hartnett    

1/22/1931 


Martha Louise Wasmuth   

10/3/1933   
2/11/1956


David Edward Hartnett   

12/13/1934 


Ruth Ann Monahan        

4/3/1938    
4/11/1983
8/29/1996


Rodney Timothy Hartnett 

1/24/1937 


Sandra West   


12/11/1938  
5/5/1962

 
Ann Lucille Hartnett    

6/14/1940   
5/27/1960 


Jack Watson   

 
Jane Elizabeth Hartnett 

12/15/1941  
11/8/1965 


Joseph Phillips         

11/8/1939


Robert Hartnett         

3/2/1947 


Single

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of William Hartnett and Hazel Graves


William Clement Hartnett   
4/4/1907



3/4/2001


Hazel M. Graves  

8/22/1907   
11/20/1926
2/20/1998

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTNETT:William and Hazel"
Children


William Patrick (Pat) Hartnett      
6/15/1927     


12/12/1954


Marilyn Peters


    Seven Children


Leo Raymond Hartnett

10/6/1929     


4/29/1964


Nancy Hoberg


    Two children

   
Virginia Hartnett        

1/28/1938

   
Stanley Kennelly  





9/11/1993


     Four children

FAMILY CHART
 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died
 ================================================================

Family of Daniel Hartnett and Faye Armstrong


Daniel Hartnett         

1/14/1911     


3/13/1954 


Faye Armstrong


11/4/1913    
6/27/1941
1/26/2002

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:HARTNETT:Daniel and Faye"
Children


Margaret “Madge” Hartnett 
4/18/1944 
6/25/1966 


Robert Erlenbaugh


Mary Jo Hartnett        

8/2/1946      


8/2/1946 


Infant


Daniel Hartnett


6/11/1947  


Ordained Jesuit Priest 



12/14/1974


Mary Faye (Murphy) Hartnett 
4/5/1949     


11/17/1972 


Single

CHAPTER VII (Circa 1800 ()

THE KILLACKEY AND LAWLESS FAMILIES

 Margaret (Madge) Killackey Hartnett, Thomas J. Hartnett’s second wife first came to Dakota County because her younger brother was already living there.  Young John Killackey had previously arrived in Nebraska to visit his uncle, Father John Lawless.  Father Lawless was then the pastor of St. Patrick Church in Jackson, NE.  Madge was the orphaned daughter of Bridget Lawless and James Killackey of Boston, MA.  

In order to depict the ancestry of the family let us start with both of Madge’s grandparents, the Lawless and the Killackey families.

THE LAWLESS FAMILY





xe "Lawless:Thomas"

xe "Lawless:Catherine Cassidy"

xe "Lawless:Thomas"

xe "Lawless:Hannah ?"

xe "Lawless:Father John"

xe "Killackey:James"

xe "Killackey:Bridget Lawless"
When Thomas J. Hartnett’s first wife Ann died, she was buried in St. Johns Cemetery just north of Jackson.  The priest who said her funeral Mass was the same priest who married them, Father P. A.xe "Lysaght:Father P. A." Lysaght.  Father Lysaght’s predecessor was Father John Lawless.  Father Lawless was instrumental in bringing members of our family to Dakota County.

Father John Lawless was the pastor of St. Patrick’s church in Jackson from 1877 to 1887.  While he was the pastor of St. Patrick’s Parish, Father Lawless brought his orphaned nephew, John Killackey, who was my grandmother’s brother, from Boston to Dakota County.  Young John then began living with the William Farrell family on their farm west of Hubbard.  Bridget Farrell, a daughter of William Farrell, was Father Lawless’ housekeeper while he was the pastor of St. Patrick’s.  When St. Mary’s parish in Hubbard was founded in 1886, Johnnie “Kelaki” was listed on its first parish register as being a member of the William Farrell household.  A strong bond evidently developed between the Farrells and young John.  That bond was strong enough so that he became an heir to part of the Farrell land.  When his two sisters came west a few years later, it appears that each came to the Farrell household as well as to their uncle, Father John Lawless, who, at that time, lived in Louisville, Nebraska, just south of Omaha.

xe "Farrell:William"

xe "Farrell:Bridget"Father John Lawless was born in County Mayo, Ireland on April 28, 1844.  He was ordained at All Hallows College in Dublin, Ireland on June 24, 1868.  The records of All Hallows College relate that his home parish was Ballymacward, Ballinasloe, County Galway.  He was the son of Thomas Lawless and Catherine Cassidy. In August of 1868 he left Ireland for his first mission in Maitland, Australia. Father Lawless arrived in St. Patrick’s Church in Jackson in 1877.  He was transferred from St. Patricks in Jackson to a new parish in Louisville, Nebraska in 1887.

Thomas and Catherine Lawless were the parents of two sons and one daughter.  They were Bridget, Thomas and John, the priest.  Thomas and Catherine evidently were not poverty stricken, as were most Irish people of that time.  In fact, they may have been somewhat well off.  Not much is known about Thomas but Catherine apparently lived a relatively long life.  Their son Thomas and daughter Bridget both were well educated. They both immigrated to Boston where they lived the rest of their lives.  Catherine is known to have made several trips to Boston and to Montreal and Quebec to visit friends or relatives, but she did not visit her son Thomas.  

She reportedly disowned Thomas because he married a working girl.  While he was attending a boarding school, or a college, in England, he visited a friend’s home.  Hannah was employed in that home as a governess.  When he married Hannah, his mother kicked him out of school.  He then moved to Boston and worked in a piano factory. Thomas and Hannah had four daughters, Mary “Mae” Hennesy, Margaret, Agnes and Anna.  Only Mae married and she had no children.  Later, when Thomas became quite ill, his mother came to see him and stayed for an extended visit.

THE KILLACKEY FAMILY







xe "Killackey:Lawrence"

xe "Killackey:Catherine Connelly"

xe "Connelly:?ADAM?"

xe "Connelly:?EVE? Sweeney"

xe "Lawless:Bridget"

xe "Killackey:James"

xe "Killackey:Mary"

xe "Killackey:Katherine Mulvy"

xe "Killackey:John"

xe "Killackey:Honora"

xe "Farrell:Anna Killackey"

xe "Farrell:Michael"

xe "Hartnett:Margaret \"Madge\" Killackey"

xe "Hartnett:Thomas J. (1862-1950)"

xe "Killackey:Catherine Ford"

xe "Killackey:James E."
Bridget Lawless married James Killackey, a son of Lawrence Killackey and Catherine Connelly.  Nothing is known of the Killackey family earlier than Lawrence.  We know, however, that Catherine Connelly’s mother was a Sweeney before she was married.  Bridget was proficient in more than one language and she served as an interpreter on occasion.  In view of the fact that her mother often visited in Montreal and Quebec, one could logically assume that Bridget was fluent in French.  James Killackey owned several houses and collected rent.  He reportedly lent money to immigrants to pay passage to the United States. James and Bridget Killackey’s oldest son, James Edward, was born in Ireland.  After they moved to Boston they were the parents of a baby girl, Mary, who died on December 20, 1863 at the age of about 6 months.  They then had two more daughters, Anna, who was born in 1866, and Margaret “Madge”, my grandmother, who was born on April 7, 1869.  Their youngest son, John, was born in 1871.  James and Bridget also were the parents of another daughter, Honora who died on August 13, 1874 at the age of 1 month and 25 days.  Bridget then died on December 18, 1874 in a sanitarium at Taunton, Massachusetts, probably of tuberculosis.  James died just 3 months later on March 18, 1875.  There were three deaths in the family in seven months.  These deaths left 4 young orphans.  Anna was 8 years old, Madge was not quite 6 and John was only 4 years old.  James Jr., the oldest, was probably around 16 years old.

Official records in the State of Massachusetts show that Bridget Killackey was 35 when she died and that James was 38.  

When the parents died, the three youngest children were sent to live with a family named Looby or Luby.  

The oldest of the four surviving children, James Edward Killackey, being 16 years old, joined the United States Army and was stationed “out west”, probably Dakota territory.  When his military unit was transferred “back east” General George Armstrong Custer commanded the unit that took their place.  That unit was annihilated at the battle of Little Big Horn on June 26, 1876.  After James was discharged he returned to Boston, married Katherine Mulvy and raised a family. James worked for most of his life for the Boston Water Department.  He died in 1921 of cancer.  His wife Katherine died in 1923 as a result of a fall.  His descendants still live in the Boston area.  xe "Killackey:James E."

xe "Killackey:Katherine Mulvy"

xe "Killackey:John"
John, the youngest brother of James Jr., evidently lived with the Loobys until at least 1877 or 1878, a span of about three years.   By that time, Father Lawlessxe "Lawless:Father John" had arrived in Jackson, Nebraska.  John was then sent to Jackson to live with his uncle, Father Lawless, who placed him with the William Farrellxe "Farrell:William" family where he lived until he was an adult.   In the meantime Anna and Madge were sent to a boarding school in Montpelier, Vermont, which was operated by an order of Catholic Sisters. 

 Anna and Madge Killackey remained in the boarding school until they graduated.  Madge, my grandmother, then took a job as a traveling companion for a Mrs. Knight, in Philadelphia.  Anna worked in a department store in Boston.  They both maintained close contact with their Uncle Thomas and Aunt Hannah Lawless and their brother James Edward Killackey.

James Killackey

James Edward and Katherine Mulvy Killackey had three sons and three daughters.  They were James Francis, who was born on October 11, 1891, Kitty (probably Catherine) Donovan, Mamie, Annie, John, and Peter.xe "Killackey:James E."

xe "Killackey:James F. (1891-1978)"

xe "Killackey:Katherine Mulvy"

xe "Killackey:Mamie"

xe "Killackey:Anna"

xe "Killackey:Peter"

xe "Donovan:Catherine \"Kitty\" Killackey"

xe "Killackey:Anna McLaughlin"
James Francis was married to Anna B. McLaughlin on June 1, 1919. They in turn, had a son named James Francis, who was born on March 13, 1921 and a grandson named James Francis, who was born on August 17, 1948.   The birthdays of all five generations of James Killackeys are being listed as a means of identification.
   xe "Killackey:James F. (1921-)"

xe "Killackey:James F. (1948-)"
James Francis, Jr., who was born in 1921, married Ruth Marie Tisdale.  He is a retired postal worker in Cambridge, Massachusetts.  They are the parents of seven, two sons and five daughters. They are: Carol Anne Shallow, James Francis III, who was born in 1948, Marie Eileen Wilson, Robert Paul, Jean Margaret and identical twins Joan Frances and Janice Frances.xe "Killackey:Ruth Tisdale"

xe "Killackey:Robert Paul"

xe "Killackey:Joan Frances"

xe "Killackey:Janice Frances"

xe "Shallow:Carol Anne Killackey"

xe "Wilson:Marie Killackey"

xe "Killackey:Jean Margaret"

xe "Killackey:Lawrence Edward (1943-)"
James Francis and Anna also had another son, Lawrence Edward, who was born February 16, 1923.  He married Gertrude Haviland and they have two daughters, Joan and Arlene.  He worked in the drafting department of the Glen Martin Aircraft Co. in Orlando Florida. xe "Killackey:Gertrude Haviland"
In addition to their two sons, James Francis and Anna adopted a daughter, Marilyn, who married Frank J. Gironda and had five children, Mary Lynn, Frank, Jr., Christian, Lisa and Laura.xe "Gironda:Marilyn Killackey"

xe "Gironda:Frank J."
Anna Killackey Farrell

Anna came to Dakota County in 1901.  She traveled by rail and arrived in Hubbard on July 4.  The first person she saw as she got off of the train was Richard Long and as she told the story, he had a gun and they were both loaded.  Anna too visited the Farrell household.  She, in fact, became a permanent member of the Farrell family.  She married Michael Farrell, a widower with no children.  Michael and Anna had no children either, but they adopted two boys, Willie and Mike.  Her husband, Michael, was killed in a farm accident.  She then built a house in Hubbard and lived there for practically the rest of her life.    

Madge Killackey Hartnett

When Father Lawlessxe "Lawless:Father John" died in Louisville, Nebraska, probably in 1896 or 1897, Madge traveled to Nebraska to attend his funeral.  While she was in Nebraska, she also traveled about 110 miles north to Hubbard so that she could visit the Farrell family and her brother John.  Madge developed a close friendship with the Farrell family.  She was particularly impressed by the way families worked together and with other families.  She took a teacher’s examination, taught school in Dakota County and never again went back east. She married Thomas J. Hartnett, a widower with three small daughters. They raised their family on a farm just west of Jackson.  She was my maternal grandmother.xe "Hartnett:Margaret \"Madge\" Killackey"

xe "Hartnett:Thomas J. (1862-1950)"

xe "Hartnett:Thomas J. (1862-1950)"
When Tom Hartnett first met Margaret “Madge” Killackey, he saw a comely redhead who had recently arrived from Boston.  At the time he was about 35 years old and she about 28.  He was tall and strong, intelligent and ambitious.  She was not only good-looking but also talented and refined.  She could sing and play the piano in the parlor and play the organ in church.  Her speech and demeanor bespoke her cultured upbringing.  She was soft-spoken and utilized a cultured and impeccably correct manner of speech.  Tom owned a 320-acre farm about three miles west of Jackson.  He had three small daughters and an aged uncle to care for.  She had a job as a teacher in a small one-room country school.  It didn’t take long for them to realize that they were the answer to each other’s prayers.  Tom and Madge were married on January 11, 1898, about fourteen months after Tom’s first wife died.  

My first recollection of her was when I was a child about three years old.  My mother traveled by train with my sister Margaret (then a babe in arms) and me from Peoria, IL to Jackson, NE.  I don’t remember the trip but I do remember Grandpa meeting us at the train in Sioux City.  I also remember arriving at their home in Jackson and meeting my Grandmother in her kitchen.  That is all I remember of that incident.

I don’t remember ever having a “let’s sit down and talk things over” conversation with Grandma Hartnett.  We lived in Hubbard and she in Jackson.  Five miles is a great distance to a child.  When I did see her she was always busy.  I remember her on her hands and knees waxing the dining room floor in her big house.  I remember her in the kitchen baking and cooking.  It seemed to me that big house was more work than one woman should handle.  

Thomas and Madge purchased that house in about 1920 when they moved from the farm.  It was a magnificent home.  It had large oak-trimmed rooms with polished oak columns framing the doorways between the rooms.  The entrance hall was oak paneled and featured an elegant open staircase.  I was impressed, as a child, by the leaded, beveled glass windows in that entrance hall and the way sunlight passing through them lit the room with a myriad of colors.

In the autumn of 1933, grandma Hartnett fell and broke her leg.  She was bed-ridden with that injury for several weeks.  My mother drove back and forth from Hubbard to Jackson every day to care for her mother in Jackson and her new baby (Gerald) in Hubbard.  Grandma finally got back on her feet but was forced to walk with a cane.  In December she went to Sioux City to do some Christmas shopping.   There she caught a cold that quickly turned to pneumonia.  My grandmother, Margaret “Madge” Killackey Hartnett died on January 8, 1934 at the age of 64 years and 9 months.  I was eleven years old at that time.xe "Hartnett:Margaret \"Madge\" Killackey"
John Killackey

John Killackey arrived in Dakota County when he was seven or eight years of age.  Shortly after coming to Nebraska, John began living with the William Farrell family.  It was not uncommon for a family to take an orphan into their household on a more or less permanent basis.  It appears that these orphan children were often not formally adopted but none-the-less became de facto members of the host family.  We have seen several instances of this practice.  For example, Catherine Long Schleich was raised by the Barrett family, Jerry Ryan was raised by the Boler family and several others.  There was obviously a quid-pro-quo between the host family and the child.  Farming being a labor-intensive enterprise, an extra pair of hands was not only welcome but also often quite necessary.  While it is probably true that many Dickensian tales could be documented where orphan children were treated as indentured servants, that was not the case between the Farrell family and John Killackey. The fact that he inherited land from William Farrell, the fact that his sisters were also welcomed to the Farrell household and that his sister Anna married Michael Farrell is ample evidence of a bond of love between John and the Farrells.  John attended school in the Bell School west of Hubbard.  xe "Killackey:John"

xe "Killackey:Catherine Ford"
John married Catherine Ford, who is recorded as teaching in public school #7 in Hubbard during the school year 1899-1900.  She may have taught other years as well.  John sold the land that he inherited to Patrick Farrell. He and Catherine then moved to Bloomfield, Nebraska where he operated a lumberyard.  They were the parents of four daughters:  Mercedes Moore, Marcella, Catherine Welfing and Helen. They also had three sons:  John, Richard and James.   xe "Killackey:John Jr."

xe "Killackey:James (John's Son)"

xe "Killackey:Richard"

xe "Killackey:Marcella"

xe "Moore:Mercedes Killackey"

xe "Welfing:Catherine Killackey"

xe "Farrell:Anna Killackey"

xe "Farrell:Michael"

xe "Farrell:Mike and Willie"

xe "Long:Richard (1879-1946)"
The family genealogical charts of the Lawless family and four generations of the Killackey family are on pages 154 through 160.

Genealogy of the Killackey and Lawless Families (Family Charts)
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 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of Thomas Lawless and Catherine Cassidy


Thomas Lawless 

Circa 1800 - 1810


Catherine Cassidy

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LAWLESS:Thomas"
Children


Bridget Lawless         

1835



12/18/1874


James Killackey         

1837



3/18/1875


Thomas Lawless 


Hannah ?


John Lawless  


4/28/1844   
Ordained    
c1896


Priest





6/24/1868

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of James Killackey and Bridget Lawless


James Killackey         

1837



3/18/1875


Bridget Lawless         

1835



12/18/1874

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:KILLACKEY: James and Bridget Lawless"
Children


James Edward Killackey     
c.1859



1921

   
Katherine Mulvy   





1923

   
Anna Killackey


12/23/1866
9 /1908

1954

   
Michael Farrell  


1864



1920


Margaret “Madge” Killackey  
4/7/1869    
1/11/1898
1/8/1934


Thomas J. Hartnett      

2/14/1862     


5/28/1950


John Killackey


10/4/1871


7/26/1967

   
Catherine Ford


5/22/1881
10/8/1902
12/14/1963





FAMILY CHART

================================================================

Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died
================================================================

Family of James E. Killackey and Katherine Mulvy

James Edward Killackey     c.1859




1921

Katherine Mulvy   





1923

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:KILLACKEY:James E. and Katherine Mulvy"
Children

James Francis Killackey    

10/11/1891     


3/6/1978

Anna McLaughlin

7/26/1893    
6/1/1919     
6/30/1971

“Kitty” Killackey

James Donovan

Mamie Killackey

Pat Jordan

Annie Killackey

 ? Burna

John Killackey

Unknown

Peter Killackey   






1966

Single

FAMILY CHART

================================================================

Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

================================================================

Family of James F. Killackey and Anna McLaughlin

James Francis Killackey  
10/11/1891     


3/6/1978

Anna McLaughlin
7/26/1893    
6/1/1919     
6/30/1971

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:KILLACKEY:James F. and Anne McLaughlin"
Children

James Francis Killackey 
3/13/1921

Ruth Tisdale



5/2/1942

Lawrence E. Killackey  
2/16/1923

Gertrude Haviland

Marilyn Killackey (adopted)

Frank J. Gironda

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of James F. Killackey and Ruth Tisdale


James Francis Killackey   

3/13/1921 


Ruth Tisdale      




5/2/1942

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:KILLACKEY:James F. Jr. and Ruth Tisdale"
Children


Carol Ann Killackey    

2/21/1943 


Leo Shallow


James F. Killackey      

8/17/1948       


Dalinda Peers     


3 /1968     

 
Marie E. Killackey      

9/15/1951 


Edwin Wilson


Robert P. Killackey     

12/7/1952 


Spouse Unknown


Jean M. Killackey

9/1/1954 


Spouse Unknown


Joanne F. Killackey     

2/14/1957 


Spouse Unknown


Janice F. Killackey      

2/14/1957 


Spouse Unknown


Note:    Joanne and Janice Killackey are identical twins.

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died
 ================================================================

Family of Lawrence E. Killackey and Gertrude Haviland


Lawrence Edward Killackey
2/16/1923

   
Gertrude Haviland

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:KILLACKEY:Lawrence"
Children


Joan Killackey


Spouse Unknown


Arlene Killackey


Spouse Unknown

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died
 ================================================================

Family of John Killackey and Catherine Ford


John Killackey


10/4/1871


7/26/1967 


Catherine Ford


5/22/1881
10/8/1902
12/14/1963

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:KILLACKEY:John and Catherine Ford"
Children


Mercedes Killackey

12/7/1903
6/17/1926
8/24/1997 


William Moore






1/13/1979


   5 children


John Killackey


6/27/1905 


Spouse Unknown


Marcella Killackey 

8/10/1906


Single


Catherine Killackey 

4/3/1909


? Welfing 


? Tezak

Richard Killackey 

7/21/1915


Spouse Unknown

Helen Killackey 


9/18/1916


Spouse Unknown


James Killackey 


Spouse Unknown

 CHAPTER VIII (Circa 1820 ()

THE WILCHECK AND PRIBYL FAMILIES

THE WILCHECK FAMILY

The spelling of the family name has varied over the years from Wilczek to Wilczic to Wilezek to Wilcheck.  Birth certificates and other records show the name as Welshuk, Wilzink, Wilechuck, Vierchock and Wylchek.  Many official record keepers in the past, however, are known to have been quite careless in name spellings.  It is now agreed that the proper spelling of the family name is “Wilcheck”.

Franz Wilczek (Wilcheck) and his wife, the former Franciska Dubinski came to Dorchester, Wisconsin from a village in Bohemia that is now part of the Czeck Republic near the East German border.  Even though they emigrated from Bohemia, the Wilczeks (Wilchecks) spoke German and were, in fact, German.  Over the years many Germans settled in northwest Bohemia but did not get along well with the Bohemians.  The German population remained in Bohemia, however, until they were forcibly removed in 1945 and deported back to East Germany.  The difficulties between the Germans and the Bohemians were the result of language differences and religious differences.  The Bohemians had been largely Catholic for several centuries, while the Germans, in that region, were largely Lutheran.  xe "Wilczek:Franz"

xe "Wilczek:Franciska"
When Franz and Franciska Wilczek (Wilcheck) came to the United States they purchased a farm near Dorchester where they raised their family and lived out their lives.  The inscription on Franz Wilczek’s tombstone discloses that he died in 1906 at the age of 82.  He was born, therefore, approximately in 1824.   There is no tombstone marking Franciska’s grave. 

It was with one of Margie’s uncles, Gabriel (Gubby)xe "Wilcheck:Gabriel \"Gubby\"", that Margie and I visited the grave of Franz Wilczek (Wilcheck) in Dorchester, Wisconsin.  Gubby was at that time about 65 years old.  He had not visited his grandfather’s grave since he was a small boy, yet he was able to find the grave without a moments hesitation.  Gubby didn’t remember his grandfather but told us what he had learned from his father.

Franz and Franciska Wilczek (Wilcheck) were the parents of two sons and two daughters.  I am not sure of the birth dates of the daughters but I know that John Theodore was born on November 4, 1863 and that his brother Anton was born in 1871.  xe "Wilezek:John Theodore"

xe "Wilczek:Anton (1871-1892)"
The Franz Wilczek (Wilcheck) family genealogical chart is shown on page 168.

One daughter, Anna Gelistel, continued to live in Dorchester.  The other daughter, Mrs. Krause, either remained in or returned to Bohemia.  She may have moved to Germany, was deported to Germany or the country’s boundaries changed.  In any event, her last known address was in the former country of East Germany.  Correxe "Gelistel:Anna Wilczek"

xe "Kraus:?? Wilczek"spondence between the Krause family and John Wilcheck, my father-in-law, shows that Mrs. Krause had two daughters, Martha and Rosa, and a son who served in the German army in World War I and was captured by a Wisconsin Army unit in France. xe "Kraus:Martha and Rosa"
The two sons, Anton and John Theodore, decided to move north from Dorchester, Wisconsin to Ironwood, Michigan in 1891 to seek employment in the iron-ore mines.  Anton began work as a pump man for the Aurora Mining Company.  On September 12, 1892, when he was 21 years old, Anton Wilczic was killed on the 8th level (about 800 feet deep) of Aurora Number 3 shaft when a dynamite explosion threw a rock against his stomach, partially disemboweling him.
   He lived three days before succumbing. 

John Theodore Wilezek (Wilcheck) took a job as a steam fitter for the Newport Mine where he worked for many years.  He married Agnes Pribyl in 1892. 

When John T. Wilczek (Wilcheck) and Agnes Pribylxe "Wilezek:John Theodore"

xe "Wilezek:Agnes Prybil" were married they purchased a house in Aurora Location in Ironwood.  They moved into that house as soon as they were married and they lived there for the rest of their lives.  The house itself, however, was moved about a quarter of a mile to 202 Flink Street, which is also in Aurora Location.

 In Ironwood, as well as in many Upper Peninsula mining towns, neighborhoods are called “locations” and are given the name of the mine around which the “location” grew. Thus “Aurora Location” was a neighborhood of homes near the “Aurora” Mine.       

The Wilcheck family, although John was German and Agnes was Bohemian, were members of St. Ambrose Catholic Parish in Ironwood while almost all of the Polish, Slovak, Bohemian and Croatian families left St. Ambrose and formed their own “Nationality” parishes.

St. Ambrose Parish was founded in 1886.  In 1891, several of the “Nationality” groups, those not fluent in the English Language, founded St. Michael’s Parish where they could utilize their native languages.  Later, in 1909, Slovak, Bohemian and Croatian Catholics left St. Michael’s in order to form Holy Trinity Parish but the Polish Catholics remained in St. Michael’s.  John and Agnes Wilezek and their family, however, remained in St. Ambrose for their entire lives.  All three parishes were later consolidated into Our Lady of Peace Parish.  Both Holy Trinity Church and St. Michael’s Church buildings were torn down.

John and Agnes were the parents of ten. Their children were: John Joseph, (my father-in-law), Frances Lucynski, Francis (Frank), Gertrude, Aloysius (Mulligan), Helen, Emil, Joseph, Engelbert, and Gabriel.  

The John T. Wilezek (Wilcheck) family genealogical chart is shown on page 169.  
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John J. and Mary Wilcheck’s Wedding Picture

Attendants 

Francis Wilcheck and Mary Moha (Mrs. Gottwald)

John Joseph
John Joseph, my father-in-law, was born in Aurora Location in Ironwood on December 11, 1892.  He attended public school in Ironwood. He also attended St. Ambrose School.  On September 4, 1922, John married Mary Magdeline Kapets.xe "Wilcheck:John J. (1892-1975)"

xe "Wilcheck:Mary M. Kapets (1903-1950)"
Soon after they were married, John purchased a little home at 204 Flink St. in Aurora Location in Ironwood. This house was next door to his parent’s house since John did not want to move even a few blocks away from his mother.  Mary, on the other hand, would have liked to have moved out of Aurora location and said so on several occasions.

John worked at the Pabst mine in Ironwood as a fireman in the boiler house of the electric generating station.  Later when the generating station was sold to Lake Superior District Power Co., John continued at the same job in the same place.  The mining company still paid him and his seniority with the mining company continued to accumulate.  The last few years of his career, when the electric power generating plant ceased operation, he worked with the surface crew at the Geneva Mine.  John retired in 1955.

John was never out of a job, even during the great depression, when the mines closed down due to economic conditions.  Electric power from the electric power generating plant where he worked was needed, even when the mine was not in operation, to operate the pumps, which had to operate continuously to keep the mine from flooding.  John worked even when the mineworkers were on strike.  He, and other mine maintenance personnel, did so with the full blessing of the union and his fellow workers.  It was obvious that if the power plant were to be shut down, the pumps could not operate.  The mine would then fill with water and the workers would have no job to return to when the strike ended. 

On October 9, 1950, John’s wife Mary died quite suddenly of a cerebral hemorrhage at the age of 47.  More about her later.  John died in Ironwood on February 26, 1975.

 John and Mary were the parents of three daughters, Margaret Mary, Mary Ann and Jean Theresa. 

xe "Long:Margaret M. \"Margie\" Wilcheck (1923-1982)"

xe "Fudaly:Mary A. Wilcheck"

xe "Forini:Jean T. Wilcheck"
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The John J. Wilcheck Family

Mary and John

Margaret “Margie”, Jean and Mary

Margaret Mary.

Margaret Mary (Margie) was born on the 4th of July 1923 in her maternal grandparent’s home at 619 Oak Street in Ironwood.

She was baptized, made her first holy communion and was confirmed in St. Ambrose Church in Ironwood.  Margie attended kindergarten and first grade through fourth grade in Ironwood public school.  Inasmuch as the Slovak and Bohemian languages were spoken at home, Margie could not speak English when she started kindergarten in what was then the Aurora school.  That school was soon demolished so she then attended the Norrie school.  Beginning with the fifth grade she attended St. Ambrose grade school and high school.  She graduated in June 1941.

After high school Margie studied nursing at St. Anthony’s hospital in Chicago.  The St. Anthony nursing program was a part of DePaul University.  She graduated in 1944, passed her State Board examinations and qualified as a Registered Nurse.  On May 23, 1945 Margie joined the United States Army Nurse Corps as a 2nd Lieutenant. She was inducted at Camp McCoy near Lacrosse, Wisconsin.  She was sent overseas aboard a hospital ship, which sailed out of New Orleans, Louisiana.  Hospital ships, during World War II were painted white and were well lighted so that they could be easily identified and thus be protected from enemy hostile action.  These ships themselves, however, were often old and in poor mechanical condition.  The ship sailed from New Orleans but had to be towed into Panama.  The nurses disembarked in Panama and waited there for the ship to be repaired.  Finally they boarded another “luxury” hospital ship and sailed out into the Pacific Ocean.  This ship had to be towed into Hawaii.  Again they disembarked in Hawaii, where they stayed for several weeks until another “luxury” hospital ship became available.  Again they boarded this third ship and sailed to Manila in the Philippine Islands.  This time they made it without being towed.  In the Philippines she was sent to the province (and town) of Batangas that is located on the island of Luzon about 130 kilometers south of Manila. She was assigned to the 153rd Station Hospital where she stayed until September 1946.  xe "Long:Margaret M. \"Margie\" Wilcheck (1923-1982)"
During that time I was assigned to Headquarters of Sub-Base R which headquarters was located in the bombed out provincial court house of Batangas.  The officers and men assigned to Headquarters lived in a nearby encampment.  I, however, was detailed as a maintenance and construction officer to an Engineer supply depot several miles away.  Other officers and I built a barracks at the depot in order to avoid traveling back and forth to headquarters.  We also found it necessary to find a place to eat.  I started to eat in the hospital officers club.  That is where I first met Margie.  The hospital chaplain, Father Tom Jones, a Holy Cross priest, who, in civilian life taught at Notre Dame University and later at Portland University, recruited me and other male voices for the choir that he was organizing to sing at Christmas midnight Mass.  Margie and other nurses also sang in that choir.  She and I kept company from that time until we were transferred back to the United States.  I was sent home first and a few months later she was returned  home.

She mustered out of the Army at Fort Sheridan on September 29, 1946.  She and I were married on May 3, 1947 as has been related earlier.  After we were married for 35 years, 5 months and 4 days, Margie died of a rare cancer known as Multiple Myloma in Lake Forest, Illinois on October 7, 1982.

Mary Ann

Mary Ann was the second Wilcheck daughter.  She also was born in Ironwood.  She was born June 11, 1925.  On February 16, 1952 she married Irving Fudaly in St. Ambrose Catholic Church in Ironwood.  They lived in Ironwood all of their lives.  Mary died at her home of a heart attack on August 20, 1998.  Irving died on Februaryxe "Fudaly:Mary A. Wilcheck"

xe "Fudaly:Irving" 21, 2000 after a long and arduous battle with cancer.

Mary and Irving are the parents of three sons and three daughters.  Their sons are Thomas, Paul and David.  Their daughters are Donna Rutlin, Therese Jesberg and Karen Simmons.

Their oldest son, Thomas was born on December 3, 1952 and died suddenly onFebruary 20,2009. After Tom  graduated from Ironwood High School he attended and graduated from Michigan Technological University with a degree in Civil Engineering.  He had been employed by the United States Government Bureau of Public Roads ever since.  Tom was married to Carol Peterson and they had one daughter, Christy. xe "Fudaly:Thomas"

xe "Fudaly:Carol Peterson"

xe "Fudaly:Christy"
Donna is the second in the family.  She is married to Mel Rutlin.  They have two daughters, Jennifer and Laura.  They live in New Berlin, WI, a suburb of Milwaukee.  xe "Rutlin:Donna Fudaly"

xe "Rutlin:Melvin"

xe "Rutlin:Jennifer"

xe "Rutlin:Laura"
Paul lives in Milwaukee, WI. He holds a degree in Civil Engineering from Michigan Technological University.  He is unmarried and is employed with the City of Milwaukee.  xe "Fudaly:Paul"
Therese is married to Ron Jesberg and they have three sons, Timothy, Jonathan and Samuel.  They live in Brooklyn Center, MN, a suburb of Minneapolis.xe "Jesberg:Therese Fudaly"

xe "Jesberg:Ron"

xe "Jesberg:Timothy"

xe "Jesberg:Jonathan"

xe "Jesberg:Samuel"
Karen is married to Mark Simmons.  They live in Grayslake, IL.  They have no children.xe "Simmons:Karen Fudaly"

xe "Simmons:Mark"
David graduated from Northern Michigan University with a degree in Business Administration.  He is unmarried and lives in Milwaukee.

Jean Theresa xe "Fudaly:David"
John and Mary Wilcheck’s third child is Jean Theresa Forini.  Jean was born in Ironwood, as were her sisters.  She was born on March 29, 1933.  Jean graduated from St. Ambrose High School in Ironwood. On July 10, 1965 she was married in St. Ambrose church to Joseph Forini.  Joe and Jean are the parents of a daughter, Jeanine.  Jeanine, in turn, after graduating from Ironwood Catholic High school, attended and graduated from Michigan State University with both a bachelors and a master’s degree in accounting.  Jeanine is a Certified Public Accountant and is employed in the Chicago area.  Joe was a mathematics teacher in Wakefield, MI and is now retired. They have resided in Ironwood all of their married life.xe "Forini:Jean T. Wilcheck"

xe "Forini:Joseph"

xe "Forini:Jeanine"
The John J. Wilcheck family genealogical charts are shown on pages 170 through 173.

Frances

Frances was John T. and Agnes’ second child.  She was born Januxe "Lucynski:Frances Wilcheck"ary 18, 1894, also in Aurora Location in Ironwood.  Frances attended St. Ambrose School.  She married Francis “Frank” Lucynski who was an electrical contractor in Bessemer, Michigan until he became ill with an extremely painful rheumatoid arthritis.  He was a complete invalid for the last 25 years of his life.  Frank and Francis were the parents of two daughters, Marjory and Evelyn.  Marjory married Louis Mascotti.  They had one daughter, Maria Grenfell, who was born May 4, 1947.  Evelyn married Dr. Peter Talso and they lived in Chicago where he practiced medicine and taught in a medical school.  Peter and Evelyn were the parents of one son and three daughters.  Frances died in 1982.  Frank and Frances Lucynski are buried in the municipal cemetery in Bessemer.

Francisxe "Lucynski:Frank"

xe "Mascotti:Louis"

xe "Mascotti:Marjory Lucynski"

xe "Grenfell:Maria Mascotti"

xe "Talso:Peter"

xe "Talso:Evelyn Lucynski"
John T. and Agnes’ third child was Francisxe "Wilcheck:Francis \"Frank\"".  He was born on January 25, 1895.  Francis was alternately known as “Frank” and “Handy”.  The nickname “Handy” was given to him because of his habit of saving almost any item that he could lay his hands on because it might come in handy.  Francis served in the army in France during World War I.  He spent most of the rest of his life in “retirement” as a disabled war veteran.  In 1935, the United States awarded eligible veterans a bonus amounting to several hundred dollars.  With his bonus, Francis purchased 160 acres of land adjacent to “Lost Lake” in Ironwood Township.  His widowed mother, Agnes, then purchased 480 more acres about a mile north of Frank’s land.  In order to purchase that property, she sold the property in Dorchester, WI that her husband had inherited from his father.  The purpose of the purchase was so that her sons could form a logging and lumber partnership known as Wilcheck Brothers.  They purchased a small portable sawmill and other equipment.  The business failed, however, and the land was thereafter used only for hunting and other leisure purposes. 

In his later years, Frank was confined to a nursing home.  His brother Aloysius, also known as Mulligan, who had been appointed by the court as Frank’s guardian, arranged for the sale of Frank’s land.  At the same time, the land that was purchased by their mother was also sold by Bert, by Frank’s estate and by Aloysius (Mulligan).  All three had an interest in that property.

Frank never married.  He died in a nursing home in Ironwood on December 3, 1982.

Gertrude

John T. and Agnes’ fourth child was Gertrude who was born on November 3, 1896.  Gertrude married Earl Kloeffer.  They were later divorced and had no children.  Gertrude worked in a factory in Chicago and when she retired, she moved back to Ironwood.  She too in her later years was confined to a nursing home in Ironwood until her death in 1982.

Aloysiusxe "Kloeffer:Gertrude Wilcheck"

xe "Kloeffer:Earl"
Aloysius Henry (Mulligan) was next in line.  Margie’s uncle Mulligan was the fifth child of John Theodore Wilezek (Wilcheck) and his wife Agnes.  He was born in Aurora Location in Ironwood on November 12, 1897.

“Sufferin’ cats.  The world is going to the dogs.”  is an expression that evokes in my children memories of Aloysius Henry Wilcheck who became known as “Mulligan” in early childhood.  He was nicknamed for a comic strip character that was popular in the early 1900’s.  He actually preferred to be called “Mulligan” rather than “Al”. He professed to intensely dislike the name “Aloysius”.xe "Wilcheck:Aloysius \"Mulligan\""
Mulligan came to our house practically every day.  He seldom if ever ate a meal in our house, yet Margie quite often cooked meals for her uncles Mulligan and Francis (Frank), which Mulligan would take home for them to eat.

He scolded my children constantly.  Even though he meant his scolding to be serious, my children didn’t take it too seriously.  They treated him with respect, yet never missed an opportunity to argue with him.  My children were never offended by Mulligan’s scolding.  They were always able to see through his “character” facade and found beneath that facade, a humble, somewhat confused, devout and gentle little man. 

Some of their favorite childhood memories center around Mulligan.  They often repeat a story of his backing his car over a lilac bush after they warned him that he was about to do so.  He not only destroyed the bush but also dragged it with his car all the way to his home in Aurora Location.  All the while he was completely unaware of what was happening and was lecturing them on careful driving.  Also unforgettable was his toothless rendition of Elvis Presley’s “You Ain’t Nothin’ But a Hound Dog”.

He worked as a plumber’s assistant most of his life.  He also worked for several years as a janitor and handy man at Trier’s Drug Store in Ironwood.  Mulligan was always very active in the Knights of Columbus.  He was their building custodian, on a part-time basis, for many years.  Mulligan was always a devout member of St. Ambrose Parish but confined most of his parish activities to Knights of Columbus activities.  When he was about 55 years old, Mulligan had one complete lung removed as well as part of the remaining lung.  While he was quite frail for the rest of his life, he remained active and vigorous until a year or two before he died.  He had a special relationship with our family.  Margie always watched over him, saw that he was properly fed and that he and Frank took their proper medicine in a timely manner.  In retrospect, it seems that he spent more time with my sons and daughters than I did.  In the fall he watched the Green Bay Packers every Sunday with our family, even though in his last years, in his confusion, he was usually cheering for Notre Dame.  In his dotage, he became increasingly frail, more and more confused and often quite cantankerous.  “Mulligan” died in Divine Infant of Prague Hospital in Wakefield on February 1, 1974 at the age of 76.

Helen

The sixth child of John T. and Agnes Wilcheck was Helen who was born February 18, 1901.  She married Ralph King and they had one son Robert.  Helen and her husband were divorced.  He remarried but she did not.  She worked in a factory in Chicago.  She and her sister Gertrude lived together, and together they raised Helen’s son, Robert.  She too moved back to Ironwood when she retired.  Helen died on September 17, 1982, while confined to a nursing home in Ironwood.  Her son Robert, who was married and the father of two sons, had died of heart failure several years earlier.

Emil  xe "King:Helen Wilcheck"

xe "King:Ralph"

xe "King:Robert"
Emil was the seventh one of the family.  He was born on November 22, 1902.  His wife’s name was Ida.  They had no children.  Emil lived in Milwaukee where he died on January 31,1946 at a relatively young age. Of the ten children of John T. and Agnes Wilcheck all lived to an advanced age except Emil and Joseph.xe "Wilcheck:Emil"

xe "Wilcheck:Ida"
Joseph died in 1906 when he was three years old. His death certificate lists his cause of death as “Croup”.

Bertxe "Wilcheck:Joseph"
Englebert “Bert”, John T. and Agnes’ ninth child, was born November 5, 1904.  Bert lived in Ironwood for most of his life.  He did, however, live in Kenosha, Wisconsin for a time while he worked for Nash-Kelvinator Corporation, an automobile manufacturing company.  When Bert returned to Ironwood, he worked for a mobile home manufacturing company for a time. He then worked for the city until he retired.  In 1937, Bert married Clara Beauchamp and they had two sons and two daughters.

Gabrielxe "Wilcheck:Englebert \"Bert\""
Gabriel “Gubby”, the youngest of the family, was born on December 8, 1906.  His birth record shows his name as “Andrew”, which was his middle name.  He graduated from St. Ambrose High School and attended Marquette University for a time.  He served in the Army during World War II from June 6, 1942 until November 11, 1945.  After his discharge, Gubby worked for the City of Ironwood as a fire fighter.  After several years, he left to go to Chicago where he worked for the City of Chicago until he retired.  Upon retirement, he returned to Ironwood where he lived in a small cabin on Luxmore Street.  One day, Gubby shot himself through his chest with a rifle in a suicide attempt.  Neighbors heard the shot and rushed him to Grand View Hospital where he recovered.  Apparently the bullet went all the way through his chest and came out through his back without seriously harming any vital organ.  When he had recovered from the bullet wound, Margie and I took him to Tomah, Wisconsin and admitted him to the Veterans Hospital for psychiatric evaluation and treatment.  When, on the way, we drove through Dorchester, Wisconsin, he recalled visiting his grandfather’s grave when he was a child.  We stopped at that cemetery and without hesitation; he walked directly to his grandfather’s grave, remembering its exact location since he was a child.  

After several months Gubby was moved to the Veterans Hospital in Woods, Wisconsin, near Milwaukee.  While there, he again attempted suicide.  This time he was successful.  He died by his own hand on October 14, 1972.  He is buried in the Veterans Cemetery in Woods, Wisconsin.  At the time of his death, he was using the name “Carl A. Wylchek” which is the name that is shown on his burial record and on his grave marker.  Gubby never married and was somewhat of a “loner”.  It often was difficult to engage him in conversation.  He was an extremely lonely man, filled with self-doubts and therefore often very defensive and quarrelsome.  He was, however, an interesting and likable person once his “armor” was pierced.xe "Wilcheck:Gabriel \"Gubby\""
It is interesting to note that the spelling of the name “WILCHECK” not only varied from generation to generation but also within the same family.  As an illustration the following list of birth records of the children of John T. Wilezek and Agnes Pribyl shows variations in that family:




Gogebic County Michigan Birth Records

Name



Date of Birth
Page
Record

John Wilczink


Sept. 11, 1893
226
1579

Frances Agnes Wilcheck

Jan. 18, 1894
No Record

Francis Wilcheck


Jan. 25, 1895
296
2066

Gertrude Wilechuck

Nov.3, 1896
393
2746

Alois Vierchock


Nov. 12, 1897
438
3060

Helen Wilcheck


Feb. 18, 1901
631
4343

Amel Wilcheck


Nov.22, 1902
696
4801

Inglebert Wilcheck

Nov.5, 1904
789
5448

Andrew Welshuk


Dec. 8, 1906
899
6219

In spite of the various spellings of their name on their respective birth records, all persons in this and subsequent families spelled their names “Wilcheck”. It should be noted that John Wilcheck’s date of birth on his birth record is incorrect.

On this and the following pages are the family genealogical charts of the Wilcheck families.

Genealogy Of The Wilcheck Families (Family Charts)

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of Franz and Franciska Wilczek (Wilcheck)


Franz Wilczek            

c.1824                   

1906

       
Franciska Dubinski

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:WILCZEK:Franz and Franciska"
Children


John T. Wilezek     

11/4/1863  


11/3/1933


Agnes Pribyl 


1872  

1892 

6/4/1953

 
Anton Wilczic


1871 



9/12/1892


Single


Anna Wilczek


? Gelistel


? Wilczek


? Krause

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of John T. and Agnes Wilezek (Wilcheck)


John T.Wilezek           

11/4/1863              

11/3/1933


Agnes Pribyl             

1872        
1892       
6/4/1953

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:WILEZEK:John T. and Agnes"
Children


John J. Wilcheck         

12/11/1892   


2/26/1975


Mary M. Kapets 


11/25/1903  
9/4/1922   
10/9/1950


Frances Agnes Wilcheck         
1/18/1894    


1982


Frank Lucynski


Francis A.Wilcheck   

1/25/1895    


12/3/1982


Single


Gertrude Wilcheck    

11/3/1896    


1982


Earl Kloeffer


Al “Mulligan” Wilcheck         
11/12/1897   


2/1/1974


Single


Helen Wilcheck       

2/18/1901    


9/17/1982


Ralph King


Emil Wilcheck        

11/22/1902    


1/31/1946


Ida ?


Joseph Wilcheck      

1903         


1906


Baby

 
Englebert Wilcheck   

11/5/1904


6/29/1994

 
Clara Beauchamp        

2/21/1912
8/28/1937
6/19/2006

 
Gabriel Wilcheck     

12/8/1906    


10/14/1972


Single

FAMILY CHARTS

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of John J. and Mary Wilcheck


John J. Wilcheck         

12/11/1892             

2/26/1975


Mary M. Kapets           

11/25/1903  
9/4/1922   
10/9/1950

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:WILCHECK:John J. and Mary"
Children


Margaret Mary Wilcheck  

7/4/1923   
5/3/1947   
10/7/1982


Kenneth E. Long          

7/19/1922

               Mary Ann Wilcheck        

6/11/1925    
2/16/1952
8/20/1998

               Irving Fudaly            

7/1/1920



2/21/2000

               Jean Theresa Wilcheck    

3/29/1933   
7/10/1965

               Joseph Forini            

9/9/1936

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of Kenneth and Margaret Long


Kenneth E. Long          

7/19/1922


Margaret Mary Wilcheck     
7/4/1923    
5/3/1947   
10/7/1982 


Mary Kay Grzan Berglund   
6/27/1922   
4/13/1985

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:LONG:Kenneth and Margaret"
Children
Margaret Wilcheck’s children


Rosemary Long                  
4/16/1949


Single


Theresa Jean Long                
6/5/1950

12/29/2000


Christopher Michael Rodgers
8/15/1951


Richard John Long          

12/11/1951


       
Beatrice “Gail” Blaylock       
12/19/1955
6/21/1979


Kathleen Marie Long        

3/5/1953    
9/26/1981

       
William S. Narrigan            
4/30/1952

       
Maureen Ann Long                
6/15/1954


Single


Gregory Benedict Long      
12/3/1955


Single


Steven Joseph Long           
8/6/1957

             
Isabel M. Figueroa       

12/21/1955
8/20/1994

       
Jane Frances Long              
3/3/1959

11/13/1999


Erik V. Sprenne


9/25/1953


Daniel Edward Long          
1/21/1965


Single

Mary Grzan Berglund had no children.

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of Irving and Mary Fudaly


Mary Ann Wilcheck        

6/11/1925    
2/16/1952
8/20/1998


Irving Fudaly            

7/1/1920



2/21/2000

----------------------------------------------------------------
Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:FUDALY:Irving and Mary"

Thomas Fudaly            

12/3/1952


2/20/2009


Carol Peterson           

9/13/1961
5/12/1984


    Christy              

 8/30/1988


Donna Fudaly             

9/14/1954


Melvin Rutlin               

3/26/1948


    Jennifer             

3/11/1980


    Laura              


1/12/1983


Paul Fudaly              

1/29/1956


Single


Therese Fudaly           

1/6/1957


Ron Jesberg              

7/14/1958


    Timothy              

10/15/1984


    Jonathan             

3/12/1987


    Samuel               

5/22/1991


Karen Fudaly             

6/27/1958


Mark Simmons             

7/8/1960


David Fudaly             

2/13/1964


Single

FAMILY CHART

================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of Joseph and Jean Forini


Jean Theresa Wilcheck    

3/29/1933   
7/10/1965

             
Joseph Forini            

9/9/1936

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:FORINI:Joseph and Jean"
Children


Jeanine Forini           

4/27/1966


Single

THE PRIBYL FAMILY

[image: image15.png]



The Matthias Pribyl Family

Ironwood  1905

                                             Mary Pribyl   Agnes Pribyl   Kathern   Thomas  Matthias


         


   Novotney       Wilcheck       Pribyl       Pribble     Pribyl

The Children

Mary Novotney            Frances Wilcheck

Bottichio                    Lucynski     

Agnes Pribyl Wilezek (Wilcheck) was the oldest child of Matthias Pribyl and Kathern Prohaska.  xe "Wilezek:Agnes Prybil"

xe "Prybil:Matthias"

xe "Prybil:Kathern Prohaska"
Matthias and Kathern Pribyl were the parents of a family of seven, four daughters and three sons.  Matthias arrived in the United States in 1891 together with his oldest daughter Agnes who was then about 19 years old.  They came from a small village in western Bohemia named Vlenovech, which is near Prague in what is now the Czech Republic.  When Matthias came to the United States, he worked in the Ironwood area as a mason.  In 1897, after he had saved enough money, he brought his wife and the rest of his family to the United States.  When they came to America, Frank was 22 years old, Mary was 20 years old, Anastasia was 17 years old, John was 14 and Thomas, the youngest, was 9 years old.  A baby, Christine, died in the old country when she was 2 years of age.  She was born in 1885 or 1886.  By the time the rest of the family came to America, Agnes was 25 years old, had been married to John Theodore Wilezek (Wilcheck) for some 6 years and was the mother of 4 children.  

Agnes

Agnes Pribyl Wilcheck was a very small lady, being less than 5 feet tall.  She enticed a strong loyalty from her family, especially from her sons.  For her sons, it was almost an incontrovertible fact that, throughout their lives, they must live practically in the same block as their mother.  Sibling rivalry among the brothers was intense.  Winning her approval was a dominant force in all of their lives.  Agnes was a loving, devout, extremely gentle, soft spoken little lady, yet no Queen ever held sway over her subjects as she held sway over her sons.  She lived in the family home some 20 years after her husband, John T, died on November 3, 1933. She always had at least 2 or 3 of her children living with her.  In her advanced years, she became quite frail.  Margie was called upon quite often to tend to her needs such as bathing her and caring for her when she was ill and seeing that she was taking her medicine properly when she was able to be up and around.  She died at home on June 4, 1953 at the age of 81. 

Frank

Frank Pribyl was the second child of Matthias and Kathern.  He was born in 1875 in Bohemia.  He and his wife Anna had a daughter and two sons.  The daughter, Marie, married Roy Skipton.  The oldest son, Frank, married Ann Newman and Joseph, the youngest son married Catherine Janitus. xe "Prybil:Frank (1875-?)"
Mary

Mary Novotney was the third child born to Matthias and Kathern Pribyl.  She was born in Bohemia on December 8, 1877.  After coming to the United States, she met John Novotney in Chicago and married him in 1901.  The Novotneys had three daughters.  The first, Mary, married Battista Bottichio.  They in turn had a son and a daughter.   The second Novotney daughter, Margaret, married John Brose.  The third Adelle Lucille, who was born on December 9, 1915, married Toivo “Tibby” Aho.  Lucille and Tibby in turn had a  son Mark and a daughter Adelle Rottenbucher.  xe "Novotney:Mary Prybil"

xe "Novotney:John"

xe "Bottichio:Mary Novotney"

xe "Aho:Lucille A. Novotney"
John Novotney died on March 7, 1945 and his wife, Mary, died on February 11, 1950.  

Anastasia

Anastasia was their fourth child.  She married Benjamin Mattes and they had a family of three daughters and a son.   Anna, the oldest married Frederick Lex.  Elizabeth Ann, the second, married Arthur Herbert.  Roselle married Harry Verle.  Joseph Conrad Mattes, their son, was born on February 19, 1918.  He remained single and lived with his mother until she died in 1958 and then by himself in the family home until he died on February 18, 1969.  xe "Mattes:Anastasia Prybil"

xe "Mattes:Benjamin"

xe "Mattes:Joseph"
John

John J. “Shorty” Pribyl, who was born in 1883, was the fifth child of Matthias and Kathern.  He married Mary Gerovac in Holy Trinity Church in 1920.  They were the parents of three.  Frank Jr., the oldest, was born in 1921. He lived in Ironwood, MI. all his life.  He graduated from Ironwood High School in 1941 and served in the army during World War II.  Frank worked for a short time in the Peterson Mine near Bessemer, MI.   He also worked for a mobile home manufacturing company until it closed.  He then worked for the Michigan State Highway Department for a short time.  Frank then worked for the City of Ironwood until he retired.  He married Frances McMullen and they had three children.  He then divorced Frances and married Christine Stano.  While on a religious pilgrimage to Medjegoric, Bosnia-Hercegovina, Frank died in Dubrovnik, Croatia on May 21, 1990.  xe "Prybil:John"

xe "Prybil:Mary Gerovac"

xe "Prybil:Frank (1921-1990)"
John and Mary Pribyl also had two daughters, Lillian and Frances.  Lillian married Joseph Danowski and Frances married Edward Danowski.  The two Danowskis were first cousins.  xe "Danowski:Lillan Prybil"

xe "Danowski:Frances Prybil"
Thomas

Thomas S. who spelled his name “Pribble” was the youngest one of the family of Matthias and Kathern Pribyl.  Thomas married Helen Jungo and they lived in Anvil location, near Bessemer, Michigan.  They had a family of five daughters and a son. Their oldest daughter, Lucille, married Chester Sanders.   They live in Adrian, Michigan.  Their second daughter was Leona Hewitt, who lives in Orlando, Florida.  The third was Jean Lera, also of Orlando.  Thomas and Helen Pribble’s fourth daughter was Mary Helen.  She married Carlo Heikenen.  Carlo was a teacher and then superintendent of schools in Erwin Township, near Ironwood.   Later he became superintendent of schools for the Coldwater, Michigan school system.  They now live in Ann Arbor, Michigan.  Thomas, their son, was the fifth child in the family and Nancy Fassbender of Marquette, Michigan, was the youngest.  xe "Pribble:Thomas"

xe "Pribble:Helen Jungo"
Matthias and Kathern Pribyl are buried in Riverside Cemetery in Ironwood.  Their grave markers show no last names, only the words “Michael” “1838-1925” and “Kathern” “1848-1927”.  He evidently used the name “Michael” as well as the name “Matthias”.  His granddaughter, Lucille Aho, says that his correct name was Matthias.  

The Matthias Pribyl family genealogical chart is on page 176.

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Genealogy of the Matthias and Kathern Pribyl family (Family Charts)


Matthias Pribyl          

1838                   


7/7/1925


Kathern Prohaska               
1848                   


6/1/1927

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:PRYBIL:Matthias and Kathern"
Children

  
Agnes Pribyl 


1872  

1892 

6/4/1953

  
John T.Wilezek (Wilcheck)
11/4/1863  


11/3/1933

 
Frank Pribyl 


1875 



1937


Anna ?

 
Mary Pribyl  


12/8/1877  
1901

2/11/1950

 
John Novotney


1874 



3/7/1945

Anastasia Pribyl  


1879 



1958

 
Benjamin Mattes   





1947

 
John Pribyl  


1883 



1956

 
Mary Gerovac 


1886 

1920

1974

 
Christine Pribyl


1885 or 1886


1887 or 1888


Died while a baby

Thomas Pribble     

1887 



1975

 
Helen Jungo  


1898 



1988

CHAPTER IX (Circa 1870(()

THE KAPETS AND SEMENAK FAMILIES

Stephen Kapets was one of three children of  Andrew Kapecz (Kapets) and Anna Myeski.

The Andrew Kapets family genealogical chart is on page 181
Stephen Kapets, like many other pioneers of the Gogebic Range, immigrated to the United States on, what was planned to be, a temporary basis.  The idea was to earn money in the iron ore mines of the Gogebic-Iron Ore Range of Northern Wisconsin and Upper Michigan, and then return to the old country.  Stephen and his wife, Mary Semenak, came from Hradec, Zupa Saras, Slovakia to Iron Belt, Wisconsin in 1902.  

While they were living in Iron Belt, their four children were born.  The oldest of their family was Mary Magdeline, Margie’s mother and my mother-in-law.  She was born on November 25, 1903.  The other three were Rudy, Ann and John.  xe "Kapets:Stephan"

xe "Kapets:Mary Semenak"

xe "Kapets:Rudy"

xe "Kapets:John (1907-1932)"
The Stephen Kapets family genealogical chart is on page 182. 

In 1908, Stephen’s wife, Mary returned to Slovakia, along with their four children.  About 6 years later, in 1914, she died of pneumonia. World War I, then in progress, precluded the children from returning to their father in America.  The four children remained in Slovakia with their maternal grandmother until she died in 1921.

Prior to World War I, the Slovak people formed a national group, living chiefly in the northwest portions of Hungary.  The Slovaks lived under Hungarian rule and, later, that of the Austro-Hungarian Empire and were continually oppressed.  After the collapse of Austria-Hungary, the Slovak national council, in 1918, declared its intention of uniting politically with the Czechs.  Social and political unrest attained revolutionary proportions in Hungary during the winter of 1918-1919.  A communist government was established for a short time in Hungary and an armed conflict developed between the Czechs and the Hungarians.  During that conflict, Hungarian soldiers billeted themselves in the home where the Kapets children were living with their maternal grandmother.  During that period the soldiers helped themselves to the family’s provisions as well as furniture and utensils.  The family ate only what the soldiers left and occupied only those parts of their own house that the soldiers permitted them to occupy.  During that period of time, in 1919, one of the children, Ann, died of pneumonia.  The Treaty of Trianon, which was signed at the Grand Trianon, Versailles, France, required Hungary to cede Slovakia to Czechoslovakia.  Slovakia then became a province of Czechoslovakia until it became an independent state on January 1, 1993.

The grandmother, Susie Semenak died in 1921.  We do not know her age but we do know that Andrew and Susie Semenak, were the parents of five children, Mary Kapets, my wife Margie’s grandmother, Susan Sabol, Anna Novak, Charles Semenak and Dorothy Kapets.  

The Semenak family genealogical chart is on page 184.

The children of Andrew and Susie Semenak:

Mary

Mary Semenak Kapets was the oldest.  She was born in Slovakia approximately in 1883.  We know very little about her except that she came to the United States in 1902, probably soon after she was married, gave birth to her four children in the United States and then returned to Slovakia where she died in 1914. 

Susan

The second Semenak child was Susan, who married John Sabol and lived in Cleveland, Ohio after she came to the United States.  They had a family of five: Mary, Ann, Andrew, John and Margaret.xe "Sabol:Susan Semenak"
Anna

Anna Semenak Novak, the third child, was born in 1887 in Slovakia. When she moved to the United States she married John Novak who was 6 years her senior.  They lived and raised their family of two sons and four daughters in Windber, Pennsylvania, a small town near Johnstown.  xe "Novak:Anna Semenak"

xe "Novak:John"
The oldest Novak daughter, Mary, married John Kowanchik and they lived with her parents in Windber until her mother, Anna, died in 1949 and her father, John Novak died in 1951.  Mary and John Kowanchik continued to live, for a time, in the Novak family home. They later moved to Johnstown.  They had no children.  

John Novak, Anna and John’s second child, married Ann Uranseck.  They in turn had three children, John, Roseanne and Patti.

The third Novak child, Margaret, died in 1939. She was never married.

Anna Novak married John Slarc and they in turn had a daughter, Patricia who is a registered nurse.

The youngest son, Joseph Novak, who was born on October 8, 1923, married Alene Butler.  Joseph died on April 11, 1954.  His widow later married her husband’s first cousin, Charles (Chugga) Kapets, who was also Margie’s uncle.

Charlesxe "Novak:Joseph"

xe "Kapets:Charles \"Chugga\""

xe "Kapets:Alene Butler Novak"
The only Semenak son was Charles, who lived in Jersey City, New Jersey.  Charles died in 1972 at the age of 83 so therefore was born in 1889.  Charles was born, grew up and was married in Slovakia.  His wife and daughter, however, never came to the United States.xe "Semenak:Charles (1889-1972)"
Dorothy

Dorothy Semenak Kapets was born on December 8, 1892 in Slovakia. In 1917, she married her late sister’s widower, Stephen Kapets.  Subsequently, Stephen’s daughter Ann died in 1919 in Slovakia.  Stephen then sent for his three remaining children.  They arrived back in the United States from Slovakia late in 1921.  He and Dorothy, by then, had two more children.  Charles (Chugga), was born in 1918, and Margaret Kapets Burns, in 1920.  xe "Kapets:Dorothy Semenak (1892-"

xe "Kapets:Stephan"

xe "Burns:Margaret Kapets"
Children of Stephen and Mary Semenak Kapets: 

Mary

When Mary Kapets and her two brothers arrived back in the United States, she was 18 years of age.  The day after she arrived in Ironwood, she was employed as a maid in the Dr. Matejeski residence.  She worked there until she was married to John Wilcheck, less than a year later

Mary Magdeline Kapets and John Joseph Wilcheck were married in Holy Trinity Catholic Church in Ironwood, Michigan before Father Sprajcar on September 4, 1922.  As soon as they were married, they moved into a small house at 204 Flink Street in Aurora Location in Ironwood.  They were the parents of three daughters, Margaret Mary “Margie”, my wife, Mary Ann Fudaly and Jean Theresa Forini.  xe "Wilcheck:Mary M. Kapets (1903-1950)"

xe "Wilcheck:John J. (1892-1975)"

xe "Long:Margaret M. \"Margie\" Wilcheck (1923-1982)"

xe "Fudaly:Mary A. Wilcheck"

xe "Forini:Jean T. Wilcheck"
Mary, although she was born in the United States, spent most of her formative years in Slovakia, and therefore spoke with a foreign accent.  Her daughters spoke only English at home.  The family often used two languages in a conversation with one person speaking in Slovak and the other answering in English.  These two language conversations often involved Mary’s stepmother, Dorothy, who was called “Bubba” a Slovak word that simply means “lady”.  I was first exposed to two language conversations when Margie’s mother first introduced me to Bubba.  Mary spoke only English, Bubba spoke Slovak to Mary and English to me and I, in turn, was speechless.  

Later that day, when Mary and Bubba were talking by themselves, I noticed that Bubba spoke Slovak and Mary, to my surprise, spoke only English.  All three of Mary’s daughters understood every word that was spoken in Slovak yet none of them were conversant in that language.  Mary lived next door to her mother-in-law and about two blocks from her stepmother.  Her husband’s family were in her house practically every day.  They all confided in her and she befriended them, listened to their problems and refereed their arguments.  She was also very solicitous of her stepmother, Dorothy, who lived alone in her advanced years, and relied heavily on Mary and her daughters.  Dorothxe "Kapets,Dorothy Semenak"y outlived Mary, however, and died on January 28, 1953 in Ironwood, Michigan.  

In June 1950, when our daughter, Theresa, was born, Mary came to Milwaukee to stay with us for the purpose of helping Margie.  She attended my graduation from Marquette University and then went back to Ironwood.  

In the early evening of October 9, 1950 her daughter, Mary, called us to tell us that Mary had died.  That day Mary suffered a massive cerebral hemorrhage and lived only a few hours. 

Rudy

Mary’s brother Rudy joined the navy and was a career sailor.  He married and lived in California after he retired and until his death in 1951 at the age of 47. 

Ann

Mary’s sister Ann died when she was about 13 years of age.  

John xe "Kapets:Rudy"
Mary’s brother John stayed in Ironwood.  He never married and died of pneumonia in 1932 at the age of 25.

Children of Stephen and Dorothy Semenak Kapets

Charles

Mary’s  half-brother, Charles, was born in 1918 in Ironwood, Michigan.  As soon as he graduated from high school he moved to Detroit, Michigan and took a job as a machinist in a machine tool factory.  When he was about 55 years old, he married Alene Butler Novak, the widow of his first cousin, Joseph Novak.  They purchased a home in Royal Oak, Michigan where they lived until his death in 1978.

Margaretxe "Kapets:John (1907-1932)"
Mary’s half-sister, Margaret, moved to Chicago soon after graduating from high school.  She married Albert Burns and they were the parents of two daughters.  The oldest, Paula McKinney lives in Texas and the youngest, Kathy Lyse, lives in Bollingbrook, Illinois. 

xe "Burns:Margaret Kapets"
Stephen Kapets’ brother, Anton came to the Gogebic range area probably at the same time Stephen did.  While Stephen settled in Iron Belt, Wisconsin, Anton settled in Ironwood, Michigan, only 10 or 15 miles away and worked in the Aurora mine.  Anton’s wife’s name was Anna Silvasy.  They were the parents of a family of nine, five sons and four daughters.  The sons were Charles, Anthony, John, Joseph and Philip.  The daughters were Mary (Mrs. Peter Sertich), Anna (Mrs. Gerald Malcolm), Helen, (Mrs. LeRoy Selzer) and Justine (Mrs. Elmer Carlson).  xe "Kapets:Anton"

xe "Kapets:Ann Silvasy"
The Anton Kapets family genealogical chart is on page 183.

Charles married Ann Valeria Kutch.  They were married in her hometown, Bradford, Pennsylvania, a suburb of Pittsburgh, where they lived for about a year.   They then moved back to his hometown, Ironwood, Michigan where they lived for the rest of their lives.  They were the parents of a son Charles and a daughter Dolores Jacisin.  Their son, Charles Jr., married Genevieve Archambeau and they in turn were the parents of two daughters.  The daughter, Dolores and her husband, Paul, had no children.

Mary Kapets married Peter Sertich and they lived in Chicago.

Anthony Kapets died when he was 21 years of age and had never married.

Joseph was married to Ruth Holst.  They lived on Sunset Road in Ironwood.  

John married Lucille Piasecki.  They too lived in Ironwood all their lives.  John was employed by the City of Ironwood and worked for the Water Department.

Anna Kapets married Gerald Malcolm and they lived in Chicago

Helen married LeRoy Selzer, divorced him and married Thomas Klaybouge then in turn divorced him and married LeRoy Selzer again.  They lived in Chicago.  

Philipxe "Kapets, Philip" was a sailor who worked on ships that carried iron ore on the Great Lakes from Duluth, Minnesota to the steel mills in Gary, Indiana or Cleveland, Ohio.  On November 29, 1966 he lost his life at age 51 in a shipwreck when the Ore Carrier Daniel J. Morrell went down in a storm on Lake Huron.  Philip was married to Florence (Dolly) La Forge.

Justine Kapets was married to Elmer Carlson and they lived in Wilmette Illinois.  

.  

Genealogy Of The Andrew And Anna Kapets Families  XE "FAMILY CHARTS:KAPETS: Andrew"  (Family Charts)

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died
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Family of Andrew and Anna Kapets XE "FAMILY CHARTS:KAPETS: Andrew" 

Andrew Kapecz (Kapets)


Anna Myeski

------------------------------------------------------------------

Children

Anton Peter Kapets

6/13/1870


7/9/1932


Anna Justine Silvasy

5/15/1882
2/17/1900
11/17/1957


Stephen Kapets


7/8/1880



3/20/1939


Mary Semenak


1883



1914




Dorothy Semenak

12/8/1892
10/18/1917
1/28/1953


Andrew Kapets

FAMILY CHARTS

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
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Family of Stephen, Mary and Dorothy Kapets


Stephen Kapets           

7/8/1880                  

3/20/1939


Mary Semenak             

1883                   


1914


Dorothy Semenak          

12/8/1892             10/18/1917
1/28/1953

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:KAPETS:Stephan, Mary and Dorothy"
Children

Mary Semenak’s Children


Mary M. Kapets     

11/25/1903  
9/4/1922   
10/9/1950


John J. Wilcheck   

12/11/1892 


2/26/1975


Rudy Kapets  


1904 



6//1951


Unknown


Ann Kapets   


1906 
 


1919


Single


John Kapets  


1907 



1932


Single

Dorothy Semenak’s Children


Charles “Chugga” Kapets 

1918 



1978


Alene Butler Novak


Margaret Louise Kapets    

6/20/1920
9//1949

6/9/1983


Albert Burns


1912



11/9/1975

FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================


 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died
 ================================================================

Family of Anton and Anna Kapets


Anton Peter Kapets

6/13/1870


7/9/1932

           
Anna Justine Silvasy

5/15/1882
2/17/1900
11/17/1957

----------------------------------------------------------------

Childrenxe "FAMILY CHARTS:KAPETS:Anton and Ann Silvasy"

Charles “Gibbs” Kapets         
1/16/1901              

4/26/1978

           
Ann Valeria Kutch              
1910            
10/6/1925
12 /1986

        Mary Gertrude Kapets

9/11/1902
6/28/1920
2/11/1992


Peter Sertich


6/21/1892


8/4/1952


Anthony Peter Kapets

6/13/1904


10/7/1922


Single


Joseph Steven Kapets

9/23/1906


9/21/1990



Ruth Evaline Holst

8/6/1906

9/21/1934


John Batholemew Kapets

8/12/1908


11/26/1990


Lucille Piasecki


12/13/1908
6/28/1937


Anna Magdaline Kapets

5/22/1910
8/31/1934
11/6/1990


Gerald Malcolm


2/16/1909


5/25/1990

    
Helen Florence Kapets

3/12/1912
8/22/1934
4/16/1994


Peter LeRoy Selzer

10/11/1909


11/14/1971


Philip Eugene Kapets        

5/4/1915               

11/29/1966

           
Florence “Dolly” LaForge

10/7/1915
1/18/1936
11/15/1989


Justine Lorraine Kapets

5/3/1920

5/3/1941

10/28/1965


Elmer Walter Carlson

3/18/1918


9/29/1992



Genealogy Of The Andrew And Susie Semenak Families (Family Chart)
FAMILY CHART

 ================================================================

No.
 Name/ Spouse 

Born 

Married 
Died

 ================================================================

Family of Andrew and Susie Semenak


Andrew Semenak


Susie Wasic                                 




1921( 

----------------------------------------------------------------

xe "FAMILY CHARTS:SEMENAK, Andrew"
Children

Mary Semenak             

1883                   


1914


Stephen Kapets           

7/8/1880                   

3/20/1939

       
Susan Semenak

       
John Sabol

       
Anna Semenak                   
1887                   


1949

       
John Novak                     

1881



1951

Charles Semenak                
1889                   


1972


Unknown

Dorothy Semenak          

12/8/1892             10/18/1917
1/28/1953


Stephan Kapets           

7/8/1880              


3/20/1939
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MOORE
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William and Kathleen, 94
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SCHLEICH
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Erik and Jane, 96
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James, 71
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Ralph, 50
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ADDENDA et CORREGENDA

This work was accepted by the United States Library of Congress for inclusion in its permanent collection on October 15, 2003.

I have attempted to record births, deaths and other significant events that have occurred subsequent to that date into this record.

Events, of which I am aware, and their dates that have occurred since October 15, 2003 are:

· Kimberly Ann Long

               and Randy Daniel Jungers (born 12/7/1979) were married 7/31/2004   
     see pages 86 & 93

· Beatrice “Gail” Blaylock Long died 10/20/2005
  
              see pages 86, 92 & 93

· Daniel E. Long earned his MBA and has changed his occupation

see page
87

· Thomas R. “Bob” Hartnett died 10/8/2005




see page 143

· Daniel Edward “Ned” Hartnett died 6/16/2006



see page 143

· Clara Beauchamp Wilcheck died 6/19/2006




see page 169

· Jayne Lee Grandaw, daughter of Casandra Jane Long and Dylan Lee Grandaw


 was born 7/16/2005






see page 101

· Brian Thomas Long and Joy ?? were married 11/5/2005


see page 100

· David Edward Hartnett died 8/29/2006




see page 145

· Correct Nellie Moriarty Hartnett to Ellen “Nellie” Moriarty Hartnett  See pages 117, 127 & 138

· Mary Harty Edler died 2/2/2007 on her 80th birthday.

(
Thomas E. Long Died 4/19/2007 At age 80.                                

(   
Additions were made to the John Hartnett Sr. story relating the fact of his employment as a railroad worker and his ownership of land in Madison County, IL

see page 118
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 Patrick Long`	Mary M. ?
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 Mary Long        Ellen Long            Thomas Long      Margaret Long       Julia Long


            James Hagan      John Heffernan       Bridget Butler      Joseph Reilly        Andrew Lehey	  	                              				             Mary Purcell 


	      Catherine Long	Bridget Long	  Walter Long 


	       James Lehey 	              John Rooney	   Mary Daley                                          














                                          Bridget Butler      Thomas D. Long Sr.            Mary Purcell


 (1835?-1872)      	         (1836-1883)                 (1840-1888)











	Anna Long	Thomas B. Long	      Patrick Long		Richard Long	Catherine Long


	John Heffernan	Mary Duggan	     Caroline Richleu	  Mary Crowe	John Schleich








		Walter Long	    Mary Ann Long	Michael Long	   John Long


	           Molly McCormak	         Al Rice		Julia Mullaly	Nellie McDonough









































          Thomas B. Long  	              Mary Duggan


             (1865-1934)          	             (1866-1936)








          T. Edward Long              Francis J. Long	    Bridget Long


            Gertrude Hall		  Single	                   Frank Walsh





	               M. Helen Long	        Catherine V. Long	   J. Benedict Long


	                       Single		Jack Miley	   Rose A. Hartnett

















THE THOMAS B. LONG FAMILY











J. Benedict Long	          Rose A, Hartnett


				(1900-1954)	     (1900-1997)














       Kenneth E. Long	      Thomas E. Long        J. Bernard Long	 Eleanor P. Long


       Margaret Wilcheck	     Dorothy Bergman 	      Single	  Arthur Hoch


       Mary Grzan Berglund


       	           


  Margaret M. Long          Monica E. Long   	   Gerald D. Long	        J. Michael Long


	                 George Dyrssen	             Kurt Luenser	     Single	         Debbie Wilson








Daniel Hartnett		     Margaret Casey


			           (1855-1937)	             (1858-1942)








   John Hartnett         Joseph Hartnett           Margarite Hartnett         James Hartnett        Raymond Hartnett


 Mary Callaghan        Ethel Rice                   Owen Beacom           Claire Kavanaugh  Margaret Harrrington


                                                                                                                                              Ann Hennigan





	Mary Hartnett	  Thomas Hartnett	  Daniel L. Hartnett	William Hartnett


	  John Hayes	Alma Fredrickson	      Pearl Harty		 Eleanor Lynch


									     Louise ?








James Hartnett	Ellen “Nellie” Moriarty


	       (1857-?)








Carmel Hartnett


(No Children)











John Hartnett	Margaret McShane


			   (1860-1956)	     (1863-1924)











Margaret Hartnett  Bridget Hartnett  Alice Hartnett   John P. Hartnett	Mary C. Hartnett


	“Peg”	       “Bonnie”	       “Alice”            “John Peter”	          “Babe”


    John Sherlock	     Herman Renze    Ed Wolfe          Katherine Uffing    Frederick Bartells








William Hartnett		Margaret Hogan


(1864-1950)		(1877-1937)

















   William Hartnett    John Hartnett   Donald Hartnett   Paul Hartnett    Lucille Hartnett   Maxine  Hartnett


Julia Graves               Single                 Single           Helen Heenan    John J. Green       Richard Dineen





              Eileen Hartnett   James Hartnett     Sylvester Hartnett    Mary Hartnett      Bernadine Hartnett


                Joseph Rush     Anne Sullivan                 Single             Harold Smith       Maxwell Sullivan








Annie Ryan		Thomas J. Hartnett		Margaret “Madge” Killackey


            (1869-1896)		  (1862-1950)			      (1869-1934)














  Monica Hartnett         Ann Hartnett                 Rose A. Hartnett      John Hartnett        Daniel Hartnett


  William Brennan         Jerry Ryan                  J. Benedict Long       Lucille Donohoe   Faye Armstrong





                   Margaret Hartnett          Thomas Hartnett       Charlotte Hartnett      William C. Hartnett


                   Edward McKearnen       Florence Graves             John Harty                Hazel Graves












































Thomas Lawless		Catherine Cassidy




















Bridget Lawless		Thomas Lawless		John Lawless


            James Killackey		Hannah  ?    		Priest





						











	      					


                                  Connelly                  Sweeney





  


      Lawrence Killackey          Catherine Connelly





                          James Killackey					Bridget Lawless

















   James Killackey	Anna Killackey			John Killackey


  Katherine Mulvy	Michael Farrell			Catherine Ford





	Mary Killackey		       Margaret “Madge” Killackey	             Honora Killackey


	(Lived 6 months)			 Thomas J. Hartnett	              (Died in infancy)





 	





	








� Woodham-Smith, Cecil, The Great Hunger, Harper & Row, Ch. 1


� Schmidt, John F., A Historical Profile of Sioux City, Privately published by Lois E. Schmidt 1979.  The names and addresses were verified in the 1860 U.S. Census.


Also – McCarty, Father Lawrence, Cathdral Heritage – 1867-1979., Privately published by the Diocese of Sioux City, Iowa. 


� The SW 1/4 of the SE1/4 of Section 15 plus the W 1/2 of the SE 1/4 of Section 22.


� The E1/2 of the SW 1/4 of Section 14; Town 28 North; Range 7 East of the 6th Principal Meridian.


� The SW 1/4 of Section 23;Town 28 North; Range 7East of the 6th Principal Meridian.


�Tombstone inscription “NATIVES OF KILKENNY IRE.”


�Five children share the same Tombstone with no dates.


�Tombstone inscription “PASTOR OF ST MARKS 1941-1973”.   All in St Mary’s Cemetery, Peoria, IL.


�The NW1/4 of Section 21; Town 28 North; Range 7 East of the Sixth principal meridian.


� Unpublished,  The History of our Little Church, St. Mary’s ( in Hubbard), Author: Mrs. Fredrick Bartels


� Not Related


� He left Rose in 1948


� Source of information regarding the Michael Henry Long - Julia Mullaly family.


� He left Rose in 1948


� It was located in the Southeast 1/4 of Section 23, Town 28 North; Range 7 East of the 6th Principal Meridian.


�M. M. Warner, Warner’s History of Dakota County, Nebraska (Lyons Nebraska MIRROR Job Office, 1893) p.239. Out of Print. 


�Thomas Duggan’s birth and death dates were copied from his tombstone.  This birth date shows that he was 3 months  older than his sister Mary (my grandmother).  I am confident that her birth date is correct as shown, therefore Thomas’ is probably an error.


� The NE 1/4 Section 32 and the NW 1/4 Section 33; Town 28 North; Range 7 East of the 6th Priccilal Meridian


� The new farm was comprised of land in the west 1/2 of Section 23: Town 28 North; Range 7 East of the 6th Principal Meridian.


� Lots 3 through 12, Block 12, Town of Hubbard, Dakota County Nebraska.


�J. Michael Long


343 River Road


Christchurch New Zeeland


�Centennial History of Madison County and its People -1812-1912, Edited and Compiled by W. T. Norton, The Lewis Publishing Company Chicago IL 1912 (Out of Print)(Available at Eastern Illinois University Library Charleston, IL.)


�Dakota County Historical Society, Dakota County, Nebraska History, 1982.


�United States Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management, Cheyenne, Wyoming.


�NORTHWESTERN REPORTER, VOL. 60 PAGE 362, West Publishing Company, St. Paul, Minn.


   Legal Citation   Hartnett v Hartnett 60 NW 362.


� Information regarding the Killackey family in Massachusetts came from Ruth Tisdale Killackey, wife of James Francis Killackey (1921-), in correspondence with Thomas R. “Bob” Hartnett.


�County Clerk of Gogebic County, Michigan,  Book 1 page 111.
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